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(The proceedi ngs conti nued, commenci ng at
9:01 a.m, Tuesday, April 29, 2008, as follows:)

JUDGE WAHL: The record will show that it
is approximately 9:00 a.m, April 29, 2008,
continuing the supplemental hearings of the advance
determ nation of prudence applications for Otter
Tail Corporation and Montana- Dakota Utilities Co.
for their respective participation and ownership
interest in the Big Stone Il Generating Pl ant,
Public Service Conmm ssion Case Nos. PU-06-481 and
PU- 06- 482, respectively.

Counsel, as a prelimnary matter, and
specifically M. Guerrero and M. Kuntz, | have
Comm ssioner Wefald's request for a late-filed
exhi bit, which would be identified as OTP -- well
M. Kuntz, follow ng your suggestion yesterday, |
suspect separate exhibits.

COWVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Separate is good.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, unless sonebody can
give me a number, |'m suggesting OTP 351 and MDU - -

MR. KUNTZ: 2109.

JUDGE WAHL: -- 2109. Thank you, M.
Kuntz. So MDU 219. 351, does that work for Otter
Tail ?

MS. DANI ELS: Yes.
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JUDGE WAHL: So it's OTP 351, MDU 219, an
exhi bit described as data for the demand-side
management prograns i nplemented in North Dakota at
present and for the past 10 years, including the
annual number of kilowatt-hours saved in North
Dakota and the annual Kkilowatt-hours saved in North
Dakota for each of the past 10 years.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: It should be
kil owatt and then kilowatt-hours. There's two
di fferent.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. " m sorry,

Conmm ssioner. So it's the annual number of
kil owatt-hours saved in North Dakota and the annual
kil owatts - -

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Saved.

JUDGE WAHL: -- saved in North Dakota for
each of the past 10 years.

MS. DANI ELS: Actually, Judge Wahl, it
woul d be 123 for Otter Tail, if 1t's just an Otter
Tail number.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Thank you. So
the record will showit's Otter Tail Power's
| ate-filed Exhibit 123. | s that acceptable, M.
Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: It is.
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JUDGE WAHL: And M. Kuntz?

MR. KUNTZ: Yes, | believe we've got that
down.

JUDGE WAHL: And, of course, Ms. La Seur
and M. Binek, you'll see that exhibit in due

course, and |I'm not sure it's ever been done, but |
woul d expect if there's an objection, you would
promptly file the objections to the exhibit.

MR. GUERRERO:. Seven days okay?

JUDGE WEFALD: That's good.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right.

MR. KUNTZ: Seven days from today?

JUDGE WAHL: Yes. And, you know, if
there's a problem obviously sinply a filing with
the Comm ssion to advise should be sufficient.

Anything further prelimnarily, counsel?
M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERREROC: Not hi ng here, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz?

MR. KUNTZ: No, Your Honor. | understand
we' ve got a couple witnesses with some schedul e
problems, and, with the Comm ssion's indul gence,
Mont ana- Dakota is agreeable to taking those
wi t nesses out of order to acconmodate those

schedul es.
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JUDGE WAHL: Of course. Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Not hi ng.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: Not hi ng.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. M. Guerrero,
when you're ready.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.
applicants would call M. Thomas Crowl ey.

JUDGE WAHL.: You may be seated, M.
Crowl ey. | recall your testimony froma -- not?
You have not previously testified?

THE W TNESS: No, sir.

JUDGE WAHL: " m sorry. "' m m st aken.

Accordingly, M. Crow ey, as you are no doubt

1127

The

aware, your testimony is required to be under oath

and | "'mrequired by |law to advise you regarding
perjury before adm nistering the oath. Perjury
a false statement of material fact which you do
believe to be true; in other words, generally
speaki ng, of course, a lie. I n North Dakota
perjury is a Class C felony, punishable by a fin
up to $5, 000, imprisonnment for a period of up to
five years, or both. WII you raise your right
hand, pl ease.

THOMAS CROWLEY,

i's

not

e
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being first duly sworn, was exam ned and testified
as follows:

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.
MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GUERRERO:
Q Pl ease state your name for the record.
A Thomas Crowl ey.
Q And by whom are you enpl oyed?
A ' m enpl oyed by L.E. Peabody & Associ ates,
an econom c consulting firm

Q And what do you do for L.E. Peabody?

A ' man econom st and |' m president of that
firm
Q And what are your primary responsibilities

as a consultant, an econom st and president of the
firne?

A. My responsibilities are to oversee our
staff of approximately 30 individuals |located in
two different offices, one in Alexandria, Virginia,
and one in Tucson, Arizona. ' m responsi ble for
the quality of the products that |eave our office
and head up a number of assignments personally.

Our clients include electric utilities, who I'm

representing today. We work for railroads. W
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wor k for manufacturing conpanies. W work for
generally compani es that have transportation and/ or
fuel supply problems. As a matter of fact, we did
a study for this Comm ssion in 2005 advising on a
transportation issue related to the rates --
transportation rates charged for the movement of
grain.

Q Thank you. Do you have a particul ar
expertise?

A. "' man econom st and for the |ast 30-plus
years have been dealing with transportation and
fuel supply issues.

Q Thank you. Did you have occasion to
prepare or cause to be prepared, M. Crow ey, some
prefiled testinony in this matter?

A Yes, | did.

Q Okay. And do you have that in front of

A | do.
Q And could you identify those exhibits,
pl ease?
A. Exhi bit 328 is the prefiled testinony.
Exhibit 329 is a summary of the results of
the forecast of delivered Powder River Basin coal,

whi ch includes both the price of the product and
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the price to transport that product.

Exhi bit No. 330 is a breakdown of the
transportation portion of the delivered cost of
fuel into the various conmponent parts.

Exhi bit 331 is a breakdown of the Powder
Ri ver Basin, Wyom ng, coal price forecast on a base
case, a |low case and a high case.

Exhi bit No. 332 is a historical |ook at
spot prices of Powder River Basin coal for both an
8,800 Btu coal and 8,400 Btu coal

Exhi bit 333 is a conparison of the
delivered cost of -- cost forecast that | did
compared to the two that Otter Tail did, one in
2006 and one in 2007.

Exhibit 334 is a numeric conparison of
t hose same three forecasts.

Q Thank you, M. Crowl ey. If I asked you
t he same questions today that are set forth in your
testimoni es that you just identified, would your
answers be the sane?

A Yes, they woul d.

Q Do you have any corrections or additions,
subtractions?

A. | do not.

MR. GUERRERO:. Okay. Your Honor, we would
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of fer OTP/ MDU Exhi bits 328, 329, 330, 331, 332,

333, 334 and 328A, which is his summary.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: | have no questions for this
wi t ness.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bits 328 through 334,
inclusive, and 328A are each received.

Coul

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Thank you

d you provide a brief summary of your

testimony, M. Crowl ey, to the Conm ssion?

A. Certainly. | was requested to perform an

econom c forecast of both the price of fuel and the

price to transport that fuel fromthe origin to the

Big Stone Il plant. The sum of those two
components resulted in what | call the delivered
coal price forecast for the Big Stone Il station.
The forecast covered the tinme period from 2012

t hrough 2038.

The delivered cost of transportation is

broken into a number of component parts, including

the

rail rate, itself, the fuel surcharge, which is

clearly a major factor today in eval uating

transportation, as well as the cost of acquiring
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and maintaining railcars. On the coal price side
of the forecast, | did three different forecasts, a
base case, which is the case that we anticipate is
most |ikely to occur, and fromthe base case we did
a |low-case forecast and a high-case forecast.

The results of the forecast were presented
on both a dollar-per-ton and dollar-per-mllion-Btu
bases. At 2012 levels we were forecasting a
del i vered cost of $29.67 a ton that would escal ate
in 2025 to $43.56 a ton, and at the end of the
forecast period in 2038 the price was estimted to
be $56.36 a ton.

The last thing that | did in my testinmony
was to conmpare the results of the forecasts that we
conducted to the forecasts that were previously
conducted by Otter Tail. W had very simlar
results over the forecast period. There was a
slight divergence beginning in 2019 through the end
of the forecast model, but overall the results were

very, very close

Q s that your --
A. Yes.
Q Thank you. Just one quick question on

your summary there. You refer to "nore

conservative." Could you define what you nmean by
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"more conservative"?

A The forecasts that Otter Tail did resulted
in a higher nunber, so it worked against their
interest than nmy numbers, and, therefore, a nunber
t hat wor ks agai nst you when you present it would be
consi dered a conservative number.

MR. GUERRERO: Thank you. We tender M.
Crowl ey for exam nati on.
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR

Q Somet hing Mr. Crowl ey just said. | did
not expect to have questions for this w tness, but
| want to ask about just one thing that was
mentioned in the summary. When you say that an
esti mate wor ks against the applicant, is it not in
t he applicants' best interest to have the nost
accurate possible price forecasts?

A Yes.

Q So in assumng a price forecast that
all ows an applicant to prepare for a potenti al
wor st -case scenari o, how exactly is that worKking
agai nst the applicant?

A. Well, it's working against the applicants

from the standpoint of what we feel the correct
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answer is. When we devel oped our forecasts, we
devel oped it assum ng, based on all of the
different inputs into our nmodel, what the |ikely
scenario, the |likely outcome would be, and when we
conpare that result to what applicants produced,

t hey produced a higher trend line towards the end
of the model -- their model. From the perspective
of what we did, that would be a conservative
estimate of what the costs are, and that's why |

| abeled it as a conservative estimate. It was
conservative versus what we devel oped.

Q So a high estimate m ght work against the
specific alternative that the applicants have
al ready i1dentified?

A Yes.

Q But it could also have the effect, could
it not, of allow ng applicants to identify a nmore
prudent course?

A | don't think the differences between our
numbers would rise to that |evel.

MS. LA SEUR: That's all | have.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. BI NEK:

Q Basically, if I'm understandi ng your
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testinony, you -- your forecast is for |lower prices
toward the end of this time period; is that
correct?

A. It's lower. They are | ower than what
Otter Tail produced in their second forecast.

Q Okay. But is the primary difference --
and maybe | read this wrong, but is it toward the
end of the time period that you were | ooking at
that there's nore divergence --

A Yes.

Q -- between your forecast and Otter Tail's?

A. Yes. Begi nning in 2019, there's a slight
di vergence in one of Otter Tail's forecasts from
the forecasts that we devel oped.

Q And do you know why that occurs? \What are
t hey | ooking at differently than what you're
| ooki ng at?

A In their forecast, when they got to 2019,

t hey devel oped a factor that they used on an annual
basis going forward from 2019 to the end of the
study peri od. It was a factor of a little over 4
percent and they used that year over year, and that
was based on information that they had from

previ ous years. By contrast, what we did is, we

| et our mpdel continue to evaluate the market in
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each one of those years and estimate all of the
different components that would vary in purchasing
this product, and that created the difference,
affi xed factor versus a varying series of
vari abl es.

MR. Bl NEK: | have no further questions.

JUDGE WAHL: Questions fromthe
Conmmi ssioners?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have no questions
for this wtness.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Cl ark.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q | do have a few, M. Crow ey. Good
mor ni ng.

A. Good nor ni ng.

Q Good to see you again. First, thank you
for your submtted testimony. This was a part of
the case that | probably had as much, if not nore,
concern with than any other, was the delivered
price of fuel, especially comng out of the first
hearing specifically because it would appear
especially in the initial application it | ooked
like the tariffed rate was taken and then just sort

of a generic inflation factor was put onto it and
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t hat was contrasted with testinony fromthe
Burlington Northern Santa Fe executive who seemed
al nost giddy at the prospects of the difference
bet ween the price of coal and natural gas, and
there was even some testinony in the record that
di scussed potential 11 percent increases out of the
PRB, the fact that there had been, | think, $600
mllion a year for each of the |last two years
invested in upgrading PRB facilities that you would
expect at some point the railroad will recover
t hrough rates and something didn't seemto match
up, so the questions that | have are trying to
shore up the questions that | had from that
original testinmony.

Is there -- one of the concerns that | had
was with regard to sinmply taking the existing
tariff and then putting a factor on that,
especially comng out of litigation, because
intuitively | thought, well, maybe the BN | owball ed
alittle bit the tariffed rate knowing that it was
going to be subject to a challenge before the STB
To what degree is that a legitimte concern that
t he Comm ssion should take into consideration, and
are we -- should we expect to see a higher tariffed

rate now that the litigation is basically done?
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A. Well, it's very difficult to predict with
any degree of certainty what the BNSF is going to
do. | think you can take a fair amount of confort
in the litigation. Even though Otter Tail did |Iose
the litigation, they won the litigation and they
| ost the litigation. When | say that, they won the
litigation because they proved that this stand-
al one railroad that they built actually -- the
revenues generated actually were greater than the
stand-al one costs, which suggest relief, which
suggest that the tariffed rates were too high.
They |l ost on a cross-subsidy issue. And | don't
want to get very technical with you unless you
really want to. And the cross-subsidy issue that
they lost is now characterized in the industry as
the Otter Tail cross-subsidy issue because it was
never before even suggested that such a thing
exi sted. So, in nmy opinion, they lost on a
technicality.

And the reason | tell you this is that
Burlington knows that -- or BNSF knows that better
t han anybody. They know how cl ose they cane to
losing it -- losing that case. Now, that's
i mportant circling back to this tariff rate because

the tariff rate is right there on the cusp, and
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they know if they stray too far fromthat rate,

t hey are going to be subject to another potenti al

action from Otter Tail if Otter Tail chooses to
pursue that. So they can't stray very far, in ny
opi nion, from where they are. | think they are

ki nd of boxed in to that |evel.

Now, what happens into the future, which
is the second part of your question. BNSF, I|i ke
every other monopolist, has an incentive to
maxi m ze rates and revenues, and they al ways keep
their eye on that ball and they always want to do
t hat . | don't think that over the foreseeable
future that that's going to happen in this market,
and this market being the Otter Tail market, for
the reasons that 1've just stated. | think they
are boxed into a corner and they're going to stay
at that |evel keeping an eye on fuel and keeping an
eye on just general inflation.

Q To what degree do you see the investnments
that they've had to make over the |last few years in
the PRB facilities potentially inmpacting rates
above the baseline?

A. Well, the investment that they're making
in that facility, they're big nunbers. You know,

when you're talking 600 mllion or a billion
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dollars a year, you're tal king about a | ot of
money, but when you conmpare that to the anmount of
product that's com ng out of the Basin, on a unit
basis it's not a |ot of investment. Easy for me to
say, it's not my $500 mllion. But they're clearly
doi ng that because they see a future for this
product, they see growth in this product. | think
anybody that forecasts or knows anything about that
Basin would agree that there's growth com ng. I
don't think this country is ready to turn its back
on coal . | think coal is still a coveted product,
it's going to generate electricity for a long tine,
and BN is making this investment because it sees a
very handsome return comng from that investnment,
and they're going to continue to make t hat
investment. And the Union Pacific Railroad, their
partner in the Basin, is making a sim/lar anmount of
i nvestment, so they have a very rosy picture of the
future of coal and the future of Powder River Basin
in particular.

Q CO2 regul ation, you had mentioned in your
subm tted testimny that you took that into
consideration. To what degree should the
Comm ssion be concerned that to the degree that

there is carbon regulation of some kind, that it
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then drives the entire market up and the railroad
is able to capture nore?

A Well, CO2 is the big unknown, and has been
for a while, and it's an unknown because no one can
seem to put their hands around what it means from
an econom c perspective. It's going to have an
i mpact of some sort, and as much as | and ny staff
have | ooked into this issue -- it's something that
we' re asked about al nost at every stop that we go
to -- we cannot figure out what it's going to be.
It's very nmuch a political issue, as you m ght
i mgi ne, and rhetoric is very high these days,
particularly in Washi ngton, for obvious reasons,
but I think next year, as things settle in a little
bit, we'll get a better feel for what it means and
how to quantify it.

And our position is that from a coal
perspective, it's going to be a uniformimpact, and
| don't believe it's going to be to such a
magni tude that it places coal at a disadvantage
versus ot her fuels. I n other words, | don't think
it's going to take it anywheres near the price of
where natural gas is today or where natural gas is
projected to go, as an exanmple. That seens to me

to be the conparison nmost fol ks make about fuels to
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generate electricity, the conparison between coal
and gas. And while coal prices are up -- delivered
coal prices are up, delivered gas prices are up
nmor e.

Q And then just one final question. | had
read into the record at our previous hearing a
sni ppet from-- | can't remenber the magazine, it
was either a utility sort of specific magazi ne or
Traffic World or sonmething |ike that, but it
di scussed the potential that coal out of the PRB
could be -- last year did see and could be seeing
doubl e-digit rate increases, | think it talked
about 11 percent, and | asked that of the BN
wi t ness, M. Brautovich. | said would you deny
that that's a likely scenario, and he said no. I
mean, he basically confirmed that that could be a
possibility. How do | reconcile that statement,
line of questioning with the Otter Tail case --
Oter Tail/ MU case?

A. | think there are some utilities in this
country that would be happy with 11 percent
increase. What they are seeing is as their
contracts expire --

Q And Basin would be an exanple?

A. Basin is an exanple. That the next
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generation of either contracts or tariffs
effectively doubles the price of the product, and
you're seeing that more and nore. To that extent a
captive utility has an advant age. At |east it has
a backstop, and the backstop is the Surface
Transportati on Board. No matter what you think
about the Surface Transportation Board, they are
there and they are there to protect the captive
shi pper, and there are guidelines in place that
have been in place now for -- since 1985, which is
comng on a long time, recently been nmodified.
They're continually being adjusted and
t heoretically being made nore user friendly.

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Theoretically.

THE W TNESS: Theoretically. And they are
a backstop for the greedy nmonopolist, if you will
So | would be nmore concerned if Otter Tail were a
conmpetitive shipper today than if they were a
captive shipper. A captive shipper has at | east
the STB backstop. A conpetitive shipper has the
mar ket pl ace, and the marketplace is ugly. Even for
conpetitive shippers it's very, very ugly.

Q (COWM SSI ONER CLARK CONTI NUI NG) But

there's no question that Otter Tail is a captive

shi pper?
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A There's no doubt that Otter Tail is a
captive shipper

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you. That's
all 1 have.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q | just have one. If I was to accept your
counsel that | ought to find confort in the fact
that Otter Tail almst won an STB case and,
therefore, BNSF will behave itself better and if
they don't, the STB is always there, which |I'm not
quite prepared to accept, but, you know, you're the
second person to suggest that. How does your
forecast -- how do you forecast the fuel surcharge
i ssue, because there seens to be al most nobody
that's predicted what's happened to this point with
regard to, well, oil prices and, therefore, liquid
fuels, and no one seenms to -- you know, they're
t al ki ng about $200-a-barrel oil or more. How do
you take that into account and how do you forecast
for that?

A. Well, we're one of the people that didn't
forecast that properly, either, so I'll do a nea

cul pa on that one. Fuel is always a wild card. I
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think if you | ook at the cost of fuel, and if you
| ook at it and put it in perspective in a
transportation rate, let's assume that -- let's
assune that we have a transportation rate of $15 a
ton, and let's assume that half of that rate is
cost. Okay. So $7.50 or 50 percent is cost and 50
percent is profit. Now, what we're talking about
is a conponent of that $7.50 going up. Now, what
component of that $7.50 is fuel? 1In today's high
prices fuel would account for 30 to 35 percent of

that 7.50. So you're |looking at a 2, 2.50 a ton as

fuel. So if you double -- and let's say fuel is at
a hundred dollars a barrel today. lt's a little
hi gher, but for purposes of the exanple. I f you

doubl e the cost of fuel and it goes to $200 a
barrel, that $2.50 goes up to $5, so you're adding
another 2.50 on to a $15 rate to account for that
jump in fuel. Now, 2.50 is a | ot of noney, but
it's not astronom cal by any stretch of the

i magi nati on.

Q And clearly if that happens, natural gas
prices will --
A. That seens to be the trend, yes. There

seems to be a |link between those two fuels.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have not hing
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further. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Anything further fromthe
Comm ssi on?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have one question.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q And so this relates to -- go back to your
testinmony on page 7, and it's nmy understandi ng now,
and you just need to confirmthis, it says that as
Big Stone is captive -- this is line 6 -- is
captive to Burlington Northern Santa Fe, the only
pricing constraint on Burlington Northern Santa Fe
is the maxi mum rate guidelines pronul gated by the
STB and the current tariff rates reflect this |evel
of maximumrate. So is Otter Tail presently paying

the maxi mum rate?

A Yes, in my opinion, that would be correct.
Q And so then you go on to say that they --
t hat BNSF had -- this is under 12, "Yes, Otter Tail

did lose its maxinum rate chall enge before the STB.
Since the issuance of its January 2006 deci sion,
the STB has altered its regulation of maxi mum
reasonable rail rates for moving coal, which would

affect the rate |l evel BNSF could charge for the
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shi pment of coal fromthe PRB to Big Stone I1." So
at present is still Otter Tail paying the top rate
that is in these -- in the tariff?

A Yes.

Q And before did they pay the top rate that
was in the tariff?

A Yes.

Q And so Burlington Northern Santa Fe was
actually successful in raising the top rate that
was in the tariff, is that correct, in that rate
case?

A. "' m not follow ng that.

Q Okay. When | said "before did," that
meant before the rate case.

A. Oh, before. " m sorry.

Q When | said before, was Otter Tail paying
the top rate in the maximumrate in the tariff?

A Okay. | guess |I'm confused by the timng.

Q Al'l right. Let's go back here to 6.

A Yes.

Q Li ne 6. "As Big Stone is captive to
Burlington Northern Santa Fe, the only pricing
constraint on Burlington Northern Santa Fe is the
maxi mum rate gui delines pronul gated by the STB.

The current tariff rates reflect this | evel of
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maxi mumrate.” So nmy first question is, prior to
the rate case was Otter Tail paying the maxi mum
rate that was in the tariff?

Yes.
Q Al'l right. After the rate case is Otter
Tail paying the maximumrate that is in the tariff?
A Yes.
Q Was there a change in the maxinumrate

during the rate case?

A. Only for inflation. There was not a --
there was not a markup for -- to express additional
mar ket power or try to get additional profits. It
was just a tariff escalator, if you will, tariff

adj ust ment .

Q Ils that an every-year thing?
A. It can be every year, it can be every
quarter, depending on how the tariff -- | think in

this particular tariff they adjust it annually.
They fix the tariff and then once a year they'l|l
change it. | think Otter Tail just recently had a
change in their rate.

Q So the maximum rate before and after the
rate case only increased by an inflation adder?

A. Yes.

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. All right.
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Thank you
THE W TNESS: And the fuel surcharge.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: And a fuel
surcharge. All right. Thank you
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Guerrero?
MR. GUERREROC: One monment . No further
guesti ons.
JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR

Q M. Crowl ey, |I'm curious about your
testinony that it should be a source of optim sm
t hat a conpl ai nant can prove that tariff rates are
too high and still lose to the railroads before the
Surface Transport Board. Couldn't BNSF reasonably
interpret this result to mean that it has nothing
to fear fromthe STB even when all the facts are
against it and/or when OTP is the opposition?

A Well, | would suggest BNSF is very
arrogant, but | don't think they're quite that
arrogant. The decision of the STB in the Otter
Tail case was a reasoned decision. They went
t hrough conponent parts and issued a 300-page

deci si on. Burlington has to read that decision as
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somet hing that was very, very close to |osing. | f
their objective and if they -- and probably as they
tal k behind closed doors, they say -- they would

probably say they were very lucky to win that case.
That's my m ndset.

Wth that backdrop, | don't think that
t hey would risk doing something economcally
foolish that's going to allow Otter Tail to go back
at them | think what Otter Tail proved to BNSF is
that they're going to stand up for what they
believe is correct, and |I think BNSF respects Otter
Tail and doesn't | ook at them as sonmeone they can
run over with rate increases. So | think the
litigation had a | ot of residual benefits to Otter
Tail that are going to be realized in the future.

Q And, M. Crow ey, do you base any of this
specul ati on on any evidence?

A. It's just based on my experience. ' ve
been doing this sort of thing, |I've been dealing
with the Burlington Northern, |I worked for the
Burlington Northern in prior years, | understand
how t hese people think. That's what | get hired to
do. Do | have hard evidence to give you to
denmonstrate that fact? No, | do not. But ny

experience suggests that what | was telling you is
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dead-on correct.

Q And you did acknowl edge earlier in your
testi nony having made a m stake on a sim/ ar
forecasting issue not too | ong ago?

A | made a m stake on forecasting the price
of a barrel of diesel fuel, yes.

Q Anot her questi on. | f federal carbon
regulation fails to have any inmpact on the
consunmption of coal, as |I believe you're
testifying, which is the | argest industrial source
of carbon dioxide, then what would be the point of

carbon regul ation?

MR. GUERRERO: | guess |I'm going to
obj ect . | don't believe that's what he testified
to.

MS. LA SEUR: Well, perhaps the witness

could clarify his testimony as to what the --

JUDGE WAHL: It's a bit of a summary, but
the witness is well able to defend himself, |
think. Overruled.

THE W TNESS: ' m sorry. The question
again?

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) First to

summarize, is it your testimony that federal carbon

regulation is unlikely to have any significant
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i mpact on consumption of coal for electrical
gener ation?

A Yes, that would be my testinmony.

Q Okay. And if that is in fact the case,
t hen what woul d be the point of carbon regul ation?

A. Wel |, carbon regulation is designhed to
remove carbon fromthe air, and that's a good
t hi ng. But don't confuse that with a fuel source
to generate electricity. W as a country cannot
ignore coal as a source of generation. Over 50
percent of the electricity generated in this
country, nmost of the baseload units are coal units.

Q So in speculating that there won't be a
significant inpact on consunption of coal, are you
assum ng that capture-and-storage technol ogies will
be i mpl emented around the same time as carbon
regul ation?

A. | think ny testinony was |'m not sure how
all that's going to play out. There's a |ot of
di fferent suggestions and offers floating around,
and it hasn't come to a final resolution and
probably won't for a while. | think a | ot of
different fol ks are studying the issue and we'll
see how it plays out, but nmy point is that it's not

going to impact the amount of coal consunmed in this




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1153
country.

Q Well, | wunderstand that's your testinmony.
|'"mjust trying to get to the assunptions behind
it. If we're going to continue consum ng about the
same amount of coal or the same rate of consunption
and we're going to renove greenhouse gas em ssions
fromthe air at the same time, don't you have to be
assum ng sonme kind of capture-and-storage
technol ogy?

A " m sure there will be sonmet hing. What
|'"'mtelling you is | don't know what that is.

Q Okay. And if you're assum ng capture and
storage, have you incorporated the costs of that
technol ogy being i nmplemented into coal-fired
el ectrical generation facilities as part of your
coal demand forecast?

A No.

MS. LA SEUR: Okay. Thank you. That's
all .
JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
MR. BI NEK: | have no further questions.
JUDGE WAHL: Any followup fromthe
Comm ssioners? M. Guerrero?
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | just have one.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wef al d.
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FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q So on the total delivered coal forecast
sheet on page 4, you're basically anticipating a 3
percent increase in the price of coal each year?

A. | don't --

Q Well, the reason |I'm asking that is
because it says total delivered cost forecast.

A Yes.

Q Al'l right. And the way | do math is |
take -- it's from 2012 to 2038, so that's
approxi mately 25 years?

A Yes.

Q Al'l right. And then | see that the price
is al most doubled -- al most doubled, all right, so
then I know that to make a number double, you
di vide the nunber of years into the year 72 -- the
percent -- to get the percent, you take the nunber
of years and you divide that into the number 72 to

get the doubling and you come up with then 3

percent .
A The delivered cost?
Q Yeah.
A. An average over time, yes, it would be in

t hat nei ghbor hood.
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Q 3 percent?

A Yes.

Q Very | ow. | mean, that's not a | arge
increase at all in the cost of anything, 3 percent
per year. You're okay with that?

A. | think inflation in our country has been
running at 2 percent, 2.1 percent. lt's just this
| ast quarter | think as people are tal king about

recessions, it's junped up to about 4 percent.

Q Isn't that because of the cost of energy
t hese days -- that people are anticipating the
hi gher costs of energy and fuels that we're going
to see greater inflation?

A Yes, fuel, food, all of those things.

Q And | would think that fuel would be an

i mpact on this. That's why | was wonderi ng.

A. Yes.
Q You're okay with that?
A. Yes. You have to take into account not

only the change in prices, but the changes in
productivity, as well. Over time what we see is
not only do prices go up, but costs noderate or
come down, and that's how you use the resources.
As the cost of fuel goes up, we're seeing that the

railroads are using it nmore efficiently, so froma
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cost perspective it's not going up as fast as the
price of -- the cost of the gallon.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? Followup, M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: No, thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Fol |l owup, Ms. La Seur? M.
Bi nek, foll owup?

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, M.

Crowl ey.

THE W TNESS: Thank you, sir.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, | think we're
going to take a witness out of order. | think Ms.
La Seur is going to call M. Schlissel. | was

wondering if we could take just a five-m nute break
before that.
JUDGE WAHL: We may. We'l|l be in recess
until 9:50.
(Recess taken at 9:46 a.m to 9:57 a.m)
JUDGE WAHL: Let's be in order. Ms.
La Seur.
MS. LA SEUR: The intervenors call David

A. Schlissel
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JUDGE WAHL: Good nmorning, M. Schlissel.

THE W TNESS: Good nmor ni ng.

JUDGE WAHL: | recall your testinony at
t he previous hearings of this matter and have
personal know edge, of course, that you have been
advi sed and informed regarding perjury, and you
under st and, of course, that your testinmony
continues under oath and subject to the penalties
of perjury?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: The intervenors are
distributing M. Schlissel's summary statenment.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Thank you.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: s this witness in
order or out of order?

JUDGE WAHL: Out of order.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

MS. LA SEUR: And we would like to offer

| nt ervenors' Exhibits 10, 10A -- or sorry -- yeah
this is I 10, | 10A, I 11, | 12, 1 13, | 14, | 15
and | 16.

JUDGE WAHL: s the summary included in
t hat ?

MS. LA SEUR: The summary is | 10A.
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JUDGE WAHL: | see it. ' m sorry.
shoul d read. ' m sorry. M. Guerrero.
MR. GUERRERO: What is his actual
suppl emental direct testimny from April 9th? What
number is that?

MS. LA SEUR: The supplemental direct is

MR. GUERRERO: And is that the testimony
t hat was corrected after our motion that's being
i ntroduced into the record?

MS. LA SEUR: Yes, we're offering the
testinony subject to the portions stricken after
t he applicants' notion.

MR. GUERRERO: Okay. And for the record,
we have included for purposes of convenience in the
books that were passed out earlier a copy of the
| 10 with the stricken material actually red-Ilined
out or blackened out of the testinony, and we would
ask that that be the official version of the
testinmony followi ng the judge's order. So subj ect
to that, we don't have any objection.

JUDGE WAHL: | don't think that's a
request. | mean, that's a fact --

MR. GUERRERO: Yeah.

JUDGE WAHL: -- M. Guerrero.
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MR. GUERRERO: Just a clarification,
guess.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. What has been
redacted from-- in the book? 1Is that the trade
secret material? There's two things -- there's two
things in the document which is Exhibit -- nust be
10 | notice. Some is redacted and some is bl acked
out . | take it the redacted is the trade secret
mat eri al .

MR. GUERRERO: That's correct.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: | have no objection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz?

MR. KUNTZ: Your Honor, as you can see,
this is a four-page single-typed. | ' m assum ng it
really is a summary of his testimny, and on that
basis | would have no objection. To the extent

there's new material in here, of course, then we

may have a -- you know, we m ght raise an objection
| ater on, but at this point | have no objection.
JUDGE WAHL: Well, | guess you would have

a motion to strike, M. Kuntz, in that case.
MR. KUNTZ: Yeah, but at this point,
wi t hout having read it --

JUDGE WAHL.: Under st ood. Exhi bits -- you




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1160
m ght keep track of me here, Ms. La Seur. Exhi bits
10, 10A, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 are each
recei ved.
MS. LA SEUR: Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right.
DAVI D A. SCHLI SSEL,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR
Q M. Schlissel, do you have any corrections
or additions to your prefiled supplemental direct

testinony?

A | have three typos to my suppl ement al
direct testimony, Exhibit I 10, 1'd like to
correct. The first is on page 3, line 12. The
second to the last word on that line is a date

2008, it should be 2006, referring to the fact that
the Big Stone Il applicants, including OTP and MDU,

have not prepared a new construction cost estimate

for the Big Stone Il project since July of 2006.
The second typo is on page 17, |ine 14.

Again, the second to the |last word on that |ine,

the word is "last," |l-a-s-t, should be stricken and

the word -- or the year 2006 should be inserted
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after Decenber. So instead of the phrase being,
"Since | ast December,"” it should be "Since Decenber
2006. "

And then, finally, page 74, |line 15.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: \What page, please?

THE W TNESS: 74, line 15. Agai n, the
next to the | ast word on the page -- | nust have
somet hi ng psychol ogi cal about that. The next to
the last word on the line, the word is "flaw. " It
should be "flawed," f-I-a-w-e-d. And those are the

typos.
MS. LA SEUR: And M. Schlissel has a

summary statement to present to the Conm ssion.
JUDGE WAHL.: You may proceed.
THE W TNESS: Thank you. In the past 18
mont hs, more than 20 proposed coal -fired power
pl ants have been cancel ed, nmore than three dozen
more plants have been del ayed and a number have
been rejected by state regulatory conmm ssions or
boards |i ke yours because of, at |least in part, the
uncertainties and risks regarding future power
pl ant construction costs and the |ikelihood for
federal regulation of power plant greenhouse gas
em ssions.

Devel opnents since | |last testified here
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in June 2007 confirm the conclusion in my earlier
testinony that the potential for future increases
in the cost of building Big Stone Il and the
l'i kel i hood of federal restrictions on CO2 em ssions
are very significant uncertainties and risks to the
Big Stone Il project. However, OTP and MDU still
have not adequately considered these uncertainties
and risks in their new anal yses and testinony
before this Conm ssion.

Coal plant construction costs have
increased dramatically in recent years as a result
of the domestic and international competition for
design and construction resources, manufacturing
capacity and commodities |ike steel, copper, piping
and concrete. Words |ike "skyrocketing," "soaring"
and "staggering" have been used to describe these
i ncreases. It is imprudent to not allow that the
same factors that have led to these skyrocketing of
power plant construction costs in recent years wil
continue to raise project costs during the five or
more years it would take to design and build Big
Stone 11. However, OTP has prepared only a single
econom ¢ nodeling scenario that considered only a
10 percent increase in the construction cost to Big

Stone |1. MDU has not evaluated the econom cs of
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the project assum ng any additional increases in
the cost of Big Stone I1.

This worl dwi de competition for power plant
design and construction resources cone from --
comes from other plants in the U S. and from ot her
countries, nost significantly China and | ndi a. The
competition also comes from ot her industries.
Resources are needed to design and build LNG
termnals and oil refineries, for example. And
there is no evidence that this international and
domestic competition will dimnish at any point in
the foreseeable future. The com ng renai ssance of
t he nucl ear industry also will conmpete for Iimted
power plant design and construction resources. I n
this environment, the cancell ation of even 20 or 40
power plants in the U S. is very unlikely to
mar kedly reduce in the short termthe upward
trajectories of power plant costs.

It would have been prudent for OTP and NMDU
to prepare a new construction cost estimte and
schedule for the Big Stone Il project at some point
since work on the project was suspended in
Sept ember 2006. The existing cost estimte wil
soon be two years ol d. However, the conpani es made

a conscious decision not to prepare a new estimte
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until after they have received the regul atory
approvals fromthis Comm ssion and the M nnesota
PUC. | nst ead, even without presenting a
construction cost estimate for the project, both
conmpani es want a blank check fromthis Conm ssion
that will put all of the risk of higher plant
construction and operating costs on ratepayers.

Rat her than to grant such a bl ank check,
believe this Comm ssion should follow the recent
exampl e of another comm ssion and reject the
proposed project because the existing cost estimate
is too old and out of date, or, at a mnimum the
Comm ssion should cap the amount of the cost of
buil ding Big Stone Il that OTP and MDU can recover
in rates as prudent investments.

| would note in passing that although OTP
and MDU have not devel oped a new Big Stone Il cost
estimate, the plant capital costs that they've used
in their new analyses -- and by those |I nmean those
in this proceeding -- reflects a new 2.5 percent
reduction in the cost of building the plant that is
based on unspecified and apparently unknown
factors. This illustrates a difference between
OTP, MDU and many other utilities, both public and

i nvest or owned. Ot her conmpani es have confronted
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the threat of higher plant costs and cancel ed or
del ayed their projects when costs and risks became
t oo high. In the same situation, OTP and MDU nore
than optimstically assume that they will be able
to achieve additional, but currently unspecified
and unknown, cost savings in building their
proposed coal -fired power plant. However, OTP and
MDU want ratepayers, not the conpanies, to bear the
risk that they are wrong.

Bot h conpani es al so want ratepayers to
bear all of the risks of CO2 costs. At various
times the conpani es have argued that there will be
no federal regulation of CO2 costs in the near
future or that any costs associated with federal
regul ati on of greenhouse gas em ssions will be very
| ow or that each company will receive |arge numbers
of free CO2 em ssions allowances under any federal
cap-and-trade schene. I|f they truly believe any of
t hese clainms, both companies should be willing to
bear the risks associated with CO2 costs; in other
words, to put their noney where their mouth is, to
use a common idiom But they are clearly unwilling
to do so.

OTP and MDU and their witnesses repeatedly

use natural gas in this case as a scare tactic to
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frighten the Comm ssion into finding their
invol vement in Big Stone Il is prudent. | n doi ng
so, they ignore their already heavy dependence on
coal -fired generation, a dependence which
represents a real econom c and financial threat
given the |ikelihood of federal regulation of
greenhouse gas em ssions in the near future. For
exampl e, MDU has testified that with Big Stone 11
it would increase its dependence on coal-fired
generation from 77 percent of its installed
capacity to 82 percent. OTP and MDU al so ignore
that this region is much | ess dependent on natural
gas than on coal. As | explain in nmy testinony,
overdependence on natural gas may be a problemin
some regions of the U S., the South, for exanple,
but not here.

However, | nust be clear on one point. We
have never in any of the five regulatory
proceedings in which |I've testified about Big Stone
Il or in any of the ten pieces of testimony |'ve
now written advocated natural gas as the sole
alternative to Big Stone 11. | nst ead, we have
argued that OTP and MDU shoul d explore a portfolio
of alternatives that includes energy efficiency,

renewabl e resources |ike wi nd power and, to the
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m ni mum extent possible -- necessary -- excuse
me -- the mninum extent necessary, gas-fired
gener ati on. Nort h Dakota has sonme of the best, if

not the best, wind resources in the nation. The
state's utilities should be taking all reasonable
steps to take advantage of these renewabl e,
noncarbon-emtting resources to the maxi mum extent
possi bl e. Energy efficiency is another val uable
noncar bon-em tting resource that OTP and MDU shoul d
exploit nore conmpletely before they lock their
rat epayers into paying for an expensive coal -fired
power plant for the next 60 years.

| use the follow ng exanple when |'ve
tal ked to investors, which I've done a number of
times in recent nmonths, assume you want to build a
new house. You go to the builder and he or she
says, Sure, I'll build you a fine house, but I
can't tell you what it will cost because of rising
| abor and material costs. Then you go to the town
in which you want to build the house and you're
told, We can't tell you what the property taxes
will be. W know they will be higher, but we can't
tell you how high they will be. Finally, you go to
t he bank and can only get a variable rate nortgage.

Woul d any prudent person risk their own money on
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such a venture? | believe the answer is no. No
prudent person would risk their own noney this way.
Yet OTP and MDU want you to approve risking their
rat epayers' noney on such an uncertain project.

Based on my 34 years-plus of experience on
energy and utility issues, | believe that prudent
utilities confront, rather than deny, risks and
t hen consider those risks in their resource
pl anni ng processes, A, by considering ranges of
assumed values for the nost important assunptions,
whi ch woul d be here project construction costs, CO2
costs, coal costs, including rail transportation
costs, plant operating performance, costs of
alternatives, and the cost of natural gas; and, B,
by considering a wide range of non- and | ow-carbon
emtting alternatives in their studies.

OTP has not and cannot present such a
prudent risk analysis because it is still using a
sl ow and obsol ete planning model that no other
utility in the country uses according to OTP,
itsel f. | remember M. Morlock explaining to us
back in 2006 that OTP's planning model would have
taken four to seven days just to make such a sinple
change as nmoving the Big Stone Il project's

commerci al operation date by six months. Clearly,
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competing -- conmpleting the |arge nunber of nodel

runs needed to fully evaluate the risks of the Big

Stone Il project was beyond the capability of OTP' s
model . Also, OTP cannot show you how much of an
econom c benefit Big Stone Il would provide for its

rat epayers. Quite sinmply, its argument is that Big
Stone Il is a prudent investment because | RP-
Manager model picked it as such. In my opinion,
this is inmprudent.

To its credit, MDU has used a nore
state-of-the-art nmodel. However, it has not
conducted any sensitivity analyses reflecting
hi gher Big Stone Il construction costs or CO2
costs. Mor eover, MDU has so heavily burdened the
alternatives to Big Stone Il in its new anal yses
that it's really no surprise that in its new runs
the Strategi st model picked Big Stone I1. However ,
as | discuss in my testinony, when we reran the
Strategi st nodel for MDU | ast Decenber in the
M nnesota certificate of need proceeding, we found
that Strategist did not pick any Big Stone Il when
you made such m nor changes as including an
extremely low CO2 price or to increase the
construction cost of Big Stone Il by just 10

percent. MDU s response to our M nnesota testinmony
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was to again change the assumptions in its

Strategi st nmodeling to even further burden the

alternatives to Big Stone Il such as by assum ng
that the federal wi nd production tax credit will no
| onger be avail able after January 1, 20009. | woul d

note that the U S. Senate by a vote of 88 to 8
al ready has passed a bill that would extend the PTC
t hrough the end of 2009.

I n conclusion, | have seen no evidence
that the currently increasing power plant
construction costs, the |ikelihood of federal
regul ati on of greenhouse gas em ssions and the
cancel | ati on and del ay of proposed power plants are
normal parts of the power industry's building
cycle. The staggering construction cost increases
that are currently being experienced by proposed
projects are unprecedented for nonnucl ear plants.
The threats posed by gl obal climte change also are
unprecedented and will require decades of serious
and concerted actions to address. In this
environment, building and being | ocked into a new
coal -fired power plant that can be expected to
operate for another 60 years is not and cannot be a
prudent managenment deci sion unless rigorous

anal yses fully reflecting all of the risks and
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uncertainties and fairly considering the
alternatives have been considered. OTP and MU
have failed to provide those rigorous analyses to
t his Comm ssi on.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: We offer this w tness for
Cross-exam nation.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Good nmorning, M. Schlissel.

A. Good nor ni ng.

Q Good to see you

A. Yes, good to -- always good to see you.

Q "' mgoing to start with some clarifying
guestions that you've probably heard me ask before.

A. Okay.

Q But it's been a while since we've been
back in front of this Comm ssion.

It goes to the question of need with
respect to Montana-Dakota's need for resources and
Oter Tail's need for resources. You're not
challenging Otter Tail's forecast of need for

resources; that's correct?
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A. That's correct.

Q And you're not chall enging
Mont ana- Dakota's need for resources; that's
correct?

A That's correct. We're not chall enging the
need to do sonet hi ng.

Q And that's both with respect to their need
for energy?

A Correct.

Q And for capacity?

A. Correct. | mean, as you're aware, we've
di sputed that they've shown a need for basel oad
capacity, but we certainly believe they need to
take some action on peak.

Q And you haven't chall enged the need in
many of the |ast -- past several hearings to which

you referred to earlier; that's correct?

A. That's correct.
Q You may have seen this, M. Schlissel, but
"1l just give it to you for your benefit. It's

just the notice of the Comm ssion's hearing in this
case, and it's a public record and filed in this
docket, so it's something that the Comm ssion is
certainly famliar with. This is the January 10th

notice of hearing of this Conm ssion. Have you
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seen this document before?
A. | believe | have, yes.
Q Okay. And at the bottomthere it

references issues to be considered in this matter

i nclude?
A Yes.
Q First issue is whether the resource

addition is reasonable and prudent, second issue is
whet her the applicants have need for additional
generating resources, and the third issue is what
alternatives exist for meeting additional

gener ati on needs; correct?

A That's what this says.

Q And you're not challenging the need for
addi tional resources; correct?

A. We're not challenging the fact that they
need to do somet hing. Demand- si de resources are
resources, as well.

Q Ri ght .

A. So we're not challenging the need to do
somet hi ng. We may be challenging in part the need
for new generating resources.

Q If we could go to page 7 of your April 9th
testimony, M. Schlissel.

A By the time this case is over, you're
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going to be able to pronounce my name. Schlissel.

Q. Schl i ssel

A. Cl ose. It's close enough. |"m the only
one in the roomto -- | know.

Q | must not be picking that up because it
sounds like |I'm pronouncing it correctly.

Down at the bottom of that page 7, M.
Schlissel, you -- essentially that's where you

provi de your recommendation to the Comm ssion;

correct?

A Correct.

Q And I'm recomending -- |'mquoting from
line 23, I'"mrecommendi ng that OTP and MDU

investigate and i nplement portfolios of
alternatives. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And so your recommendation is that Otter
Tail simply investigate and i nmplement additional --
OCtter Tail and Mont ana- Dakota additional energy and
efficiency, more renewable resources, and, to a
limted extent necessary, natural gas; correct?

A. Most |limted extent.

Q Most |imted extent necessary, the
addition of natural gas; correct?

A. Yes.
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Q What renewabl es are you referring to
t here?

A. General ly wind.

Q Anyt hing el se?

A. Well, biomass is a potential renewable
resource in this part of the country, but given the
wi nd regime, North Dakota being -- if not the best
in the country, it's one of the top three or four,

| would expect it would be wi nd.

Q. So all of it wind?

A Excuse me?

Q Al'l of it wind primarily?

A. Maybe some bi omass, too.

Q And what percentage of biomass would

you - -

A | don't know. | have not | ooked at a
speci fic percentage.

Q So you're not proposing any specific
bi omass alternatives here?

A. That's correct.

Q And you're not suggesting, M. Schlissel,
are you, that these applicants could meet their
resource needs solely using w nd?

A That's correct, | would not expect that

they could only neet themw th wind. They may need
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some peaking gas capacity that would be operated a
little bit.

Q You referenced in your statenent --
summary statenment earlier that you attenpted to
replicate or did replicate in the past
Mont ana- Dakota's Strategi st integrated resource
pl anni ng model i ng.

A. That's correct.

Q And you have not replicated in any case
Otter Tail's resource planning; correct?

A. That's correct. You can't get the nodel.
There's no support for the nodel, so it's not
possi bl e for anybody but | believe M. Morlock to

probably run the model, so that's true. W --

Q You're not proposing --
A Excuse ne.

Q | think you've answered my question.
A Not fully.

Q | believe so.

JUDGE WAHL: Let him proceed.
Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Sur e. Go
ahead.
A. We attenpted to get the database for OTP' s
| RP- Manager and have it changed into a Strategist

dat abase, but first it |looked like it was a |long --
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it would take a long time to do that, and then we
were told by the company that handl es Strategist
t hat they woul d not help us because they had spoken
to OTP and they considered OTP a client, so we had
no opportunity to do that.

Q Thank you. And you're not proposing a
specific ampunt -- in your testimny here a
speci fic amount of additional wind that Otter Tail
shoul d be pursuing; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q Do you know how much wind Otter Tail has

currently planned between now and 20207

A. | think it's several hundred nmegawatts,
but I don't recall a number exactly.
Q You' ve suggested in your testinony, M.

Schlissel, that Montana-Dakota and Otter Tail have
shown biases in their modeling. s that a fair
portrayal of your statements?

A Yes.

Q Are you suggesting that Otter Tail's
modeling -- or that Otter Tail is biased against

doi ng wi nd resources?

A No. They're doing some w nd.
Q. Sone.
A. Some wi nd.
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Q You don't know how much, though?

A. Well, | don't recall exactly. As you can
tell, I'"ve undergone surgery in the last three
weeks, my life's been topsy-turvy. | don't
remenmber all the Big Stone Il nunbers. " m sorry.
|f you give me a nunber, |'Ill accept it subject to
check.

Q You don't have any reason to disagree with

M. Morlock's testinmony in this case, but also in
past cases, that for planning purposes Otter Tail
has assumed conpliance with the North Dakota

renewabl e energy objective?

A | believe -- | recall it with regards to
M nnesota, but I'll accept it.
Q Okay. So you'll accept it for purposes of

hi s planning purposes that he's assumed conmpli ance
with the renewabl e energy objective in the state?
A Sur e. Yes.
Q And also in M nnesota? North Dakota is at

10 percent renewabl e energy objective?

A Again, | don't recall the exact nunber.
If that's what it is, I'll accept it subject to
check.

Q Are you famliar with the renewabl e energy

objective at all?
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A. Yes, | recall reviewing it.

Q And in Mnnesota it's 25 percent by 2025;

correct?
A. Yes.
Q Do you know what percentage of |oad Otter

Tail has in North Dakota and M nnesota?

A Again, |I'm enbarrassed, | can't recall a
number . | know we've discussed it in severa
cases, but | don't recall exact breakdown of their

load in the different states.

Q If I told you it's about 92 percent, would
t hat be --

A 92 percent.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Wher e?

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Nort h Dakot a
and M nnesota as Otter Tail's retail | oad
constitute.

A. Toget her ?

Q Toget her.
A. | believe that's the nunber, yes.
Q And so when you are suggesting to this

Comm ssion that Otter Tail should inmplement nmore
wind, it's nore than the 25 percent in M nnesota
and more than the 10 percent in North Dakota?

A Well, yes, it may be nmore econom c in fact
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to do more than the renewable requirements, but,
too, there's a matter of when the wind is added and
whet her it's economc to add it sooner rather than
| ater, so we m ght agree on the 25 percent, for
exampl e, but it may be that adding it earlier
changes the relative economcs of Big Stone Il, so
it's not only just reaching a target by a certain
year, it's when the wind is added.

Q So are you assumng that Otter Tail will
find no problems whatsoever in meeting those
compliance targets? So -- you had said that we
could agree with Otter Tail that it may be that we
woul d get past 25 percent or past the 10 percent?
Do you understand my question?

A. Not at all.

Q It wasn't a very good question. Do you
have any doubt as you sit here today, M.

Schlissel, that Otter Tail will have any problem
reaching the 25 percent renewabl e energy mandate in
M nnesot a?

A My expectation -- | don't have any
doubt -- it's hard because we're specul ating, but |
think that given the wind possibilities in South
Dakota and North Dakota, that it should be fairly

easy for themto come up with that amount of w nd.
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There will be adjustments in running the system
There will be wind integration costs, of course.
But | think that the wind potential is there when

you | ook at the estimtes of thousands of megawatts
of wind in both states.

Q Let me ask you a few questions about the
production tax credit. You're famliar with the
production tax credit; correct?

A Yes.

Q It would be fair to say that the federal
production tax credit is the primary econom c
driver in wind devel opment today?

A. | don't know whether the primary, but it
is a primary.

Q What woul d be potentially more primry
t han the federal production tax credit in your
m nd?

A. Well, a CO2 tax or cap-and-trade regine

whi ch applied CO2 cost to power plants |like Big

Stone I1.
Q But currently.
A Okay. | " m sorry. \When we tal k about

currently, you're tal king about a prediction of
costs in the future, so that's how I interpreted

your use of the word "currently."
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Q Do you provide advice, M. Schlissel, to
clients outside the electric power industry?

A. Synapse has, yes.

Q Do you?

A. No.

Q Do you know whet her Synapse has ever been
involved in situations where they're advising
clients who rely on federal or state subsidies for
pur poses of the econom cs of their project?

A. | recall that Synapse does do that. " m
not famliar with the work beyond you asked me a
guesti on about in M nnesota.

Q Mm- hmm So you're generally not aware

what Synapse --

A It's not part of my field of practice.
Q Well, et me ask you this just as a
general question then, M. Schlissel. Would it --

given the significance of the federal production
tax credit when you're evaluating resources, is it
not prudent to both consider the extension and
nonext ensi on of that credit, notw thstanding the
i kelihood of its --

A. Sur e. | think it's prudent to | ook at
both scenarios where it is in existence and

scenari os where it isn't. | think it becomes a
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little dicey when you' ve got a wi tness talking
about it not being in existence after 2009 or 2010
when his own client is assumng it's in existence
t hrough 2013. That, | think, is inconsistency
within a case presentation.

Q I n any of your scenarios, M. Schlissel,
did you assume the nonextension of the federal
production tax credit?

A No. | assumed that it would be in effect,
as OTP does, through 2013.

Q And you' ve certainly criticized, if that's
a fair term the biases inherent in the models and
anal ysis of these applicants. Wuld it be fair to
say that an analysis that only | ooks at the
extension of the federal production tax credit
woul d al so be considered a bias?

A. No, no. We were assumng -- you're

tal king about M. Greig's |levelized anal ysis.

Q No, |'m not.

A You're not?

Q l|'"m simply just asking a general question.

A. It sounded to me |ike you were asking
about that.

Q No.

A. And | was going to explain the reason why
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in that scenario | assumed the continuation of the
PTC.

Q No. "' mjust sinmply asking you, did -- in
any of your analysis did you assune the
nonext ensi on of the PTC?

A | don't recall in all of our nodeling
anal yses. In each of the -- other than our
response to M. Greig, we made the same assunption
as to the existence or nonexi stence of the wi nd PTC
as each utility did. And by each utility I'll mean

MDU, AMRES, CMWPA, so whatever they assumed, we

assumed. And with regards to M. Greig, |I'm
willing to explain why | did what | did.
Q | think you prefaced the question and said

you don't recall

A. | did as | spoke.

Q Okay. So in any scenario in your
anal ysis, did you assume the nonextension of the
PTC?

A And that | don't recall because we did
exactly what the companies did in the nodeling
anal yses. Sonme of them may have assumed it, sonme
may have not. But in those cases we attenpted to
change as little as possible.

Q Let's talk a little bit about
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conservation, M. Schlissel. You menti oned
renewabl es, and you're not suggesting to this
Comm ssion that these utilities should be able to
fill their resource needs on renewabl es al one;

that's correct?

A. That's correct.
Q And you're not suggesting to this
Comm ssion that these utilities can fill their

resource needs on conservation alone; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q And so facilities will need to be built;
correct?

A. Yes, or purchased.

Q Are you famliar with what Otter Tail's --

M. Morlock's testinmny nost recently showed as
part of his updated resource planning analysis, how
much coal he has identified in his analysis?

A | don't know -- the rebuttal testinmony or

the original testimony?

Q The original testinmony.

A | don't recall a nunber. | don't recal
t hat he mentioned that in the testinony. I f he
did, | just don't remember.

Q Sur e. 170 megawatts of coal ?

A Of new coal ?
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Q Subj ect to check.

A Oh, yes, at Big Stone.

Q Yes.

A Yes. | didn't know whet her you meant

exi sting and new.

Q And so you're not suggesting, are you,
that if Otter Tail's identified a need for up to
170 megawatts of new coal facilities represented in
basel oad need, that they're going to conserve their
way out of that?

A No, not in the short term It takes a

while to ramp up and to achi eve energy efficiency

savi ngs.
Q You did not in this case rerun the

Mont ana- Dakota Strategist nodel; is that correct?
A. That is correct.
Q And the reason you did that is because you

don't have the license fromthe Strategist software
vendor anynmore; correct?

A. Well, no, not exactly. The reason why was
the time was so short, we didn't have time. There
woul d not have been time to get the new database
and to rerun the nodel before we had to file
testinmony on April 9th. And for that reason we did

not purchase the |license. W always could have
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purchased the |license fromthe vendor

Q So Mont ana- Dakota's testimny was filed on
Mar ch 9t h. Your testimony was filed 30 days | ater.
You're saying you didn't have enough time to do any
of that?

A. We asked for discovery on probably --
per haps on or about March 9th. Part of the
di scovery was for the data -- the input and out put

data bases in what is it, the dot FAV format, which

is the format you need to run it. We did not
receive those files for weeks. "' m not being
critical. | know you answered within the time that
you were allowed to answer. But given -- we knew
that it was not -- we were not going to get these
files soon enough, we did not -- we would have had
no time to rerun the nodel. It takes several weeks

to a month or more to be able to rerun the nodel

and to be sure of your results.

Q Do you have a license for Strategist
sof tware anymore -- Synapse?
A. No. We purchase it on a per-project
basi s. It's no need to pay the money if we're not

going to use it for several nmonths.
Q So you're not conducting resource planning

on a regul ar basis?
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A Yes, we are. We use different nodels.

Ri ght now we're involved with a couple of cases
with AEGI S where our clients actually are | earning
t he model with our assistance. W use -- | forget
what the company is called now because they've
merged so many tines. It may be Gl obal Energy
Deci sions, may be their model, they use Multi SIM
or Market SIM The model name has changed nore
frequently than the nmpdel s changed.

Q There are different nodels to do this?

A Yes. And we use different models
dependi ng on what models the conpanies in the cases
in which we're involved use or the state uses.

Q Could you turn to page 77, M. Schlissel
of your testimny, please --

A. Yes.

Q -- April 9th testimny. And, sir, that's
the alternative resource scenari o that you ran not

in this case, but in the M nnesota case; is that

correct?
A That's correct.
Q And some of that has now been redacted as

a result of the notion, but there are two col ums
t hat remain. Do you see some colums for DSM?

A. Yes.
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Q Can you explain what those are?
A DSM programs, demand-si de managenment
prograns.

Q Whose are they?

A My recollection is those were the prograns
t hat the company was usi ng.

Q And in your remodeling of their nodel,
it's essentially the same conservation in the
Mont ana- Dakot a nmodel ; correct?

A | believe that's true, yes.

Q So your renmodeling didn't produce nore
DSM correct?

A No, we didn't assume additional DSM
Again, as you're aware, there was a very short time
frame in the M nnesota certificate of need docket.
| think between the time the conmpanies filed and
the time we filed there was a period of five weeks
and we coul d not change everything we thought
shoul d be changed.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Excuse nme. \hat
page is that on?

MR. GUERRERO: Page 77.

JUDGE WAHL: 77

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) So, again, tinme
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was wor ki ng agai nst you then?

A On -- | wouldn't say working agai nst us.
It just imted our ability. | mean, as you know,
as well as I, | mean, there were five Big Stone II

co-owners in Mnnesota. Wth five weeks to do
anal yses and file testinmny, we had to focus on
what we felt we could achieve that would be
supportable. And with regards to the nodeling
anal yses, what we attenmpt to do is to | ook at what
we think are probably the nost significant changes
and to try to change what the applicants do the
smal | est ampunt. And the DSM was not something we
could get to in the time frane.

Q And you're not working on this case by
yourself; that's correct?

A. That's correct. At that time there was --
there was six or seven of us working on the case.

Q Let's tal k about some alternative
resources. You indicated earlier that biomass
really isn't in play here; is that correct?

A. | think there is a potential for biomass
in the region, but I've not studied how extensive
of a potential there is.

Q What about hydro, hydroelectric power?

A. Well, when we started the case, there was
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a potential for hydro from Manitoba, but according
to OTP, that became unavail abl e. | know t hat one
of the W sconsin utilities has just signed a
contract with Manitoba Hydro for extensive hydro
capacity starting, | think, in 2016 or 18 or
something |ike that.

Q We tal ked about the hydro opportunity | ast
time -- |ast summer. Do you recall that? The
opportunity that you just referred to, is it the
Mani t oba Hydro opportunity that Otter Tail was
di scussi ng?

A Yes. And at some point during 2007 Otter
Tail indicated that it was no |onger avail able.

Q And is it your position that Otter Tail
just sort of m ssed the opportunity?

A No. | don't know how aggressively they
pursued it because of Big Stone Il, but it's in the
past now, | understand from Otter Tail.

Q Are you famliar with the fact that that
was -- what they were discussing with Manitoba
Hydro was the Conawapa, C-o-n-a-w-a-p-a, facility?
Do you recall that at all?

A No. | thought there were two of them one
in the short term-- one facility in the short

term one in the long term that both had Native
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Ameri can nanes.

Q The Conawapa facility was a 1, 250-megawatt
project?

A. Yes.

Q $5 billion?

A. Somet hing |ike that.

Q About 2021 in-service date?

A. | think something |like that.

Q Had a 500-mle transm ssion |ine
associated with it proposed?

A. | know it had a transm ssion |line, but |
don't recall that Otter Tail model ed hydro as only
bei ng available in 2021. My recollection is that
M. Morlock's | RP-Manager modeling showed it in --
hydro from Manitoba in service well before 2021
But, again, that's |like a year and a half old.

Q Ot her than the Manitoba Hydro discussion,
any other hydro that we're potentially talking
about here?

A. No, not that | know of.

Q What about nucl ear power? Are you
recommendi ng that nucl ear power is a potenti al
alternative for these applicants?

A It's an alternative that should be

exam ned. | think there's serious risks with
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nucl ear power, and | don't mean nucl ear risks,
financial risks. The cost of nucl ear power plants
are going up perhaps even faster -- the estimated
costs are going up perhaps even faster than the
estimated costs of coal plants.

Q So you're not suggesting, are you, M.
Schlissel, seriously that for Otter Tail and
Mont ana- Dakota that nucl ear power is currently an
option for themin the planning horizon?

A. Again, | think it's something they should
study, but | would think that it would not be a
realistic option, that maybe they could be part of
a consortiumthat could build a nuclear power plant
by the year 2020 -- the early 2020s. lt's likely
to be very expensive.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero, let me
interrupt you nomentarily.

MR. GUERRERO: Sur e.

(Di scussion had off the record.)

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero, you may
proceed.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) M. Schlissel
you've made some presentations recently with
respect to nucl ear power, have you not?

A Yes, to investors, rating agencies, |'ve
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been invited to present -- make presentations to
t hem

Q And generally you've warned about the
ri sks associated with --

A. Yes, absolutely. | think investors should
know the full risks of any investment they make.

Q So renewabl es alone isn't going to do it.
Conservation alone is not going to do it. Hydro is

not an option; is that correct?

A Well, | don't know whether it's an option
now. | don't have direct communication with
Mani t oba Hydro. As | indicated in a previous
answer, a Wsconsin utility -- was it WL, | think,

just signed a long-term contract for hydro. Hydr o
is certainly an option. There are positives and
negati ves of hydro, though.

Q And you haven't identified a hydro option?

A That's correct.

Q Nucl ear, | think you said, is not a

realistic option?

A. It's unlikely to be a realistic option.

Q And bi omass, you haven't identified any
option?

A. That's correct.

Q Let's tal k about coal as an option. \Y/ g
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Schlissel, could you go to page 60 of your
testi nony, please?

A. 60. Okay.

Q ' m going to direct your attention to |line
9 of page 60, where in an answer to a question you
say, "No. | have seen estimates that carbon
capture and sequestration technol ogy may be proven
and commercially viable fromas early as 2015 to
2030 or later, if, indeed, it is ever proven to be
technically and commercially viable.” Did | read
that correctly?
Yes.

Drop back to page 57, M. Schlissel.

> O >

Okay.

Q And in the m ddle of that page you're
referring to some Dom nion Virginia Power
testinony; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Car bon capture -- on line 16 it begins,
"carbon capture technology is not commercially
vi abl e or available at the present time." Did I
read that correctly?

A You di d.

Q Toward the end there on line 19, "As a

result, it is not currently feasible to construct a
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power plant with technol ogy that can capture and
store carbon em ssions."”

A. That's correct.

Q So | take it fromthe testimony on page 57
and on page 60, you agree that carbon capture and
sequestration is not currently econom c?

A. For a pulverized coal plant, which we're

di scussing here, it's different froman | GCC pl ant;

but | would agree for a pulverized coal plant, yes.
Q So any new pul verized coal plant built
today, M. Schlissel, it's going to be built

wi t hout carbon capture and sequestration; would
that be a fair statenent?

A. Yes. Some of them all ow space to put in
unknown -- currently unknown equi pment, but | think
that's about as good as you can get.

Q Capture carbon-ready?

A. Yes. Well, it's called carbon capture-
ready, but really what it is is nore space.

Q So, true then, any new pulverized pl ant
bet ween now and when CCS beconmes comercially
viable, they're going to be built w thout CCS, or
carbon capture sequestration; correct?

A Yes.

Q And because there's no CCS, those plants
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will be subject to future greenhouse gas

regul ation; correct?

A. Correct.

Q Go to page 4 of your testinony, M. --
A. 4 or 407?

Q 4,

A. Okay.

Q Line -- beginning at line 17, "The

Comm ssion should not be panicked into granting an
advance determ nation of prudence for an uneconom c
coal -fired power plant.” Did | read that

correctly?

A. "' m sorry. | was on page 3. | apol ogi ze.

Q Page 4, line 18 and 19.

A. Yes.

Q So your testinony today is that the
proposed Big Stone Il unit is an uneconom c unit?

A. Yes, as our analyses in a nunber of

proceedi ngs have denonstrated.

Q Do you know that Big Stone Il is a
supercritical plant -- proposed?

A. It's proposed to be, yes.

Q And t hey have not ruled out ultra-

supercritical?

A. That's correct.
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Q It's true that this plant will be one of
the most efficient plants in the country?

A. Well, it's said that it will be one of the
most efficient plants in the country. Again, it's
proposed.

Q As proposed, it would be one of the nost
efficient plants in the country?

A. That's true.

Q G ven the fact, M. Schlissel, that carbon
capture sequestration is not commercially viable
per haps as |long as not until 2030 and, in your

words, if ever, and the fact that you consider Big

Stone Il uneconomc, in your opinion as you sSit
here today, M. Schlissel, is there any coal plant
bei ng pl anned -- pulverized coal plant being

pl anned today that you would consider econom c?

A |'ve not -- |I've | ooked at the econom cs
of about eight or ten, and those have not been
econom c. | can't say every one. |"ve not seen
the econom c anal yses of every one. | would
expect, given the |large nunbers of plants that are
bei ng cancel ed or del ayed, that the owners are
finding they're not economc, so --

Q We're going to talk about some of those

pl ants.
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A. Gr eat .
Q You' ve mentioned eight to ten that you've
| ooked at. Is that the reference to your

consulting work that you've done simlar to your

work in this matter, on the Big Stone matter?

A

Yes, | guess |I've |l ooked at eight to ten

power plants in detail over the past two and a half

years. Do you want nme to list then?

Q
A
Q

Ameri can

No.
Okay.
Thanks. Did that include a review of

Muni ci pal Power's proposed 960- megawat t

coal -fired plant?

A

Q

Yes.

And your client there was the Natural

Resources Defense Council and the Sierra Club --

A

Q

| ocat ed?

the Ohio

Virginia.

Yes.
-- among ot hers?

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: \Where is that plant

MR. GUERRERO: Ohi o.

THE W TNESS: Proposed to be built al ong

Ri ver, which divides Ohio from West

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | f you can tell us
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where they're each | ocated, that would be hel pful.
MR. GUERRERO: "1l try. Sur e.
THE W TNESS: "1l help.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) | GCC pl ant that
was proposed by Duke | ndiana, you testified in that
case -- or you consulted in that case?

A | consulted. | presented CO -- estimte
of CO2 costs.

Q And your client was Citizens Action
Coalition of Indiana, Save the Valley, Valley Watch
and Sierra Club; correct?

A. | don't remenber all of them but it
sounds good.

Q And the proposed Duke Cliffside project,
North Carolina, the Carolinas?

A Correct.

Q Your client was Southern Environmental Law
Center and the Environmental Defense Group?

A. Correct. | think also Southern Alliance
For Cl ean Energy.

Q Thank you. And you've testified in
this -- in the Big Stone matter both in South
Dakota and M nnesota, your client was M nnesota
Center For Environmental Advocacy, Fresh Energy,

among ot her groups; correct?
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A | zaak Wal ton League, Dakota Resource
Center.

Q The proposed Gl ades project in Florida,

2, 000-megawatt coal project?

A. Right. That was rejected by the
Comm ssi on.

Q Sierra Club is your client?

A. They were one of the clients. There was a
coalition.

Q And Citizens -- which one is this? This
is the Longvi ew Power matter. Did you participate
in that one?

A No.

Q Synapse Energy presented in that one?

A. Synapse Energy participated. The Longvi ew
pl ant is proposed for West Virginia. Synapse
presented testimony on a very, very limted issue.
| think the question was whether the plant would
gqualify for county tax relief and a clean coa
facility, and Synapse presented testinmony.

Q Excuse nme. Thank you.

MS. LA SEUR: Obj ection. Are we getting
to a question that's relevant to this proceeding?
MR. GUERREROC: We are, Your Honor. At

| east | believe we are.
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JUDGE WAHL: The objection is overrul ed.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) In any of these
cases, M. Schlissel, did you find any of these
projects econom c?

A Well, again, | wasn't involved in
Longview. And in the IGCC project | did not | ook
at the econom cs of the project. Synapse did, and
in that one we found that energy efficiency and
renewabl es were a nore economc investment. Wth
regards to the other projects in which |I was
i nvol ved, no, | did not find that they were
econom c.

Q Were you involved in the Little Gypsy case
in Louisiana?

Yes, that's in Louisiana.
That was a gas-to-coal ?
That's a gas-to-coal conversion, yes.
About 538 megawatts?
| think that's the correct number. | t
m ght be a little higher actually.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Coal -t o-gas?
THE W TNESS: No, gas-to-coal.
MR. GUERRERO:. Gas-to-coal.
THE W TNESS: If I m ght, Louisiana, where

we tal ked about overdependence on gas, they're very
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heavily dependent on gas down there. So this is a
project by Entergy Louisiana that would burn
pet coke and sonme other derivatives, | guess is the
right word, fromrefineries so that it actually
woul d be a gas-to-coal conversion.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) That's an

Energy project -- or was an --
A Ent er gy.
Q Entergy?
A Yes.
Q. E-n-t --
A -- e-r-g-y.
Q E-n-t-e-r-g-y. You just mentioned that

they're heavily dependent on gas. Do you know how

heavily they're dependent on gas?

A. | think they're 80 percent or nore
dependent on gas -- Entergy Loui siana.
Q Wth respect to the Florida matter, the

Gl ades project that you testified against, do you
know what Florida Power & Light has indicated that
their alternative is in that case?

A. Well, | know that they're planning to
build a nunber of nucl ear power plants, but the
State of Florida is also, under the governor's

direction, pushing very heavily into energy
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conservation, soit's a -- | think it's a
combi nati on of the two. | don't know -- | have not
been involved in the project. | don't know to what

extent renewables are a piece of the puzzle.

Q What about natural gas?
A "' m not sure that they want to build any
more natural gas down in Florida at this tinme. | t

may be that it is gas.

Q You don't know?

A. | just don't recall again. My i nvol vement
in the Florida project ended about 14 nonths ago.

Q You don't know whet her or not they have
just conpleted construction of a 1, 150-nmegawatt
nat ural gas conbined cycle plant?

A Oh, | do know t hat. The questi on was what
-- | thought your point was what were the
alternatives to the Gl ades project, and |I'm not
sure that natural gas is being considered as an
alternative to the Gl ades project because they
al ready have built and are building a | ot of
natural gas in Florida. That's why |I said that.
So I'm somewhat aware of what they're doing now.
It's just what alternatives they're considering.

Q Do you know that they're considering

bringing on line in 2009 and 2010 about 3, 700
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megawatts of additional natural gas?

A Yes, that was in the case | did -- the
Gl ades case.

Q And they're uprating their nucl ear power,
they're not building new nuclear facilities?

A. Well, they're doing both. | mean, they're
proposing to build new and they're doing power
uprates -- | thought they've actually already done
them -- at their five nuclear power plants in the
state.

Q Do you know what percentage of natural gas
Fl ori da Power & Light is -- their portfolio?

A | knew it a year and three nonths ago, but
| don't recall.

Q Woul d you consider -- you mentioned
earlier in your statement -- your opening statement
that the South is overreliant on natural gas.

A. No. There may be a concern about over-
reliance in the South because it's heavily
dependent on gas.

Q And do you know what percentage of natural
gas FP&L is?

A No. | mean, | can't remenber all these
nunbers. I f you give me a number subject to check,

|'"ll see whether it makes sense.
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Q A 50 percent going to 70 percent.

A. | don't know about going to 70, but | do
recall it is roughly 50 percent.
Q Do you know how much coal Florida Power &

Li ght uses?

A. There are some coal plants in the state,
but not much.

Q Woul d you disagree if | told you that it
was -- their portfolio was about 5 percent coal ?

A That's not much, yeah.

Q And you testified against the Gl ades
project?

A. Correct, and the Conmm ssion adopted that
position. They basically cut and paste ny
testinony into their order based on the sane kind
of issues | raised here, that CO2 costs and

construction costs were very, very risky.

Q Page 8 of your testinony.

A 87?

Q Yeah. And this is your simlar statenment
toward the -- with respect to we don't need to be

concerned about natural gas reliance up here.
The -- line 19 to 20.
A No. My position isn't you shouldn't be

concerned about it. You don't have to worry about
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an overreliance on natural gas. As |'ve expl ained
a couple of times in response to your questions and
said it in my summary statement, | believe you may
have to build gas to the most Iimted extent
necessary, that it may be a necessary evil, so to
speak, in order to address climate change issues.

Q Did you -- have you reviewed M. Klein's
testinony in this case -- Daniel Klein on behalf of
the applicants? He filed rebuttal testimny on
April 23rd.

A. | read it |l ast week after | got it.

Q Did you see the Wall Street Journal
article that he attached to his testinmny?

A. | don't recall

Q Do you recall seeing the Wall Street
Journal article froma week or two ago?

A. |f you give nme a topic. | mean, |'ve
| ooked at a |lot of Wall Street Journal articles.

Q That's fair. It would be the article from
April 18th, 2008.

A. Dates don't help. The topic would be
good.

Q "' m going to get you a copy in a m nute.

MS. LA SEUR: May | hand the witness a

copy?
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MR. GUERREROC: It'"s in the -- yeah, | will
in a second. It's Exhibit OTP/ MDU 350.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: \What section is it
included in in the Comm ssioners' papers?

MR. GUERREROC: It's Exhibit No. 350 --
OTP/ MDU Exhi bit No. 350. It's attached to M.
Klein's testinmony.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Is it in the
suppl ement al ?

MR. GUERRERO: The April 23rd testinmony.

THE W TNESS: | don't -- should I wait?

JUDGE WAHL: lt's tab 41, Conm ssioner.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | found it under tab
8.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: He's | ooking at the
bi g book.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, you're not using --
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | don't have the big

book. Sorry.
MR. DI LLER: Last few pages of tab 8.
COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Tab 8.
MR. DI LLER: Last few pages.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTINUI NG) Did you see

this article when it came out?
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A. No, but |'ve seen articles simlar to it.
Q And it references in that article 93

percent increase in natural gas cost since August?

A. Correct. | ' ve not confirmed that number.

Q You don't have any reason to disagree with
it, though?

A. | have no reason to agree or disagree.

Q And the article references that it's a 33

percent froman all-time record on the NYMEX, New
York Mercantil e Exchange?
A. Excuse me. Are you tal king about the

second paragraph fromthe bottom?

Q. Correct.

A ' m sorry. MWhat's the question?

Q | just want to know if you had seen that.
A. | see it now.

Q And you don't have any reason to disagree

with that?
A. Yeah. It's uncl ear whether it's a

short-term |long-term what the price is.

Q You -- I'msorry. Are you finished?
A. Yes.
Q Do you know what gas prices the applicants

used in their nodeling forecast?

A | don't remember all -- if you show them
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to me, yes, | mean, we've |ooked at them
Q Well, |I'"mjust asking you, do you recall

what they were?

A. Yes. Not every nunber, but yes.
Q Generally what was it?
A. | don't know. We would have to | ook at a

specific exhibit and a specific applicant.

Q Do you know what the cost of natural gas
is trading on at NYMEX right now?

A. For what delivery?

Q May delivery.

A No. | haven't | ooked -- as |I've been out
of circulation because of my surgery, | haven't
| ooked at it recently, but the May delivery price
-- May 2009 -- 8 delivery price may mean not hing
regarding long-term price of natural gas.

Q Go to page 13, M. Schlissel, of your
testi nony.

A. Okay. We're done with this article?

Q Yes.

A. Okay. Page 13. Okay.

Q Towards the top you reference an |daho
Power Company in your discussion of cancell ation of
pl ants.

A. Yes.
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Q And on line 9 it says, "IPC has shifted
its focus to the devel opnent of a natural gas-fired

combi ned cycle combustion turbine," et cetera,;

correct?
A Correct.
Q. So its alternative to the cancell ati on of

t he coal project was natural gas; is that a fair
statement ?

A. | think that's part of -- if you read
their IRP, their integrated resource plan, they've
come up with a different plan. | don't recall that
it's a one-for-one -- megawatt-for-megawatt
repl acenent.

Q And on page 16 --

A. Page 167

Q Page 16. You reference the Orl ando
Utilities Comm ssion, |line 24 --

A Yes.

Q -- the cancellation of their | GCC project
and they will continue with their natural gas-fired

combi ned cycle generating unit?

A. Correct.
Q ' mgoing to ask you a few questions about
bi ases, M. Schlissel. Do you know that both Otter

Tail and Mont ana- Dakota are investor-owned
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utilities?
A. Yes.
Q And their rates are regulated by this

Comm ssi on?
Yes.

Q And their profits are regulated by this
Comm ssi on?

A. | don't know that the profits are. ' m
sure in a rate case they look at a return on
equity.

Q Isn't that the purpose of | ooking at
return on equity?

A ' m sure, but with -- between rate cases
conpani es someti mes over -- conmpani es have
deregul ated i nvest ments.

Q ' mtal king about their utility companies,
not their unregul ated investments.

A Ri ght, but they're all part of the sanme
hol di ng company generally. Some parts are

regul ated, some aren't.

Q Are you saying that that's the case for
these two utilities?

A. No. Tal king generally.

Q And you're not alleging when you talk

about biases, M. Schlissel, that these two
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utilities believe that they can make nmore nmoney
buil ding a coal plant than building a natural gas
pl ant or wi nd plants or any other plant?

A. | -- well, of course, having nore
i nvestment in rate base hel ps the conpanies
earni ngs, but | have not seen any evidence in their
docunents to show that they've decided to | oad up

on their rate base at the expense of ratepayers.

Q You're not alleging that?
A. |'ve seen no evidence of it.
Q Have you reviewed M. Rolfes' testimony in

this case?

A Yes.

Q Okay. | f you could go to page 5 of your
testi nony.

A. Okay.

Q And line 7, your comment, "The flawed and
bi ased new nodeling anal yses presented by OTP and
MDU are the only evidence that has been presented
to show that addi ng new basel oad generating
capacity is the nost econom c option.”™ Did | read
that correctly?

A Yes.

Q So it's basically flawed and biased

anal yses that got us here; is that correct?
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A. | believe that they are flawed and bi ased.
| mean, the statement, | think, speaks for itself.

| don't know what el se to add.

Q You' re not disagreeing that the MAPP -- do
you know -- the M dcontinent Area Power Pool,
M-A-P-P -- region is predicting capacity deficits

as soon as 2011? You're not disagreeing with that,

are you?
A. That's correct. But as | discussed, they
don't mention -- they don't address a number of new

devel opment s.

Q Do you know what the purpose of reserve
sharing is in a power pool such as MAPP?

A Sure, so that you can | ower the overall
reserve margin so that a utility in South Dakot a,
for exanmple, gets the benefit of capacity owned by
a utility in northern Ohio or western W sconsin.

Q Do you agree with that philosophy?

A. Oh, absolutely.

Q s it surprising, given the nature of the
pool, M. Schlissel, that we find the industry
needing to build at about the same time?

A ' m sorry. Could you repeat the question?

Q s it surprising, given the nature of the

pool, that you find utilities needing to build
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A No. | mean, | think that goes in waves.

Q Page 26, M. Schlissel, please, |ine 22.
You say -- or you're referencing --

A "' m sorry. | wasn't --

Q ' m sorry. Page 26.

A. 26, line 22?

Q. Correct.

A Yes.

Q You're referencing an Edi son Foundati on
report -- line 22 -- "Construction costs for
electric utility investments have risen sharply

1215

over the past several years, due to factors beyond

the industry's control."

A Correct.

Q Do you agree with that statement?

A Yes.

Q And what are those factors beyond the

i ndustry's control ?

A. | mentioned it before in nmy summary

statement, international conmpetition for design and

construction resources, conpetition for

manuf acturing capacity. There are only a certain

number of compani es that have the foundry

capabilities of building | arge boilers, for
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exampl e, | abor resource, construction | abor
conpetition, and then conpetition for the basic
commodities, the steel, the piping, the copper that
you use in building a power plant.

Q Page 30, M. Schlissel, please, line 11
| think there you're referencing some statements --
A From Bl ack & Veatch

MR. BINEK: This is -- is this trade
secret?

MR. GUERREROC: Oh, it's not stricken.

It's trade secret. But I'"'mcertainly -- well,
given the fact that it would be difficult to recuse
peopl e.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, we can take a brief
recess, we have to change the card, and conti nue
with the testinmony.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, one alternative
woul d be to simply waive the trade secret
protection for purposes of this one line that I
woul d It ke to ask hima question about.

JUDGE WAHL: Sure. That's optional with
you.

MR. KUNTZ: That's fine.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Do you have a

copy of your testinmony, M. Schlissel, where you
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actually have a line 117

A Yes.

Q On line 11 it just sinply references U. S.
and world electricity industry in the early stages
of a large build cycle; correct?

A Yes.

Q And that's consistent then with the
comments that you've just indicated; correct?

A. Correct. Chi na.

Q Consistent with the comments of the Edi son
Foundati on report; correct?

A Yes. All of the evidence |I've seen is --
well, not all the evidence. Just about all the
evi dence, except that filed by the Big Stone I
co-owners in Mnnesota in November, is consistent
about that it's likely to be a |long-term process
for the competition for resources.

Q And yet where there's a need, these
utilities, with an obligation to serve, m ght
actually have to build something given those
circumstances, nonethel ess; correct?

A. Yes, that is -- that is a possibility, but
you would |l ook to alternatives that had | ower costs
or expectation of |ower costs over tinme.

Q M. Schlissel, |I'm handing you a copy --
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"' m not going to introduce it into the record, but
| wanted you to have it as | ask you questions from
it. This is a copy of the applicants' brief from
| ast summer. Wbuld you have any reason to disagree

with that?

A No.

Q You're a |lawyer in addition to being an
econom st; is that correct?

A "' m not an econom st . ' m an engi neer and

a |l awyer, yes.

Q An engi neer and a | awyer. Are you
famliar with definitions of "prudence standard"
given your long involvement in the electric utility
i ndustry?

A Yes.

MS. LA SEUR: Obj ection. The witness is
not testifying as an attorney and it would be
i nappropriate to testify about |egal concl usions.

JUDGE WAHL.: Oh, can you give me some
authority for that? | don't think so. He's
qualified to testify on the subject matter.

MS. LA SEUR: He's not being offered as a
| egal witness.

JUDGE WAHL.: It doesn't make any

di fference, unless you can show me otherwi se. The
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objection is overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: Yes, |'ve testified a nunber
of times on prudence standards, |'ve written
briefs, 1've helped clients wite briefs about

prudence, yes.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) Thank you. [I'm
going to direct your attention to the m ddle of
t hat page where there's a quote from a Feder al
Energy Regul atory Comm ssion case. Are you
famliar with the Federal Energy Regul atory

Conmm ssi on?

A Yes.

Q Done work before them before?

A | filed testimony in a couple of FERC
cases.

Q ' mgoing to read this standard to you,
M. Schlissel. "Managers of a utility have broad

di scretion in conducting their business affairs and
in incurring costs necessary to provide services to
their customers. In perform ng our duty to
determ ne the prudence of specific costs, the
appropriate test to be used is whether they are
costs which a reasonable utility management (or

t hat of another jurisdictional entity) would have

made, in good faith, under the same circunstances,
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and at the relevant point in time." Did |l read
that correctly?

A Yes.

Q Do you find any fault with that particular
standard, M. Schlissel?

A No. As you're aware, the prudence
standard changes from state to state a bit at
times. | think that this is a reasonable

enunci ati on of the general standard. The only

thing I would add is that the utility management is
held to the standard and know edge of other utility
managements. There's a big -- as I'm sure you're

aware in prudence standard, it's is it a reasonable
person or reasonable utility management with the
know edge of utility management. No, | think this
is a reasonable -- reasonable enunciation of it.

Q Thank you, M. Schlissel. ' mgoing to
direct your attention to the footnote 21 on that
page, where it states, "Good faith is presumed on
the part of managers of a business. In the absence
of a showi ng of inefficiency or inprovidence, a
court will not substitute its judgment for theirs
as to the measure of a prudent outlay." Do you
agree with that or have any reason to disagree with

t hat particular statement?
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A. No. That one | think would depend on
whet her you're in the federal courts or in the
state court as to what a court |ooks at in ternms of
when it reviews a Comm ssion decision, and that's
not something |I followed in nmy practice, so | don't
know what would -- the federal courts would do now
and | don't know what the State of North Dakota
would do in reviewi ng a decision of this
Comm ssi on.

Q But just as a general proposition, given
your | egal background and your background in the
electric utility industry, do you have any reason
to disagree with that particular enunciation?

A. Yeah. | mean, |'ve seen it -- | guess
it's not disagree with it. | just put it in the
context |'ve seen instances where courts, even
t hough there is a showing of inefficiency, will not
review a decision, and |'ve seen instances where
the court is upset about the outcome and it does
review a decision, so | think that --

MS. LA SEUR: |'d like to renew ny
objection and refer the tribunal to Federal Rule of
Evi dence No. 704, barring legal conclusions by an
expert witness as usurping the jurisdiction of the

tribunal or the jury.
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JUDGE WAHL: "1l take a | ook at that.
Let's take a recess. Ten m nutes, is that
sufficient? Let's be in recess until 11:30.

(Recess taken at 11:21 a.m to 11:32 a.m)

JUDGE WAHL: | have reconsidered
intervenors' objection to the continuing
interrogation of cross-exam nation of M. Schlissel
with regard to | egal questions. | ve reviewed Rule
701 through 706 of the North Dakota Rul es of
Evi dence. | don't see those rules exclude this
exam nati on. | think the exam nation is
appropriate as cross-exam nation and | think that
M. Schlissel as a |lawyer -- and, quite frankly,
whet her or not regardl ess of whether he's a | awyer,
as an expert witness can testify even as to the
application of law as to the subject matter in
which he's qualified to testify. The objection is
overrul ed. You may proceed, M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor. And
you'll be glad to know we don't have any further
gquestions at this time of M. --

JUDGE WAHL: " m very glad to know t hat,

i ndeed.
MR. GUERRERO:. -- M. Schlissel. So we

will pass the m ke.
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JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:

Q | hope to try to avoid duplication of
i ssues that have already been covered, but it's
been kind of difficult to keep track, so there
probably will be sone.

First of all, you criticize MDU and Otter
Tail for not considering CO2 prices in their
anal ysis, but you're aware of North Dakota | aw,
aren't you, that specifically prohibits the
Comm ssion from considering these costs -- alleged
costs of conplying with future environmental | aws
or regul ations that have not been enacted? |'m
referring to North Dakota Century Code 49-02-23.

A. | am famliar with the North Dakota | aw,
but I"'malso famliar with what prudent utilities
consider in their analyses and, in fact, what
conmpani es have responsibility to their investors to
consider, so | think it's a really conmplicated
issue as to what MDU can or cannot include in their
anal yses.

Q But you -- you're not suggesting that this

Comm ssion should ignore North Dakota law in its
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decision in this -- in this proceeding, are you?

A. Well, | guess what -- |I'm certainly not
counseling anybody to violate a law, if the
Comm ssion got arrested on the basis of ny advice.
But in all seriousness, | think the Comm ssion has
to decide whether ignoring CO2 -- how you can
show -- make an advance determ nation of prudence
wi t hout considering the 800-pound gorilla in the
room

Q But when North Dakota | aw specifically
says the Comm ssion cannot consider these things,
are you suggesting that the Comm ssion should
consider themin their decision and ignore the
Nort h Dakota | aw?

A. Well, if the Comm ssion were asking me for
my opinion on how they should work their way out of
this contradiction --

Q "' mjust asking a question of whether they
should ignore the I aw and consi der these costs.
That's the only question |I'm asking.

A. No, | don't think they should ignore the
law, but | don't think that the |law -- that
determ ni ng prudence and saying there's an
extraneous factor that we can't consider that means

that this investment is imprudent is violating the
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| aw necessarily.

Q So they should consider the costs of --

A You don't have to consider the costs to
know that there is a problem You don't have to do
an analytic analysis, a quantification, so to
speak, to know that there's a serious problem and
t hat that serious problemis likely to lead to
i ncreased costs that have not been considered by
t he applicants.

Q The | aw says that they can't consider the
al l eged costs of conmplying with future
environmental |aws or regul ations that have not yet

been enact ed.

A Correct.

Q And do you agree that they cannot consi der
t hose?

A. "' m not aware of any North Dakota court
decision that defines "alleged costs.”™ You're

interpreting it to mean anything related to CO2 and
an impact that that m ght have. That may be what a
Nort h Dakota court ultimately deci des. You may be

correct. | could also see an interpretation of

t hat | aw meaning you can't talk about that the cost
will be $9 a ton versus $10 a ton, but that perhaps

you can consider that in fact there will be generic
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costs that affect a project that have not been
consi dered. Again, with the absence of a court
decision of which I'"maware, it's hard to answer
your question with nore specificity.

JUDGE WAHL: " m sorry, M. Schlissel.
You have your m crophone turned away from you.

THE W TNESS: | apol ogi ze.

JUDGE WAHL: There you go.

THE W TNESS: We don't have to start over,

do 17?
JUDGE WAHL: No.
THE W TNESS: Okay. Sorry about.
Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) "' m not sure |
have an answer yet, but | don't know where else to

go with this.

In your testinmony you tal k about conpanies
t hat have decided not to undertake new coal -fired
power plants and there has been consi derable
di scussi on between you and Otter Tail counsel
concerning this, and you say it's because of
concerns over increasing construction cost and/or
potential for federal regul ations of greenhouse
gases. There have been conpanies that have gone
forward with plans for construction of coal-fired

power plants, too, haven't there?




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1227

A Yes, there have been some investor-owned
conmpani es that have gone ahead, yes.

Q The fact that one conpany deci des agai nst
building a coal-fired plant doesn't necessarily
mean that a coal-fired plant isn't a correct
resource selection for another conpany, is it?

A It's evidence of it, but, of course, it's
not conclusive. The anal yses done by each conmpany
is what should be concl usive.

Q Each conpany has to make its decision
based on the facts and circunstances of their
situation; isn't that correct?

A Correct.

Q Do you believe that a conpany should rely
solely on what modeling results show in selecting a
generation resource, or should they also use the
know edge, expertise and experience of their
management enpl oyees and consultants in making a
determ nation?

A. Of course, they should | ook at -- they
have to consider their expertise and experience and
experience of other conpanies.

Q In your testinony on page 19 you identify
ri sks associated with building natural gas

alternatives, as well as renewable alternatives and
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energy efficiency, and you say those are potenti al
CO2 em ssion costs, possible capital costs,
escal ations, and fuel price uncertainty and
volatility. Are those the only risks associ ated
with a natural gas alternative?

A. Well, | mean, | suppose you could include
a question of availability of supply, although I
think there always -- | think within our lifetime
there will be supply of natural gas. It's a
gquestion of price.

Q Wth the CO2 em ssions, | believe that we
have testinony in this case that natural gas-fired
generation emts roughly 50 percent of the CO2 --
t he amount of CO2 as a coal plant. Do you agree
with that?

It's roughly 50 to 60 percent.

Q Okay. So if CO2 costs are inposed,
they're going to be imposed on gas-fired
generators, as well; right?

A That's correct, and should be consi dered
in the anal ysis.

Q The applicants' rebuttal w tness, Thomas
Hewson, tal ked about possible CO2 | egislation. Do
you agree that if Congress enacts future

| egislation, that it will likely -- that it wll
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more |ikely be a cap-and-trade progranm?

A Yes.

Q Do you also agree that under the proposed
| egi sl ative progranms that a portion of the em ssion
al l owances would likely be allocated at no cost to
affected parties to reduce their conpliance cost
i mpact ?

A. | think that's great -- that's highly
uncertain. My opinion is | think that initially
some portion will be allocated free, but --

Q In your analysis did you factor in any

no-cost allocations?

A No. Woul d you like nme to explain why?

Q No. | needed to know.

A. Okay.

Q Your counsel can explore further if that's

necessary.

A Fi ne.

Q Do you agree with M. Hewson that overall
costs of wind generation facilities are nore
capital intensive on-a-dollar-per-kilowatt-hour
basis than conventional fossil fuel costs?

A. On a kilowatt --

Q Kil owatt-per-hour basis.

A Not necessarily.
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Q Kil owatt-hour basis.

A. W nd capital costs now at the high end of
the estimted range is roughly $2,000 a kW 2, 100.
Coal plant costs are now 2,500 to $3,000 per kW
Doing a levelized cost analysis with CO2 costs we
find wind to be | ess expensive than coal.

Q So wind generation facilities are not nore
capital intensive?

A Well, if you |look at a dollar per kW
t hey' re not.

Q Okay. What do you believe is a realistic

capacity factor for wi nd generation?

A Depends on where you are.

Q Il n North Dakot a.

A | think you're probably talking a 40
percent. | ve seen some studies that have assumed

45. Again, it depends on where you are and how
di verse. I f you're talking one wind farm are you
tal ki ng about, you know, geographically dispersed

wind facilities, you can probably have as a group a

hi gher capacity factor. | think as an estimte you
woul d | ook -- 40 to 45 percent would be the top.
Q Do you know if that's what the experience

has been in North Dakota?

A. | don't recall all of the wind facilities.
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Q What about M nnesota, do you know what the
capacity factor is for wind generation in
M nnesot a?

A We' ve | ooked at it. Sitting here today,
|'"'msorry, | don't remenber all of the results.
One thing you have to factor in, too, is that the
new wind facilities are projected to be nore
efficient in ternms of operation than the ol der, so
you're likely to get better capacity factors, but,
again, | don't remenber the exact operating
performance statistics.

Q Well, would you agree with M. Hewson that
the EIA, DOE wi nd production data shows 2005
aver age output capacity for M nnesota wi nd projects
was close to 32 percent?

A. No. | would have to verify his nunmbers
before I would agree with M. Hewson.

Q Because of the volatility of fuel prices,
woul d coal -fired generation likely result in more

stable electric power rates?

A. Than what? Than just --
Q Wel |, than natural gas.
A. Per haps. | mean, if natural gas prices

are fluctuating up and down, then the answer is

yes.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1232
Q Does the United States rely on inports of
natural gas to satisfy its demand?
A I ncreasingly it's relying on LNG i nports,
yes.
Q And where do LNG i mports conme fronf?
A. There's LNG off Australia, there's LNG in

the western part of Russia, just north of Japan,

there's LNG in Iran. | forget the list. There's
LNG, | believe, in Venezuela, other places in the
Cari bbean. | have to look at a list. Those are

the ones | recall offhand.

Q And do you know primarily where U. S.
i mports come fron?

A. |'ve seen the dat a. | don't recall. | f
you have somet hing subject to check.

Q No, |'m just asking.

A Those countries | nmentioned are, |

beli eve, some sources. Oh, some other countries in

the Persian Gulf, Qatar, Abu Dhabi -- | know Qatar.
Qa-t-a-r, | think, is how you spell that one.

Q How about Saudi Arabi a?

A. | was about to say Saudi Arabia.

Q As far as inmports of natural gas, does the

United States inport from Canada and Mexico, also?

A. | think so.
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Q Okay. | don't recall whose testinony it
was, but there was indication -- or a statenment
that imports from Canada and Mexico are declining.
Woul d you agree with that?

A | think it's expected to decline over
time, certainly. There's actually going to be an
LNG termnal or two in Baja, California, so | don't
know whet her that counts as inports through Mexi co,
but there will be additional LNG through Mexico
comng into southern California.

Q From Mexico or through Mexico?

A. Thr ough Mexi co.

Q Does an increasing dependence on foreign
supplies of natural gas present any supply and

security risks?

A. Yes.

Q WIl requirements to reduce CO2 em ssions
affect natural gas demand and price volatility?

A. | don't know. That's a really conplicated
guestion. You would expect that it will affect

nat ural gas demand dependi ng on a nunber of other
factors. How nmuch energy efficiency we do, how
much renewabl e resources we build, how much nucl ear
is added, those will affect how nuch CO2 regul ation

affects natural gas demand. As to volatility, |
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don't -- people interchange price increases wth
volatility. Volatility to me means it's going up
and goi ng up, changing nonth by month or over a
coupl e mont hs. | don't know that CO2 prices wil
affect volatility, per se. There have been various
studi es of the inmpact of regulation, the current
bills before Congress -- adoption of the current
bills before Congress on natural gas prices, and it
| ooks like it will have -- well, actually the
results of many of these scenarios are that it wll
end up leading to | ower natural gas prices because
eventually CO2 regul ation, as you, yourself,
poi nted out, will be applied to natural gas plants,
and that will end up pushing conpanies away from
buil ding and operating natural gas plants to nore

energy efficiency and renewabl es and maybe nucl ear.

So it's really a conmplicated issue that | can go
into more detail if you want.

Q No. | accept your statement it's a
conplicated issue. | think that's pretty obvious.

s wi nd generation conpetitive with Big

Stone Il without production tax credits?
A. Wnd on itself wi thout a production tax
credit, | don't think it is on a |levelized basis.

Q When do you project that the production
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tax credits will expire?
A It's a political issue so it's hard to
come up with a projection. | think that Otter Tail

Power's estimate that the wi nd production tax

credit will continue through the end of 2013 is
reasonabl e. Xcel Energy does 2015. | think that's
ki nd of a reasonable ballpark. What | think wl

happen is that when we eventually get some form of
CO2 cap-and-trade regime in this country and CO2
prices get high enough, then the production tax
credit will not be renewed because it will be
duplicative, that the wind industry will not need
it, the solar industry won't need it because
carbon-emtting sources will be paying CO2 prices.
So | think the actual date of when it goes away is
tied in to when we get meani ngful greenhouse gas
regulation in the U. S.

Q Do you think the cost of wi nd generation
will increase because of demand for wi nd generation
resources if there's a significant CO2 tax or other
cost inposed by the states or federal government
for CO2 em ssions?

A | think it's a factor to consider, but |
t hi nk counterbal ancing that is we're seeing

conmpani es expandi ng production facilities for wi nd
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facilities -- wind power dramatically. Just go
down to |l owa as an exanpl e. In lowa there are any
number of factories for wind turbine blades, other
conponents of wind turbines. So the industry
estimates that the production capability wll
quadruple by 2012 in ternms of how much wind -- how
much wi nd capacity they can produce -- build that
can then be install ed.

Q Are there nore uncertainties and nore
ri sks for higher fuel prices and fuel supply
di sruptions with natural gas-fired generation than

with coal-fired generation?

A. | think that in general you would think
there's nore -- you |lumped a number of things
t oget her. | think the evidence is that coal prices
are going up. If you | ook at the spot markets now,

t he spot market prices for coal have doubl ed,
tripled, even nore, within the |ast year. W're
now exporting nore coal to foreign countries.
That's going to affect the price of domestic coal.
You'd think in general that, yes, supply

di sruptions are a bigger concern with natural gas,
but then you | ook at the actual history. There
have not been natural gas supply disruptions --

significant ones -- other than during the cold
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spell, and at the same time Powder River Basin

coal, because their railroad track problems, led to

maj or cost increases by coal-fired utilities all
around the M dwest. So, yes, there's an
expectation -- and you should be concerned about

nat ural gas supply stability. That's why we
propose you only build and operate gas to the
m ni mum extent necessary.

Q Getting to that, when you're tal king about
buil di ng natural gas and tal king about an
alternative to Big Stone Il, the testinmny from an
Oter Tail witness was that to replace Big Stone
1, you need 500 nmegawatts of natural gas.

A. Yeah, that's -- that's old-time thinking.
That's old-time thinking that gives no -- M. --
you' re tal king about M. Greig. M. Greig's
anal ysis gives no capacity credit to wind at all,
even though these conmpanies -- two conmpanies in
t heir modeling anal yses give capacity credit to
wi nd, and have done so in the past.

Q Well, if capacity credit is given, how
much natural gas would have to be built to replace
Big Stone 117?

A Again, you | ook at the econom cs, you

bal ance off how much wi nd do you have to build,
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what capacity factor do you get from wi nd, and what
capacity factor do you then -- how nuch gas do you
have to build and how much do you have to operate
that gas, so it's a conplicated anal ysis, but
generally if you build 400 -- let's assume w nd got
a 20 percent capacity credit. Okay?

Q Okay.

A And you build 500 nmegawatts of w nd, so
that for reliability purposes that equals 100
megawatts of wi nd for capacity, just for
reliability purposes, you then have to build 400
megawatts of gas.

Q Okay. So a m nimum 400, maxi mum 500,

dependi ng on whet her capacity credits are factored

in?

A. Well, yeah, but it's not a sinple matter.

Q No, | realize. And ny question was fairly
simpl e, but you've answered the question that |'ve
asked.

A. | kind of feel like I've given half of it,
but you get the say. | would go on to explain that

you al so have now the econom cs of how much
electricity is produced by the wi nd, which has a
zero fuel cost, versus the natural gas capacity.

Q Wel | - -
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A So you m ght want to build more wi nd and
| ess gas or operate gas |ess, have some of your gas
be peaker and sone be basel oad.

Q | realize that there are all of those
alternatives, but | was trying to address the
situation --

A. Okay.

Q -- of Otter Tail's testinmny, the 500
megawatts and yours about the |lack of recognition
of capacity credits.

A. Okay.

Q Your counsel may want to inquire further
on this. That's fine.

A. Okay.

Q Have you reviewed Daniel Klein's rebuttal

testinony?

A. | went through it very quickly.
Q M. Klein -- in his testimony M. Klein
states that if Big Stone Il is not built -- 1 think

-- wait a m nute. Maybe we've covered that
al ready.
Okay. M. Klein in his testinony states
t hat natural gas prices are much nmore volatile than
coal prices. And ny question is -- this kind of

goes back to what we tal ked about a little bit
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before -- whether you agree with that.

A | agree that gas prices are volatile, but
you've got to put it in the context of an anal ysis
t hat | ooks at the potential increases in capital
costs, CO2 costs and then gas volatility, and you
eval uate whether Big Stone Il makes econom c sense
even if you consider volatility, and by which I'm
not tal king about month-to-month vari ati ons. ' m
tal ki ng about differences between what a | ow
| ong-term forecast and a high |long-term forecast
would be. So it's one factor that needs to go into
a rigorous analysis of risk.

Q M. Klein -- we tal ked about the stability
of rates, and M. Klein in his testinony makes a
statement that regions with nore coal-fired power
in their generation tend to have more stable power
rates, and regionwi de now, would you agree with

t hat statement?

A. No. | mean, | have to see the nunbers
behind it. | think stability of rates changes over
time. | mean, there have been some conmpanies in

this region that don't have stable rates even
t hough they have a |l ot of coal. There are
conpanies with coal that have very stable rates.

For exanpl e, Kansas City Power & Light, which
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building latan Il, I-a-t-a-n Il, a coal plant, is
havi ng severe financial problenms and rate issues

due to their increased cost of their coal-fired

power plant. So |I think you can't just make a
bl anket statement like M. Klein attempts to do.
Q M. Klein also states that natural gas

mar kets are becom ng nore international and
increasingly are subject to the same type of price
spi kes as seen with petroleum Do you agree with
t hat statement?

A No. |'ve not seen the evidence about it
becom ng increasingly susceptible to price spikes
as with petroleum but certainly with the increased
mar ket for LNG around the world, there is
devel opi ng an international market for natural gas.

Q Do you agree with M. Klein's statement
that while CO2 requirements would affect the cost
of using coal at Big Stone II, it would also affect
costs of using natural gas by the direct effect of

CO2 pricing on natural gas em ssions and al so by

the potential rise in market price and volatility
of fuel?
A. Well, there's a lot in there. | would

agree that it would affect the price of natural gas

gener ation, because, as you and | spoke before,
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gas-fired power plants emt CO2. As to the inpact
on natural gas prices, | think you and |I discussed
this before, it's really conplicated.

Q Yeah. We don't need to go over that.

A Well, |I'"mnot going to go over it, but
"1l just say that the studies we've seen, and
we' ve | ooked at all of the anal yses done by the
ElI A, the Departnment of Energy, the EPA, the
Nati onal Gas Council, show that when CO2 prices get
hi gh enough, there is an impact on natural gas
prices in some scenari os. But if you're going to
assume an increase in natural gas prices, then you
have to assunme fairly substantial CO2 costs, as
wel | . You can't assunme a low CO2 price -- really
| ow CO2 price and then a really high inmpact on
nat ural gas. That doesn't worKk. That's not the
way the studies are showing -- the results of what
the studies are showi ng.

Q Woul d you agree with M. Klein's statement
t hat North Dakota's participation in M SO exposes
it to a natural gas price volatility risk that is
much | arger than its actual percentage of
generation?

A. | don't know about that one. | think that

it also offers access to cheaper power, so that I
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think that those are two bal ancing factors.

MR. BI NEK: | think that covers all ny
guesti ons.

JUDGE WAHL: | think it may be time for
[ unch.

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: M ght be.

JUDGE WAHL: Let's be in recess until one
o' cl ock.

(Recess taken at 12:03 p.m to 1:01 p.m)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Let's be in
order. |t appears everyone's ready. As a

prelimnary matter and as a matter of information
for anyone who is |listening via the Internet,
Comm ssioners, |I'm advised that it appears that --
that Otter Tail and MDU expect to finish with their
wi t nesses today with perhaps some adjustnment yet,
and then that we will conplete the suppl enent al
hearings with M. Deason's testinony tonmorrow
mor ni ng. That appears to be our agenda.
Al'l right. Questions for M. Schlissel
fromthe Conm ssion. Comm ssioner Wefald.
EXAM NATI ON

BY COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q On page 62 of your testimny -- page 62,

line 21.
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Yes.

Q It states: "For example, the National
Comm ssion on Energy Policy has recently
recommended that new coal plants built wthout
carbon capture and sequestration not be
grandfathered."” Can you tell me when they made
t hat determ nation?

A They made the recommendation, | think, in
December of 2007.

Q Okay. Thank you. And then on page 61 --

A Yes, ma' am

Q -- line 11, it reads, Synapse believes it
is important for the M nnesota PUC to rely on the

most current i nformation. Should it read "North

Dakot a" ?
A. It should be "North Dakota." |'m sorry.
| m ssed that typo. | apol ogi ze.

MR. GUERRERO:. Just for clarification,
Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: Go ahead, M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. The clarification is that
lines 8 through 29 on page 61 were actually
stricken.

JUDGE WAHL: They were, Conm ssioner.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | don't have a
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redacted copy --

JUDGE WAHL: Yeah. ' m sorry.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: -- and | don't have
any copy that has indicated what should be
stricken. You'll just have to tell me as | go
al ong.

JUDGE WAHL: Do you not have the | arge
vol ume, Conmm ssioner?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No. | ve never been
given that.

MR. Bl NEK: You were given a copy.

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | s that what this
is? Okay. Thank you

JUDGE WAHL: I f you would -- tab 42 is M.
Schlissel's testinmony.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Actually, all ny
guestions are written in my old one, so just tell
me as | go al ong.

JUDGE WAHL: Oh, all right. All right.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. Thank
you. Okay. Then my next question is page 81. l's
that also stricken? Let's see here. | think --

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: |t depends where.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | actually would

like to go to page 77 next. Is the chart able to
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be di scussed?

JUDGE WAHL: Only the -- portions of Table
6 are stricken except for the first, third and
fourth colums -- |I'm sorry. First, fourth and
fifth colums.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: The first colum is
the year?

JUDGE WAHL: Yes.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: That's okay?

JUDGE WAHL: That's all right. And the
fourth and fifth colums are with regard to capital
cost .

Q (COWM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) Al |
right. Woul d you please just still go over with me
what this shows even between the first colum and
the fourth and the fifth?

A Sur e.

Q Thank you

A. When we -- "we" meaning Synapse -- re-ran
the Strategist model for MDU in the M nnesota

certificate of need case this past December, the

only change -- the nodeling change we made was to
increase the cost of Big Stone Il by ten percent.
Q Okay.

A And this is the plan that the nodel picked
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out . So if you |l ook at the fourth colum, that was
their case with a 500 megawatt size Big Stone |1
Pl ant . It picked these two DSM programs that M.
Guerrero and | discussed this morning, which were
the same as the conpany picked. It then picked
30.6 megawatts of wind in 2011 -- 2010, excuse ne,
61.2 megawatts of wind in 2011, and 87 nmegawatts of
combustion turbine. It then added some nore w nd
in 2012. It added combustion turbines then in 2017
and 2024. That was the plan that the nodel picked
as its lowest cost plan.

Q Al'l right. Thank you. And then the next

colum, is that the same explanation only that

relates to -- these both relate to MDU; is that
correct?

A Correct.

Q. So what's different? Tell me what's

different between the next col um.

A. The fourth colum, the one | just
described, is with regards to MDU s share of a 500
megawatt sized Big Stone |1

Q And the other one is 5807

A. Yes, ma'am Those were the two sizes that
t he companies indicated in M nnesota that they were

considering for Big Stone I1. So MDU ran two sets
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of computer runs.

Q Al'l right. How nmuch demand si de
management was projected then in 2008 and 2009; do
you know t hat?

A | don't recall -- | don't have the nunbers
with nme. M. Heidell can probably, when he gets on
the witness stand, talk about it because it was his
model i ng assunption that we used, M. Heidell from
t he company. He did the Strategi st nodeling for
MDU.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: s M. Heidell going
to be a witness?

MR. KUNTZ: (Nods head.)

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Al'l right. Thank
you. Then page 81 is the chart, Table 7. Are we
able to discuss that?

JUDGE WAHL: Page 817

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: MT- hmm

MR. GUERRERO: (Shakes head.)

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No. And the charts
on page 82, are we able to discuss those?

JUDGE WAHL: No.

Q (COWM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) Al |
right. And then | had a question on -- |I'm going

to ask you a rather general question, and I
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understand if you can't answer it. If you want to
refer me to another witness, that's just fine.

A. Okay. Thank you

Q Al'l right. Let's say that MDU serves
about 500 nmegawatts of |oad. These days, given the
environment that we're in, what percentage of | oad
do you think a company should be trying to neet
with demand side management-type progranms?

A. Wow, that is a conplicated question. Do
you mean -- well, clearly as nmuch -- | nmean, if
you're tal king about general energy efficiency, you
want to reduce the demand as much as you can. So
if you're just tal king about -- | mean, let's
assume you had -- the conpany came to you and said
we have programs that can reduce our demand from
500 to 400 nmegawatts. That's good. There's
not hi ng negative. You want to get that down as | ow
as possi bl e.

Q But what |'m wondering, though, is like is
it one percent? See, that would be probably a 20
percent reduction in their |oad. Sonmetinmes
compani es come to us and they say we want to start
demand side managenment prograns and then they
present us with one percent of their | oad. I

suppose that's a good place to start, but |I'm
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asking what is a reasonable number these days for
demand si de management ?

A Wel |, conpanies are and conm ssions are
rai sing the amounts. | mean, generally now one to
two percent is believed to be achievable by many
conmpani es and many conm SsSi ons.

Q And that would be -- in that case if a
company served 500 megawatts, it would be
approximately ten megawatts; right?

A. But that's year -- each year --

Q Each year.

A -- and it's cunmul ative.
Q Cunul ative?
A Yes. So let's forget about growth. Let's

assume the conpany's not growing. Wth your

example it would be ten nmegawatts the first year,

and then again two percent would be -- then it
woul d be 49 -- it would be --
Q So it's ten percent. Anot her one percent

woul d be another five megawatts.

A. So it would be either ten megawatts a year
or five megawatts --

Q Five megawatts a year --

A Yes.

Q -- on top of each other.
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A. On top of each other. They're cunmul ative.
The northwest -- the M dwestern Governors
Associ ation in Novenber adopted a goal of a two
percent of | oad served by energy efficiency by 2015
and two percent additional every year thereafter.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: So in 50 years you
woul dn't need the plant anynore.

THE W TNESS: Well, yeah. The problemis
you've got to -- | mean, you've got to do sonething
in the interimto be able to neet it, and you
also -- in areal world situation you do have
growt h. So it's more conmplicated than this
example, but it's basically -- one to two percent
is certainly achievable, we believe, and it's
cumul ative.

Q (COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) And so

the 1.5 that M nnesota has set is cumul ative --

A Yes.

Q -- fromyear to year?

A Yes.

Q So it's one-and-a-half percent of the | oad

the first year and then three percent the second
year and four-and-a-half the second year, sonething
li ke that?

A. No. It's -- the increnment increases.
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It's not three percent. It's one-and-a-half
percent the first year and then the same nunber of
megawatts the second year or -- | mean, and so on,
so that it does build up. Over time you would have
significant savings.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Clark.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Just a few, and |
think they're mainly based off some responses.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q Good afternoon, M. Schlissel.

A. Yes. Good afternoon. |'m glad |I'm not
sitting next to you. | think nmy green cast and
your tie would make us | ook Iike a punpkin,

Q My questions, | think, were raised
primarily by some responses that you gave, and |

just want to clarify them You had tal ked about

the -- | think the installed cost of wi nd being
something |ike 2,000 to 2100 kil owatts -- per
kil owatt. Now, is that the all-in price of wind,

or is that just kind of the tower installed itself?
The reason | ask is because any wi nd, of course,

has to be backed up by somet hing el se. | s that
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i ncluding that back-up cost or not?

A. No. It's the cost of building a wi nd
turbi ne. Just the all-in cost.
Q For conparative purposes, though, the

Comm ssion would need to consider the total cost of
the resource, both wi nd and --

A. Well, sure, you'd want to -- | mean,
firstly, wind can be backed up by the general
system The system has a | ot of dispatchable
capacity. So it isn't -- | mean --

Q When you say the system buying fromthe
mar ket ?

A The grid. The grid has a | ot of
di spatchabl e power plants already existing. Now,
if you' re going to | ook one-on-one, Big Stone I
versus wi nd and energy efficiency and gas
alternative, then you would want to have sonme
backup. Yes. You want to factor in the maxi mum
amount of energy efficiency you think you can

achieve, the amount of wi nd, and the anount of gas

you need.

Q Sure. MWhat's installed conbined cycle gas
pl an - -

A. Costing nowadays?

Q Yeah.
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A Somewhere in the -- | think OTP assumes 8
to $900 per kw, and | think that's a pretty fair
number, maybe a thousand, sonmewhere in that range
for an overni ght cost.
Q And when you were tal king about backing up

by the system that's essentially buying off the

mar ket; is that correct?

A. Yes. | mean they -- right, that's
correct. Ei t her buying off the market or having a
contract.

Q Do you have an idea what typical spot

mar ket prices are right nowin the M SO?

A. No. That's why | think the kind of
anal ysis where you would conpare -- you know,
assunme everything's new is probably a better type
of analysis to try to do without a computer nodel.

Q You'd made a statement that under sone
model s that you had read, if you factored in new
carbon regul ati ons, that potentially natural gas
prices could decline because the -- there's |ess
demand on the resource. Wuld that also be true
for coal under those scenarios then, as well?

A | woul d expect, yes, that under CO2
regul ation, excluding CO2 cost, that the cost of

coal probably would go down if there's |ess being
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used.

Q But either way the delivered cost to the
consumer is going to be nmore under -- for either
commodity; is that right?

A Well, the -- not necessarily. The
delivered cost of the coal would depend on the --
all the factors that you were tal king about with

t he previous --

Q Right. And |I may have used the wrong word
when | said "delivered." The end cost to the
consumer for either commodity is -- under any

carbon regulation plan is going to be nore than it
is today; is that correct?

A. Not necessarily. | mean, not if -- |
don't know that the price of natural gas going to
heat my home is going to have a CO2 adder. | think
that the CO2 adder will be applied to certain
sectors of the econony.

Q But to the degree that carbon regul ation
enconpasses coal and coal for electric utilities,
doesn't that place pressure on natural gas -- |
mean, even if you didn't have a CO2 adder on your
residential home heating, it would still place
quite a bit of pressure on the commodity itself,

wouldn't it, as utilities nmove towards that?
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A What we see in the studies that have been
done by -- again, it's the Energy Information
Adm nistration, the DOE, the U.S. EPA, the Nationa
Gas Council, the researchers at MT and now at

Duke, we have a range of studies, and what they do

is they take -- they're basically focused on three
bills in Congress -- this Congress. The MCain
Li eber man greenhouse gas bill, Lieberman-Warner,

and Bi ngaman- Specter, and they put it in their
model and try to figure out -- these are the
reductions they want to achieve in CO2 em ssions --
what CO2 prices do they need in order to get those
reducti ons?

They then al so produce as output: \hat
natural gas prices do they predict under each of
their scenarios year by year? So we can take the
CO2 prices and the natural gas prices year by year
for each scenario, and what it shows is that for
many of the scenarios that when the CO2 prices get
hi gh enough, companies will not build natural gas.
They' Il turn away fromit. Because as you add a
CO2 price to the cost of generating power at a
fossil plant, gas or coal, it makes energy
efficiency and renewabl es more econom c.

Q Ri ght . But if that's the scenari o,
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woul dn't the same then be true for coal?

A. It is. That's what happens. It pushes
coal --

Q But the end cost to the consunmer in either
case is dramatically nore than it is now.

A. That's correct. ' m sorry. | didn't
under stand you. If that's what you're asking, yes.
When there is ultimtely federal regulation, the
price of electricity will cost nore. | don't think
there's any way around that. \Whether you assune
carbon capture and sequestration or sonme kind of
cap and trade, it will cost nore.

Now, what some of the bills talk about
doing -- | mean, it's not like -- it's not |ike
we're sending money to Saudi Arabia for oil. The
money would go into the Federal Government and then
be either fed back to people in ternms of a tax
decrease or in terms of some payment back to
rat epayers who are al so taxpayers. So it's not
i ke the money gets sucked out of the econony.

That's why when you read these studies
t hat show carbon regulation will cost the econony
800 billion dollars each year, they're assum ng
that this money is sucked out of the econony and

goi ng to Saudi Arabi a. It's not.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1258

Q Well, it's less efficient than the market,
t hough. | mean, it's still the government -- sort
of the same way that tax dollars are sucked out and
then some people view that as being reinvested,
isn't 1t?

A Ri ght . But here there's nmore direct --
here it's relying on the market to set the price.
It's just that when the government gets the
revenues from auctioning off the CO2 all owances,

t hey then have this pot of noney and the question

is what do they do with it.

Q It's a different definition of market than
| have.
A. Well, no, no. The price is set by the

mar ket pl ace.

Q But cap and trade, itself, is an
artificial invention to raise the price of
something that's free now by inmposing somet hi ng out
t here.

A Well, true. But | think -- | mean, |
think the difference is you' re opposing a cap on
t he amount. That if we did that for anything el se,
we' d probably end up in the same kind of situation,
So you're right.

COMM SSI ONER CLARK: That's all | have.
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Thanks.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Cramner.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q Well, 1'"d like to continue with a
clarification, and it's very possible that | just
wasn't understanding right, but with regard to the
cost of wind -- the capital costs of wi nd, and |
think M. Binek's question was -- he asked you what
were the capital costs per kilowatt-hour, and you
said $2,000 per kilowatt, and is that -- so am/|
under st andi ng t hat means $2, 000 per namepl ate

kil owatt capacity?

A. Ri ght .
Q What woul d be the cost then for the energy
per kilowatt-hour? And isn't that a nore -- isn't

that a more inportant number for me to consider?
A. Well, they're both important, but | didn't
understand the question when -- with all respect --

from M. Binek.

Q Well, it's possible I didn't --
A. As you've asked it now I think
under st and what he's tal king about. | woul d guess

t hat because you're assum ng the wi nd operates at a

45 percent capacity factor and that a coal plant
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woul d operate at 85 percent capacity factor, that
the wind capital cost per megawatt-hour is probably
hi gher than the coal plant capital cost per
megawat t - hour .

The reason | was confused is you usually
tal k about capital intensity in terms of dollars
per kilowatt. When you get to dollars per
megawatt - hour you have to factor in the cost of
fuel, the cost of variable O&MV, and things |ike
t hat . So when you talk dollars per megawatt-hour,
capital cost per megawatt-hour really doesn't --

it's meani ngl ess because wind has a zero energy

cost. You don't pay for the w nd.

Q Sur e. | under st and.

A. And coal or nuclear or gas has a fuel
cost.

Q You also -- along those sanme |ines you

t al ked about the fact that the newer technol ogies
being inplemented in the new turbines and other, |
guess, technologies related to wi nd devel opnment
were nore productive or nmore efficient, perhaps is
what you sai d. s it also true that as newer sites
for wind farms are di scovered and devel oped, that
those sites aren't as probably productive as the

first sites. ls that a fair statement?
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A. It's a fair question. | don't think the
answer i s necessarily -- the answer is -- |
woul dn't agree with that necessarily. | think that

the science of siting wind turbines is growi ng by
| eaps and bounds. That now the wi nd turbine
experts are tal king about the ability to actually
predict the wind, so that wind could bid into a
day- ahead market so that they do anal yses of
weat her conditions, | guess, hundreds of mles west
of here and that they would then be able to tell
what hours -- what's the wind -- the range of wi nd.

So | think that advances in how they
incorporate wind into the -- into the system and
advances in the physical -- the technol ogy of the
wind turbines tell me that it's |likely to be --
t hat wi nd turbine capacity factors will increase.
| ve seen nobody kind of reach the conclusion
you're suggesting, to be honest. | think everyone
assumes that the new wind will do better than the
old, and it's not a situation of the best sites are
t aken.

| think -- just to finish it, I think in
the last five to ten years the benefits of your
state, of South Dakota, and of Kansas as places to

put wi nd turbines has grown astronomcally --
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that's a bad metaphor -- meteorologically. So t hat
really now conpani es think about, well, let's build
a big wind farmin North Dakota, South Dakot a,
Kansas, and build a transm ssion |ine and take the
power into M nneapolis, Chicago, or to other areas.
So | think the best sites are far from taken.

Q Sur e. Okay. There's been a | ot of
di scussi on about greater dependency on coal in this
region. You had testified earlier in talking
about Entergy, | guess, down in Louisiana as having
a high dependency on natural gas, and |I'm not being
flippant when | ask this, but why would a Louisiana
utility be more dependent on natural gas than other
fuels for --

A Because it's right there.

Q Okay. That's what | thought. So is it
then -- well, then |l et me ask you this: I n your
analysis of the -- or conmparison of Big Stone Il to
wi nd/ gas, wi nd/gas, did you do any analysis of the
econom cs of a mne-mouth lignite plant in North
Dakot a?

A No.

Q Why not ?

A That just wasn't an alternative we | ooked

at . | know that MDU over the years had done -- |
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think it was MDU, it m ght be OTP -- over the years
has | ooked at some of those alternatives.

COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have not hing
further.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? Ms. La Seur, followup?
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR:

Q Following up initially on some of M.
Guerrero's questions, M. Schlissel, in your recent
coal plant consulting, what have some ot her
representative clients been that you didn't mention
in response to M. Guerrero's questions?

A. Yes. Basically in response to M.
Guerrero's direct questions, | |isted some of the
environment al groups for whom we've worked on coal
pl ant issues. My clients on coal plant issues also
included the Office of Consumer Advocate of the
State of lowa, the office of -- the Division of
Consumer Advocate of the West Virginia Public
Service Comm ssion.

Q Turni ng back to the Wall Street Journal
article that is at tab 41 in the black binders and
| think tab eight in some of them It's an exhibit

to, | think, the Klein testinmny referenced by M.
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Guerrero. Wuld you please turn to page three?

A | can't. You took my copy.

Q | took your copy. 11 give it back
And, M. Schlissel, would you please read into the
record the | ast paragraph -- |ast paragraph
begi nning on that page?

MR. BI NEK: What page?

MS. LA SEUR: It's page three of The WAl

Street Journal article we all | ooked at before
|l unch. lt's Exhibit --
THE W TNESS: Well, the context of this

paragraph is that not everyone agrees U.S. natural
gas prices are certain to rise. And then it cites
t he Chesapeake Chief Executive Aubrey, A-u-b-r-e-y,
K. McCl endon, M-c-C-1l-e-n-d-o0-n, sees production
continuing to grow holding U S. gas prices between
seven dollars to ten dollars per mllion Btus and
avoi ding the need to increase inports, and M chael
Stoppard, S-t-o-p-p-a-r-d, a senior director of
Energy Consultants Cera, predicts world -- sorry --
world LNG supply will grow by 30 percent in the
next two years making nore chilled gas avail able
for the U. S.

Q Thank you. Pl ease turn to page five of

your supplemental direct testimony. This is
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| ntervenor's Exhibit | 10 at page five, referencing
the lines that M. Guerrero asked about, 9 to 11.
When you referred to the nmodeling anal yses
presented by OTP and MDU as flawed and biased, to
what were you referring?

A. | was referring to the fact that the
company -- MDU and OTP, at |east ny understanding,
have presented two pieces of evidence to show that
there's need for new capacity. One is general data
from NERC, North American Electric Reliability
Cor poration, show ng capacity -- actual capacity
versus demand, the peak demands, and then the
second piece of evidence is a table of the need of
the current Big Stone Il applicants and the need
for each company from-- shown in that table,

believe, is drawn from their nodeling anal yses. So

that's what | meant in this sentence.
Q So it's the lack of external reference?
A. There's no other reference other than the
model i ng anal ysi s. lt's not even referenced, but

that's, to my know edge, the source of the nunbers.
| mean, let's assume OTP showed 150 megawatts. I
forget exactly what number they showed. That 150
megawatts would be the result of M. Morlock's

model i ng anal ysi s.
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Q As opposed to --

A. As opposed to an analysis of capacity
requi rements and needs that you can do independent
of mpdeling. You can | ook at what are our peak
| oads. Then you apply a reasonable reserve margin
and you get a total capacity required. You | ook at
what your actual capacity is expected to be and you
compare them and you figure out how much you need.
| ' ve seen those kinds of assessments all the time.

So what OTP and MDU do is they kind of mx
the econom cs and actual need, which is okay as
|l ong as you lay it out that way, but they don't.
It's not a strict need -- they don't -- there's no
need for 150 megawatts of basel oad other than
t hrough the nodeling analyses that we've critiqued.

Q Foll owi ng up on some of M. Binek's
guestions, why didn't you include | ow cost or free
all ocation of carbon allowances in your analysis?

A. When we devel oped our Synapse CO2 prices,
we assumed in the scenarios that there would be
sonme free allocation. So it's already embedded in
our prices -- our CO2 prices. To have then in our
anal yses have assumed again free allocation of sonme
all owances is basically double counting.

So that when we came up with the Synapse
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CO2 prices that | understand have been stricken, so
| won't mention them they reflect our belief that
there may -- that initially there will be some
all ocation of free allowances and that will decline
over time. | hope that's clear.

Q Returning to a question by M. Guerrero
about your other recent coal plant worKk. Have
ot her PSCs chosen to reject coal plants in favor of
i kely LNG or nucl ear options?

A. |'ve not seen it set off in terms of
ot her -- they haven't chosen between a coal plant
and anot her option. The instances in which I've
testified and the conm ssions have rejected
proposed coal plants, in Florida the conpany canme
in and had done a significant number of modeling
anal yses using the same Strategi st nodel that MDU
| ooks at, and they varied -- they changed three
significant variables, the capital -- estimted
capital cost of the plant, CO2 cost, and natural
gas prices.

So they came up with a matrix that had

t hese three changes, and the Comm ssion -- this is
their decision that they basically cut and pasted
fromny testinmony, was that based on this -- the

nunbers in this table, yes, there were sone
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scenari os where the plan was econom c, but you had
to assume high gas prices and | ow construction cost
and |l ow CO2 prices. That if you then went to other
scenarios with higher construction costs, |ower gas
prices, the plant was -- the proposed 2,000
megawatt plants were noneconom c, and that's what
the Florida decision was.

The Duke -- North Carolina Comm ssion in
the Duke Cliffside case ruled on the basis of need,;
t hat the company hadn't shown a need for one of the
two 800 nmegawatt units. And recently the Virginia
State Corporation Comm ssion rejected a proposed
pl ant by AEP, American Electric Power. The pl ant
woul d be built in West Virginia, had been certified
by the West Virginia Comm ssion, but | think it's
roughly half of AEP's -- the subsidiary's load is
in Virginia, so the Virginia Comm ssion has to
rule, as well.

The Virginia Comm ssion rejected the
proposed plant on the basis that the cost estimte
was too ol d. It was from Novenber of 2006. And
t hat the company had refused to -- had decided not
to provide a new cost estimate until after the
Virginia Comm ssion ruled, which made the Virginia

Conmm ssion very angry. So they rejected the
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proposed coal plant.
And a nunmber of other comm ssions around

the country have rejected proposed coal plants, as

well, as | discussed in nmy testinmony.
Q Do you consider any of these other
proposals conparable to the Big Stone ||l proposal?
A. Generally, sonme of them are a | ot |arger,

but some of them were pulverized coal plants. Yes.
| think they're conmparable.

Q Are you able to draw parallels between the
Fl orida proposal and Big Stone |17?

MR. GUERRERO: | guess |I'm going to object
on the basis the question is vague.

JUDGE WAHL: Overrul ed.

THE W TNESS: The Florida G ades proposal
was for two 980 megawatt coal plants -- pulverized
coal plants, so it was a | ot bigger than Big Stone
I, is one difference. Another difference, as I
menti oned a m nute ago, the company did a much nore
vi gorous set of analyses of how -- what the
econom cs were, the plant conpared to actually
natural gas alternatives, under different
assunptions as to capital cost increases, CO2
costs, and natural gas prices than has been done in

this case by either OTP or NDU.
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Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUING) WM. Guerrero
asked about carbon capture and storage and the
timeline on which it m ght be avail abl e. Do you
believe that it's reasonable to suggest that CCS
wi Il be avail able economcally within the
foreseeabl e future?

A Well, it -- | knowit's not polite to

di sagree on redirect, but it depends on how you

define "foreseeable future.” | don't think that
it's realistic to expect that CCS will be avail able
for a new power plant before Big Stone Il would be

compl eted, before 2015, 2020, which nmeans it's
likely to have to be retrofitted, which is believed
to be more expensive than adding it on fromthe
begi nni ng.

Q And how much nore expensive do you expect
retrofitting to be than the currently proposed CCS
technol ogy?

A The estimates that |'ve seen about CCS at
new plants range fromthe MT future of coal study
of roughly $40 per ton to a study by Black & Veatch
of roughly $71 per |long ton, European/English ton,
which is about probably $65 per U S. short ton to
about $68 per U.S. ton from NETL, National Energy

Technol ogy Lab. That's for a new pl an. The
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estimates |'ve seen for retrofit are sonething, |
t hi nk, 10, 20 percent higher.

Q And why didn't you consider scenari os
wi t hout the production tax credit?

A. This specifically applies to M. Greig's
| evel i zed anal ysi s. He was preparing what would be
built in place of Big Stone Il -- would go into
service when Big Stone Il would go into service.

| f you assume that the wi nd production tax
credit would extend past 2013, as OTP does
specifically, then it would be in effect when Big
Stone Il went into service. So that the wi nd that
went into service in place of Big Stone Il would
have the benefit of the wi nd production tax credit.
So it's entirely consistent to assume

along with -- |I'"msorry. Let me start again. | f
you accept that OTP is right and that it's
reasonable to believe the wind production tax
credit will be in effect through 2013 and that Big
Stone Il would go -- be built and go into service
before then, then your analysis should include that
wi nd would go into service before 2013 and woul d be
eligible for the production tax credit. That's why
| didit.

Q |'d Ilike to hand M. Schli sse
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| ntervenor's Exhibit 17, the NERC 2007 |ong-term
reliability assessments.

A Is that in the --

Q It's a new exhibit. |'d Iike to direct
you to page 65 of that portion of NERC excerpts. I
refer you to page 65. It's a set of excerpts, so
it's not in direct numerical order, and there is a
guotation fromthe Federal Energy Regul atory
Comm ssi on about hal fway down the page. Wuld you
pl ease read that into the record?

A. The FERC - -

MR. GUERREROC: ' m going to object. This
has already been read into the record yesterday.

MS. LA SEUR: Il will clarify that 1I'm
responding to a question asked by Conm ssi oner
Wefald and offering evidence that may be responsive
to something she's just asked M. Schlissel.

MR. GUERREROC: ' mjust kind of wondering
if she could just ask the question as opposed to --

JUDGE WAHL: Well, | agree, but let's do

COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD: \What page are we on?
MS. LA SEUR: Just so we all know what
we're tal king about. | could just as soon make the

reference.
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Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) ' m just
interested in the italicized quotation fromthe
FERC, just so we all know what we're talking about.

A "The potential immediate reduction in peak
electric demand that could be achieved from
exi sting demand resources is between three and
seven percent of peak demand in most regions.”

Q And my question is whether or not this
information fromthe reliability assessnment is
responsive to Comm ssioner Wefald' s question
regardi ng what can be achi eved by DSM

MR. GUERRERO:. Well, | guess facts
speak -- 1'"m going to object. Facts speak for
themsel ves. We don't know whether this is
responsive to Comm ssioner Wefald's testimny or
not . She'll be the decider of that.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. The objection is
sust ai ned. Rephrase your question, please.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) M. Schlissel --
oh, now |I'm doing it.

JUDGE WAHL: You know, let's go. Let me
just change that. This is not -- this is not worth
argui ng about. Respond to the question, please,

M. Schlissel, as it was stated.

THE W TNESS: Yes. | believe that
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demand -- this quote about demand response, as well
as the description of demand response that's given
two paragraphs earlier, is information that | would
beli eve would be responsive to her question.

Agai n, she does have to decide whether it is, but
it's what | think is responsive.

MS. LA SEUR: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero, followup?

MR. GUERREROC: Yes. Just a couple of
guestions, Your Honor. "Il try to be brief.

RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Just on this question, conservation and
the quote from the NERC assessnment, three to seven
percent. You weren't Synapse's expert witness on
conservation issues |ast January before the
M nnesota Public Utilities Conm ssion, were you?

A. That's correct. Bob Fagan testified on
t hose issues.

Q Do you know what Bob Fagan testified to in
terms of what he thought the penetration |evel

could be in M nnesota?

A. Penetration | evel for what?
Q Energy conservati on.
A. Well, this is -- demand resource is
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different than energy efficiency. This is in
addition to energy efficiency. Demand resources
are basically getting customers to be able to
change their energy usage either in response to
incentive payments or cost.

Q Okay. Fair enough. Do you know what M.
Fagan's proposal was in M nnesota with respect to
kil owatt-hours?

A Well, it was -- | don't remember the exact
number, but nmy recollection is that he was talking
about how much energy efficiency could be achieved.
You'd have to refresh me with regards to the
speci fic nunber.

Q | can't remenber specifically what it was
in reference to, but you -- earlier you criticized
M. Greig's testimony in not giving a capacity
credit for wind; do you recall that testimony?

A. That's correct.

Q And in M. -- do you recall reading M.

Greig's rebuttal testimny that was filed April

23rd?
A. | went through it quickly.
Q Okay. How woul d you assign a -- give

capacity credit to wi nd?

A. As we did in South Dakota, we woul d
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assume -- and as | discussed before -- | don't know
whet her it was you or M. Binek -- | would
assume -- |'d take a conservation value --

Q Conservation value of what? |'m sorry?

A A conservative percentage, a 15, 20
percent capacity credit. You assume that if you
build 100 nmegawatts of wi nd, that -- that gets 20

megawatt credit towards nmeeting peak demand, so
t hen --

Q But my question is: Do you know how - -
under what circunmstance would an organi zation |ike
the M dconti nent Area Power Pool or M dwest
Reliability Organization actually assign credit to
wi nd?

A Oh, they have a set of rules whereby they
| ook at -- | think it's the peak -- it's certain
hours around the peak |oad over a certain number of
mont hs, is my recollection of how it was done. So
first they'll project it for a year or a couple of
years, and then based on actual plant output they
will then nodify that.

Q Well, isn't it true that you'd actually
have to assign firmtransm ssion to the wi nd?

A. Sur e.

Q Yeah. And in your analysis did you ever
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assign firmtransm ssion to the cost of your w nd

proposal s?

A. No. We didn't do -- there's no "our
analysis." W responded to M. Greig.
Q Have you ever evaluated the cost of the

wi nd option assigning a firmtransm ssion
capability to that option?

A. Yes. | believe in one of the pieces of
testi nony we did. Maybe it was South Dakota we did
| ook at that.

Q But not here?

A. In North Dakota, no, because, again, we
were just responding to M. Greig, and we did not
make an adjustnment in the numbers that | guess have
now been stricken.

Q There's been some di scussion about natural
gas prices and what may happen to that, and | think
that the -- probably the best answer was that it's
very conplicated in |ight of future CO2 regul ation,
but you've nmentioned a couple of times that you
paid a great deal of attention to studies performed
by EI A, Department of Energy. Were there others?

A EPA, National Gas Council, M T and Duke.

Q Wth respect to the EIA, we tal ked about

it in Mnnesota, about some of the assunptions that
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wer e behind some of those studies that would seem
to conclude that natural gas prices aren't going to
increase in light of federal CO2 regul ation?

A That's right. Your cross convinced nme
t hat some of the scenarios were unrealistic because
they had wildly inflated esti mtes of how nuch new
nucl ear power woul d be added or new bi omass woul d
be added, and so we went back and we | ooked at
scenarios in which the ampbunts of new nucl ear
capacity and biomass were far more constrai ned and
saw that even in those scenarios there's not a
maj or inmpact in the near term Over time it may
get up to 10, 15 percent increase in natural gas
prices, but there wasn't much of a major inmpact in
the short-term

Q Some of those studies included |ike
300, 000 megawatts of new coal with carbon capture
sequestration by 2030; is that --

A. Ri ght. And we talked -- your cross, to
give you credit, taught ne that, yes, it's
i mportant to focus on scenarios that don't have
such wildly inflated esti mtes of new capacity
t hat' s added. But even if you | ook at other
studi es, other than the EIA, which don't make those

same wild assunmptions, they also don't show much of
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an increase, if at all, in natural gas prices, but
then again, it is conplicated.

Q | didn't understand the question -- or
excuse me, your response to Ms. La Seur's question
about the no-cost allowances, and | think you said
sonmething |ike we included the fact that there may
be no-cost all owances in our original allowance
price guessti mates. Can you go through that again
for me briefly?

A. Well, | wouldn't call it guessti mates. I n
our forecast of future prices we reduced them from
what they m ght otherw se have been assum ng t hat
sonme were allocated freely. Okay. Are you with
me?

Q Yeah, | think. Go ahead.

A Then if we had to -- | nmean, if we assumed
that there was no free allocation, the price would
have been higher. The average price per ton of CO2
woul d have been higher, because when there is free
al l ocation, you're averaging -- some you're paying
for and some you're getting free, so that the
average price -- no matter what proportion you
have, the average price is going to be |ower.

Q Your testimny in M nnesota, was it not,

M. Schlissel, that under no circumstance woul d
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Congress ever allocate any no-cost allowances to a
unit like Big Stone I1? Wsn't that your
testinony?

A Correct. But it could have been free
allocation -- or there still could be to existing
power plants. So that free allocation comes into
t he equation even if existing plants are not

gr andf at her ed.

Q And so you're -- excuse ne.
A. So that our nunmbers -- if you remember the
figure with all the -- the colored triangles and

squares and circles that drove M. Gl aser nuts or
he had difficulty with because he's colorblind, the
Synapse forecast could have and woul d have been
hi gher if we had assumed no free allocation. I
hope that's cl ear.

MR. GUERRERO: One m nute, Your Honor.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) You keep
referring to the fact that Otter Tail has made a
prediction that the PTC will be extended through
the end of 2013. Do you know whet her that's a
prediction or whether that's just a planning
assunption?

A |'"m sure it's a planning assunption.

Q Okay. So it's not a corporate prediction.
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A | don't know that | used the word
"prediction.” | meant it's a planning assunmption,
but | assunme that their planning assumptions woul d
reflect what they expect is going to happen or
coul d happen.

Q In the event that we have a situation
where we've cancel ed coal plants and utilities and
their customers are forced to go to alternatives,
including | arge amounts of natural gas, and in the
event that some predictions indicate that natural
gas is going to continue to increase, who's going
to bear that risk, M. Schlissel?

A | assunme ratepayers bear that risk.

Q So what we're tal king about here obviously
is a great deal of how do we allocate risk fairly,
prudently.

A. Sure, yes.

Q There are risks across the spectrum

A. How do we study and consider risk and how
are they all ocated. Yes.

MR. GUERREROC: | don't have anything
further at the moment, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. BI NEK: Just one nmore question on

these free all ocation issues.
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THE W TNESS: Okay.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:

Q When you tal ked about free allocations
being included in your analysis or your study, what
| evel of free allocations were included?

A. We didn't have a specific number.

Q So how do you figure themin if there
isn't any specific nunmber?

A. It was just our judgnment that we reduce
prices by roughly 10, 20 percent from what they
woul d have been otherwise if there had been no
al l ocati on.

Q Okay. Thank you

A The alternative would have been to assune
no free allocation and use higher CO2 prices, which
probably woul d have gotten us back to the same
pl ace.

MR. Bl NEK: | have no further questions.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Not hi ng further.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero?
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MR. GUERRERO: No, thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: That's it. Thank you very
much, M. Schlissel

THE W TNESS: Thank you very much.

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | do have one
guestion, but it's for Ms. La Seur just to tell me
what document she was referring to on page 65,
because | found page 65, but | never found --

MS. LA SEUR: It's Intervenor's Exhibit
17, the NERC reliability.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: It's the NERC
report. Okay. Thank you. | have it. | have it.

MR. KUNTZ: Can we have five m nutes?

JUDGE WAHL: We'|ll be in recess for five
m nut es.

(Recess taken.)

JUDGE WAHL: We can proceed, | think, M.
Kuntz, when you're ready.

MR. KUNTZ: Thank you. Mont ana- Dakot a
calls Andrea Stomberg.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. Stonberg, | do recal
your previous appearance for the prior hearings in
this matter, and | have personal know edge, of
course, that you have been advised and are informed

concerning perjury. Accordingly, you understand,
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of course, that your testimony continues under oath
and subject to the penalties of perjury.

MS. STOMBERG. | do.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.
ANDREA STOMBERG,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified further as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q Pl ease state your name?

A. Andrea Stonberg.

Q And whom are you enpl oyed by?

A. Mont ana- Dakota Utilities Company.

Q What's your position with Montana-Dakota?
A. Vice president of electric supply.

Q Could you tell the Comm ssion briefly what

your responsibilities are in that position?

A. Certainly. | oversee power production,
transm ssion communi cati ons.

Q And you prepared -- you testified in this

proceeding earlier at the previous hearing; is that

correct?
A. | did.
Q And have you caused to be prepared

prefiled supplemental testinmny and prefiled
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rebuttal testinony?

A. | have.
Q "' m showi ng you what's been marked as
Exhi bit MDU 213. Is that a copy of your

suppl emental prefiled direct testimny?

A It is.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
make to that testinony?

A | do. On page seven, if | can find it,
line 13, | realized as | reviewed this |ast night
t hat some of these percentages were incorrect, and
| thought we should take this opportunity to
correct those. They're m nor changes, but |ine 13,
72 percent coal. | think it was 77. 72 percent.
Line 14, 24 percent dual fuel turbines, and under 4
percent wi nd.

Q. Four, f-o-u-r?

A. F-o-u-r, four. So 72, 24 and 4. | think
t hat should add up, | hope. And then on line 17
t hen, we would need to change the 82 percent to 78
percent, and that would complete ny fewlittle
changes.

Q To Exhibit 213. What about to 216? Do
you have any changes or corrections to that

exhi bit?




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1286
Not that | noted.

Q And if | were to ask you the questions
that are set out in Exhibits 213 and 216, would
your answers be the same with those corrections?

A They woul d.

MR. KUNTZ: We would offer Exhibits 213
and 216.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Yes. No obj ecti on.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. BI NEK: No objection

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bits MDU 213 and 216 are
each received.

Q (MR. KUNTZ CONTI NUI NG) Ms. Stonberg, also
in front you, | believe, is 213A. s that a
summary of your testinmony?

A It is.

Q At this point could you go through and
provi de the Conmm ssion a summary of your

suppl enmental direct and rebuttal testinmony?

A. Sure. As a result of the change in the
size of the Big Stone Il Plant -- proposed Big
Stone Il Plant and a number of other significant

changes, Mont ana- Dakota updated a resource planning

analysis, and in this update we reaffirmed our | oad
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forecast, our |level of participation in the
proposed plant, plant costs, as well as assunptions
about the market and other generation alternatives.

Thi s anal yses supported ownership of
approximately 130 megawatts of a 500 megawatt Big
Stone Il Plant on line in 2013. Thi s plant would
all ow Mont ana- Dakota significant econom es of scale
and efficiencies related to |ocation and boiler
design, as well as participation with partners
experienced in plant design and operation.

I n our analysis we did not adjust the
model ed natural gas price to account for |ikely
increases in the cost of natural gas with future
carbon regul ati ons. Mont ana- Dakota continues to
agree to the conditions recommended by the
Comm ssion expert, M. Deason, and is willing to
update the Comm ssion with regard to new cost
estimates that the plant participants will obtain
prior to financial close.

In response to concerns of M. Schlissel
on behalf of the intervening parties,
Mont ana- Dakota believes that Big Stone Il is cost
effective even with reasonable estimtes of future
carbon regul ati ons.

Mont ana- Dakota considers that Big Stone |1
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is a stepping stone to our future, providing better
fuel efficiency and | ower carbon di oxide em ssions
t han our existing fleet, allowing us to reduce the
em ssions from our existing plant and provides a
good | ocation for future carbon capture.

Mont ana- Dakota's anal ysis of the project
uses reasonabl e assunpti ons. Model i ng by PA
Consultants indicates Big Stone Il is a |less costly
alternative than gas/wi nd, and Mont ana- Dakot a
believes that Big Stone Il is a prudent supply
source for our custonmers.

Q Does that conplete your summary?
A. It does.

MR. KUNTZ: We would offer Exhibit 213A

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: Good afternoon, Ms.

St omber g.

JUDGE WAHL: No, no, no, no. Your
response to Exhibit 213A.

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: Exhi bit 213A is received.

MR. KUNTZ: We would offer Ms. Stonberg

for cross-exam nati on.
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JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: Yes.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

LA SEUR:

Good afternoon, Ms. Stonberg.
Good afternoon.

Woul d you please turn to page five of your

suppl emental testinony?

A.
Q
A.

Q

Suppl emental prefiled direct?
That's right.
March 10, page five. | "' m there.

Wth regard to your discussion of risk

assessnment and also the discussion at page seven of

t he decision not to performa quantitative analysis

of CO2 costs, are you concerned about the risk of

future carbon regulation over the life of Big Stone

e

A

|'mcertainly aware of the inmpacts carbon

regul ation could have on our entire fleet.

Q
A

But are you concerned?

Well, |I'"m concerned of about any costs

t hat could inpact our plans. Yes.

Q

And at page seven the decision not to

performa quantitative analysis of CO2 costs, if

MDU wer e not prohibited by state |law from
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consi dering quantified costs of environment al
regul ation that may happen in the future in its
resource selection process, would MDU have
performed a quantitative analysis of a range of CO2
costs?

A. Well, | don't want to get into any sort of
| egal analysis, but it seenms to nme that our conpany
can performinternal analyses that we don't
necessarily provide to the Conmm ssion for their use
in determning the validity of an integrated
resource plan. So certainly we have consi dered
what we m ght think of as reasonabl e carbon costs.

Q But had you not been barred in this
jurisdiction, would this have been part of your
nor mal anal ysi s?

A That we' ve presented -- certainly we try
to be as conplete as possi ble when we present data

to the comm ssi ons.

Q s that a yes?
A. Sure. That's a yes.
Q As someone whose job is to do risk

assessnment, do you believe that North Dakota's
environmental externality statute limts your
ability to present this Comm ssion with a thorough

risk assessnment for proposed generation projects?
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A. | think that the statute prohibits us from
presenting certain analysis to the Comm ssion for
their consideration, but | think that our analysis
is compl ete and adequate.

Q Since North Dakota | aw has barred MDU from
performng this risk assessnment, is it MDU s
position that North Dakota ratepayers should
shoul der the risk associated with potential carbon
regul ation?

A. Your question is should the ratepayers
shoul der the risk of carbon regul ation?

Q Ri ght .

A. Our customers. Yes. Our customers are

subject to the costs that we are subject to.

Q And at page six there's reference to
modeling -- reference to the recent change in
mercury regulations, at line 22 at the bottom of

t he page. What kind of modeling input changes, if
any, did MDU make in response to the recent change
in mercury regulations?

A. We didn't -- to my know edge, M. Hei del
did not make any changes specific to the mercury
regul ati ons.

Q Do you recall testifying in the hearing in

the matter |ast year that until problems with
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sul fur di oxi de exceedances in the south unit of
Theodore Roosevelt National Park are resolved, it
woul d be inpossible to site a power plant in the
coal regions of North Dakota?

A. | don't recall saying that exactly, but |
believe that to be the case. It would be very
difficult to site a coal plant in the coalfields of
Nort h Dakot a.

Q But woul d you accept, subject to check,

t hat that was your testinmony |ast year?

A Subj ect to check, sure.

Q And is this still your testinmny?

A. | do not believe that all of the SO2
i ssues have been conpletely resol ved. | do not
know for certain the status. If the SO2 increnment
issues with regard to the south unit or north unit
of Teddy Roosevelt have not been resolved in the
state, | think it would be very difficult to permt
a coal-fired plant in what we consider the coa
fields of North Dakota, which in my mnd is the
Beul ah ar ea.

Q The -- okay. Let's see. Does the -- does
the increment issue in North Dakota bear on the
decision to choose -- to make the -- bear on the

decision to site a power plant in South Dakota
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rat her than North Dakota?

A. No. That wasn't -- that wasn't a
significant factor in this decision for us.

Q Wth -- and this is going back to page
seven with regard to your testinony that Big Stone
Il will increase MDU s dependence on coal, and are
t hese nunbers still correct after the changes you
made, 77 to 82 percent of installed generation

capacity?

A 82 changed to 78 percent. Let me make
sure -- which Iine are you tal king about? Line 177
Once Big Stone Il is constructed and retaining al

of our existing generation, the percentage of coal

generation in our m x would increase to 78 percent.

Q The m x increases -- so now from 72 to 78
percent ?
A ' m sorry. M ne says -- are we on line 13

or are we on line 17?7
Q Well, I think we're on both because |I'm

aski ng about --

A. Okay. Oh, I'm sorry. Now | ' m tracking
with you. l'"'m a sl ow study. 72 to 78, correct.
Q Okay. And in recommending this six

percent increase in coal dependence in MDU s

installed generation capacity, is fuel diversity a
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factor in your risk assessnment?
A. Fuel diversity is a good thing, so, yes.
Q And how did fuel diversity and concern for
fuel diversity factor in your decision to increase

dependence on coal ?

A. Well, there's a couple ways you can | ook
at it. There can be fuel diversity within a solid
fuel . So we have fuel diversity with regard to a

subbi tum nous resource that we'd be using in one
unit versus a lignite potential.

The other thing that's, | think, key to
this is the statement about retaining current
gener ati on. Our existing fleet is an old fleet of
our -- of the generation that we own and run. It's
an old fleet, and we have to take a broad picture
and | ook at what we're running now and what our
future mght look like in terms of ultimately how
we move the m x of resources in our fleet.

Q But doesn't any new generation add a new
generation unit to what is an ol der generation
fleet?

A Yeah. Unl ess you retire one.

Q Okay. Does MDU intend to conply with the
Nort h Dakota renewabl e energy objective?

A. Mont ana- Dakota certainly is aware of the
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interest in wind in our service area. W also are
aware of the concern of our customers with regard
to cost, and we'd be | ooking at cost-effective ways
to meet the REOG.

Q So is that a yes, there is an intent to

meet the objective?

A. There is an intent to | ook at neeting it
in a cost-effective manner. Yes. If I had to go
out and buy wind at a higher cost, | would have to
think very hard about doing that -- higher cost

t han a substitute generation.

Q Does the objective place an additional
wei ght on the scal es between wi nd or renewabl es and
ot her forms of generation for MDU?

A. "' m not sure | understand your questi on.

Q As between two generation sources that
woul d ot herwi se have been wei ghed on a pure cost-
effectiveness basis, does the objective provide any
additional nmotivation for MDU to choose renewabl es

over non-renewabl es?

A. It would be some part of additional
motivation, |I'm sure.
Q Are you able to say anything about the

wei ght of the objective in the decisionmaking

process?




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1296

A. No. | couldn't quantify that.

Q What amount of additional renewable and
recycled energy would be necessary on MDU s system
to conply with this objective at a utility |evel?

A Well, if we were starting from zero, about
60 megawatts of some sort of renewable to meet that
ten percent of energy sold at retail, which is
t hi nk what the REO calls for.

Q There are a few questions that |'ve
al ready asked M. Uggerud that 1'd |like to ask you
about, as well. Wuld you agree that this
Comm ssion should have the most current, nost
up-to-date information about the Big Stone |1
project when it makes its decision in this

proceedi ng?

A. The most up-to-date as possible, yes, |
agr ee.

Q Is it fair to say that MDU has confidence
in the Big Stone Il capital cost estimte presented

in this proceeding?

A We understand that it's an estimte, but
we have confidence in it.

Q And woul d you agree that MDU has
confidence in the evidence in the rebuttal

testinony presented by M. Rolfes in this
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proceedi ng regarding capital costs?

A Yes.
Q s MDU willing to commt to limt its rate
recovery fromthe Big Stone Il project to its share

of the current project capital cost estimte?

A No.

Q Is MDU willing to agree to limt its rate
recovery to any set percentage increase above the
current cost estimte?

A No.

Q Is MDU willing to agree to limt its rate

recovery with regard to any carbon costs that may

attach to Big Stone Il generation in the future?
A. No.
Q If this Comm ssion makes a finding of

prudence and financing turns out to be nore
expensive than anticipated, who will bear that
cost? MDU sharehol ders or ratepayers?

A The ratepayers, the people that use the
energy.

Q And isn't this yet another blank check
that you're asking this Comm ssion to write on
behal f of ratepayers?

MR. KUNTZ: Obj ection. Argumentative.

JUDGE WAHL: Sust ai ned.
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Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Turning to your
rebuttal at page seven, it's the second to the | ast
page, and you make reference at the top of the
page, lines one, two, three, to the Diamond W I I ow
pl ant and overall reduction in company carbon

em ssions of approxi mately eight percent.

A. Mm- hmm
Q How do you cal cul ate your estimate that
Big Stone Il along with Diamond W Ilow will reduce

company carbon em ssions by eight percent?

A That was a modeled -- a ProSI M nodel,
whi ch | ooks at the dispatch of our plants based on
fuel cost and variable cost and di spatches them

effectively.

Q s that part of the record?

A No, | do not believe it's part of the
record.

Q Di amond W Il ow represents | ess than one

percent of electrical generation on the MDU system
is that right?

A About four percent of our installed
capacity.

Q Four percent. Okay.

A Of our installed capacity.

Q From which |less efficient plants do you
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anticipate that MDU will be able to displace
generation when Big Stone Il goes on |line?
A Well, again, that's a conplicated answer,

but typically Diamond WIllow is a price taker.
When it's generating, it is sold into the market or
is used to meet our load, as it were. After that
our dispatch order is -- you know, Coyote and Big
Stone, of course, are our |owest cost basel oad
units followed by Lewis & Clark and the Heskett
units, and absent the use of any kind of peaking or
gas, it would likely be our Heskett Unit |, which
is our |east efficient unit.

Q Do you currently use market purchases as
part of your overall generating capacity?

A Yes.

Q Woul d sonme of those be displaced by Big
Stone |17

A. Absol utely. That's one reason we need to
build the plant.

Q | f your forecasts are correct and there is
| oad growth such that your reserve margins wil
di sappear by 2015, won't it be inmpossible to
di spl ace any generation |ess efficient or not?

A. Did I say that our reserve margins wil

di sappear by 2015? |I'm sorry? Who's reserve




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1300
margins will disappear by 2015?

Q Well, what is your testimony then with
regard to reserve margins? WII| there be
sufficient reserve margi ns by 2015?

A For our particular --

Q For MDU, yes.

A. For MDU? Well, we make sure we will have
our reserve margins. That's the way we do
busi ness. We will have our reserve margins for our
| oad.

Q Wt hout the addition of Big Stone Il will
there be sufficient --

A We woul d have to continue to buy it.

Wt hout Big Stone Il we would buy it, we would
build a combustion turbine, we would get it because
that's our obligation.

Q And so your testimony that Big Stone |1
woul d di spl ace generation refers to current market
purchases?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Referring to your rebuttal
testinony at page five and the reference to the
anticipated financial close in first quarter of
2009, lines 19 and 20, will a prudency

determ nation fromthis Comm ssion prior to the
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financial close affect the outcome of MU s
deci si on about whether to proceed with
construction?

A Yes.

Q So you are in effect asking the Comm ssion
at this point to commt ratepayers to this
i nvestment that MDU, itself, is not yet willing to
commt to?

A Well, we are commtted to developing this
resource, but we -- if we can get Conmm ssion
assurances that this is a prudent decision, it wil
i mpact our ability to -- it should inmprove our
financing, it gives certainly our shareholders much

more confidence in our ability to recover this, and

"' mnot sure if |1've answered your question. Maybe
you would want to restate it if | haven't.
Q Well, nmy question is: If MDU and OTP are

waiting on the Conmm ssion's conmm tment of --
comm tment to rate recovery to make its own
comm tment to contracting for this plant, aren't

rat epayers being asked to buy in before MDU

sharehol ders are willing to?
A Well, we won't make a final decision unti
financial close. And maybe I'm just -- |I'm not

sure I'mtracking with your question here. We will
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have a financial close after we have updated
esti mat es.

MS. LA SEUR: | think you' ve answered the
guestion. Thank you. Not hi ng further.
JUDGE WAHL: " m sorry? Nothing further?
MS. LA SEUR: Not hi ng further.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q I n your rebuttal testinmony you respond to
M. Deason's request for clarification regarding
t he potential natural gas price inpacts as a result
of CO2 regulation, and in your response you state
t hat you believe that enactnment of CO2 or
greenhouse gas em ssion regulation will increase
the use of and demand for natural gas and wil
i ncrease the price of natural gas, but you say that
rat her than specul ate as to the magnitude of the
i mpact, MDU did not reflect such inmpacts in its
natural gas price forecast.
Does that mean that MDU s natural gas
price forecasts are likely on the | ow side?
A. | believe they're on the |ow side, yes.

Conservative, as it were.
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Q Well, |I'"mavoiding the use of the word
"conservative."

A. | noticed that.

Q M. Schlissel is very critical of the cost
projections and risks associated with Big Stone I1.
Do you believe that MDU s cost estimates are
accurate based on the information that's currently
avai l abl e?

A | do. Well, | do, but |I also see the need
to refresh those quotes before financial close,
whi ch we have commtted to do.

Q Okay. And those were some followups that
| had here. And that the final decision on Big
Stone |1, when will that be made by MDU and the
ot her participants?

A The final decision will be made at the
time of financial close, which right now we
anticipate to be sometime the first quarter -- |
have it in here -- yeah, first quarter of '09,
probably February of '09 based on currents.

Q Okay. And if | understand right, there
wi Il be updated cost estimates and projections that
will be evaluated at that time?

A. Absol utely.

Q I n your supplemental direct testimony you
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state that MDU intends to expand the Diamond W I | ow
wi nd project fromthe current size of ten megawatts
by at | east another ten megawatts. \What's the --
what is the maxi mum expansi on that MDU woul d
consider for the Dianond W I | ow project?

A. Well, the additional ten megawatts wil
allow us to comply with the Montana renewabl e
portfolio standard. | believe our transm ssion --
or reservation out of that site is for 30
megawatts, so we'd have to go back into the M SO
queue for additional megawatts at that | ocati on,
and | don't know if we have anything el se under
| ease there; not to say that we couldn't do both of
t hose things.

Q How | ong has Di amond W I | ow been
operating?

A Since the first of the year.

Q Do you know what the average capacity
factor for that facility has been?

A. About 38 percent.

MR. Bl NEK: Okay. | have no further
guestions. Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Questions by the Comm ssion?

Comm ssi oner Wefal d.
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EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q | want to go back to page five of your
testi nony. Let's see. Well, the financial close.
Let's just talk a little bit nore about that.

A Whi ch - -

Q That's on the bottom of page five of your
rebuttal testinony.

A. Thank you

Q WIIl the final decision on plant
construction -- is it only MDU that that's going to

be the time of financial close, the first quarter

of 20097

A

No. All the participants will make the

final decision at that time.

Q

Okay. And by that time you'll have

recei ved updated bids and you'll have approached

financial institutions about bonding and financi al

costs?
A.

bags of

A.
when we

can - -

It's antici pated everyone will bring big
money to the table.

It'll be interesting to see what happens.
Yes, it wll. But, yeah, that is the tinme
all have to |l ook at each other and say, |

| can finance this, can you? Everybody has
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to say | can finance my part of this plant, is at
financial close. W need to have the costs and
understand and believe in the financing mechani sns
of all the partners -- participants.

Q What risk -- what would prevent the
company from saying let's go ahead at that time if
you know that all of the risk is going to ship to
t he ratepayers?

A. Well, we're certainly not guaranteed
compl ete rate recovery. We have to conme to our
comm ssions and ask for -- for reasonable cost in
rates, and if you find that our costs -- we weren't
able to control the costs of that plant in a
reasonabl e manner, | assunme the Comm ssion has the
right and the obligation to say you can't recover.
So we would assunme that if we move forward with
t hat plant on the basis of capital costs which we
beli eve are prudent and real and we construct the
plant -- and there will be a nunber of people
watching Otter Tail very closely to make sure this
plant is constructed well -- |1 would expect that it
woul d be reasonably straightforward to come to the
Comm ssion and try to make that show ng, that we
woul d expect to have rate recovery on what we woul d

have consi dered to have been prudently incurred
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costs.

Q Yesterday | mentioned about a plant in
II'linois that was a nuclear plant that the risk
shifted to sharehol ders partway through because of
overruns of costs. So is that still a risk for MDU
in this particular case?

A Well, | suppose there's always a risk if
somet hing conmpl etely unforeseen happens, and agai n,
one of the -- to me the really great things about
Big Stone Il is we have five different entities

with a combi ned huge amount of construction

experience and power plant experience that will be
working with Otter Tail in the construction of this
plant. To me that mtigates that risk. So you've

got an awful | ot of smart people working with Otter
Tail to try to make sure this is done as
efficiently as possible. lt's not to say somet hing

coul dn't happen.

Q That is a big concern of mne, just on the
record.
A. Well, it's a concern. You know, it's

al ways the concern that you can't conpletely
control your destiny.
Q On page seven, Our estimtes are -- |ine

one, Our estimates are that Big Stone Il, along
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with the existing Diamond W Il ow wi nd plant, will
al | ow Mont ana- Dakota to di splace generation from
its least efficient coal plants, resulting in an
overall reduction of carbon -- conpany carbon
em ssions of approxi mtely eight percent.

But anot her place in your testimny, which
| couldn't find just now, it said that you're
pl anning to sell the extra power that you have at
the first part -- once the project is built for the
first few years onto the M SO mar ket . So which is
correct? MWhich is correct?

A Well - -

Q One is that you're going to be selling the
extra power onto the M SO market -- that's in one
part of your testinony -- and another is that you
woul d be shutting down | east efficient coal plants
and so then your company would need all of that
power . So which is the correct statement here?

A. Both are correct.

Q Why? How can that be?

A Sur e. And | didn't say shutting down.
sai d di splaced generation from

Q So what does that nmean if it's not
shutting down?

A. Wthin a ProSIMrun, which we use in our
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forecasting, you dispatch your plants econom cally
to meet your own |load, and this is the problem we
have now in the M SO market -- we're certainly part
of the M SO market -- and M SO directs the dispatch
of our plants --

Q | understand that.

A -- based on their needs. W still are
responsi ble for making sure that our system --

Mont ana- Dakota's i ntegrated system has adequate
generation. Our ProSIMrun allows us to dispatch
our plants for our |load, and in that model ed
scenario it shows that the energy from Di anond
WIllow allows us to back down Heskett Unit 1. So
wi thin that nodel ed scenario for our system Di anond
W Il ow di splaces some of the generation.

Q | understand that Di amond W I I ow does
because it has no energy cost, | mean, as far as --
it has no costs as far as --

A Well, it still has some variable costs,
but nonet hel ess - -

Q But it's very, very low, very |low, so
t hose are always the first choice resources on the
mar ket ?

A. Sure. They're price takers. Ri ght .

Absol utely.
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Q But -- but Big Stone Il could have a
hi gher cost than some of your ol der plants.

A. Oh, it's not -- we don't expect that it
will.

Q But it does. | mean, you're telling us
it's eight-and-a-half cents?

A. Sur e. Fuel cost it wll. It will.

Q And your other plants are producing at,
|l et's say, three, and so why --

A. You're correct there.

Q So why woul d that be -- why would this
di spl ace any of those ol der resources unless you
chose to shut them off; unless you decided not to
use them any |l onger? How in the world are you
going to displace, you know, carbon em ssions if
your choice is going to be based on price?

A My understandi ng of the fuel cost and the
di spatch price for Big Stone Il is that it wil

di spatch before Heskett or Lewis & Clark.

Q. Well, what's the cost of those? | know
t hat they go on -- get the |east cost?
A. You know, quite frankly -- | do not --

Q Pricing --
A. | do not have those costs with me right

now, Comm ssioner, and certainly |I could get them
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very easily, obviously. The dispatch order -- is |
know the di spatch order, those dispatch | ast.

Q Maybe you could -- maybe you coul d get

that for us.

A Sure. You want the --

Q The di spatch order and --

A Well, the dispatch order --

Q -- what order it would be in with Big
Stone Il included in the m x. So let's say you'd

say your Diamond W Il ow would be first probably.

A. That's a price taker.

Q. And then submt to us a list of in what
ot her they conme next under the vocational marginal
price concept dispatch.

A. Okay. | can certainly do that. | mean,
as | recall our nodeling, our capacity factors
for -- and our utilization of Big Stone Il is very
hi gh, and the capacity factors utilization of our
ol der units backs down into the 40 percent after

Big Stone | comes on, and | don't want to try to

get into the weeds of that will modeling because |
didn't run it, but we'll certainly provide that to
you.

Q Okay. That would be great.

A. Not a problem
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Q That woul d be great.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Excuse nme,

Comm ssioner. For the record, M. Kuntz, that wll
be late-filed Exhibit MDU 2207

MR. KUNTZ: Correct.

JUDGE WAHL: And for the record, M.
Kuntz, what is the description of this exhibit?

MR. KUNTZ: This will be the dispatch
order for the MDU electric generation plants,
including the anticipated Big Stone I1I.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Conm ssioner, you
may proceed.

Q ( COMM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG)  Okay.

And then if you're -- how |long do you antici pate
that you'd be selling -- well, let's just say
this -- let's ask this question first. For the

first five years that the plant is in operation, in
order to meet your requirements for your own
customers with the reserve margin that's then in

pl ace, how many megawatts will you need from Big
Stone Il for the first five years that it's
actually running? So let's say it's in place by
2014, and so let's say until 2020, how will you --
what proportion of the megawatts -- of the 133 will

you need for your own custonmers' use to meet your
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reliability requirements?
A | do not know that.
Q Okay. Can you submt that to the
Conmm ssion, as well?
A We woul d have to dig that out of the
model s. Megawatts used for MDU load -- |'m sorry.

| didn't get the years.

Q To meet your reliability requirements?
A. Ri ght . | didn't get the dates.
Q | had said the first five years, so let's

say by 20207

A 2020. Sure, sure.

Q That woul d be six years assum ng that your
schedul e goes on schedul e. Because |'m just
curious about how much is needed by your own | oad
versus -- | know you had said you're going to grow

into this need for this plant?

A. Sur e. You know, we | ost the --
JUDGE WAHL: Excuse ne. " m sorry. For
the record, M. Kuntz, this will be MDU |l ate-fil ed

Exhi bit 221, and the description for that exhibit
is?

MR. KUNTZ: Number of megawatts of the Big
Stone Il Plant needed to meet MDU s | oad

requi rements for reliability purposes between the
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years 2014 and 2020.
JUDGE WAHL: All right. You may conti nue.
THE W TNESS: | think it's important to

remenmber that Big Stone Il will replace the 66
megawatt basel oad contract we had with Basin that
expired in 2006, and since then our | oad grows
about five megawatts a year, and so we've got that
need. We're purchasing capacity -- 110 megawatts
of capacity we're purchasing this year, and then we
bought about 300, 000 nmegawatt hours of energy on
the market | ast year to meet our | oad. So
there's -- you know, there was a big hole in our
generation capability when the Basin contract
expired. That said, certainly |I can provide this
information to you. Not a problem

Q (COWM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) Thank
you. And if you want to do it on a yearly basis,
t hat woul d be fine, building up to 2020. That
woul d be hel pful so that | have a better sense of
that. MWhen | read this, | just knew | had that
guestion and didn't know how much and when you --

A. We'l|l get it to you

Q Yes. Thank you. All right. And then ny
next question relates to -- relates to your future

purchases for energy. OCter Tail, remenber, went
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t hrough with us that they're planning to purchase
additi onal energy and capacity in the next -- up
until the year -- let's say the next 15 years, and
t hey went through and they said, all right, we're
going to need to have -- M. Uggerud -- he said
they were going to need to purchase approxi mately
400 megawatts of new energy in that time period,
and the Big Stone is a piece of that, and so he had
t he amount of energy he was going to purchase
from-- percentage he was going to purchase from
coal, renewabl es, natural gas -- peaking plants or
what ever -- natural gas, and demand si de
management . Can you give me the same breakdown for
MDU of what you anticipate up to the year 2022?

A Well, once --

Q What are your energy needs going to be in
that time, and if Big Stone is 100 percent of your
energy needs during that time, you could just tell
me, |'m going to be purchasing 100 percent coal and
that's going to take care of it.

A Well, when Big Stone comes on |line in
2013, it will pretty much replace our capacity
purchases up to that date, roughly, roughly.

Q So that's 133 megawatts.

A. Roughly, yeah. And then within two years
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we woul d be deficit again and we would |ikely be
buil ding a combustion turbine at that point in
time.

Q Al'l right. And that would be about how
many megawatts?

A Well, wusually we would expect that to be a
30 to 45 nmegawatt unit. Ki nd of depends on what's
avail abl e out there.

Q And so that's natural gas?

A. That's natural gas. Now -- and then |
t hi nk our resource plan shows another CT com ng on
line in 2018 or so.

Q 2018. And that would be approximtely --

A. About the same. About 30, 45 megawatts.
Now, understand that that's based on a | east-cost
scenari o, and we've been in here before saying
sometimes | east cost isn't best cost. Least cost
woul d not select wind. We may very well want to
expand our wi nd generation, in which case we're
going to displace some of -- maybe not the
capacity, but we'll displace sonme of that need for
t hat combustion turbine potentially with the w nd
and the capacity fromthat.

So it's not a done deal as to exactly what

our next resource will be, but in terms of having
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to go out and buy off the market or contract, we
don't expect having to do that. We will expect to
build our own.

Q But your integrated resource plan -- and I
know it's probably here on file with the
Comm ssion, but I'mjust asking you to give nme this
information fromit.

A. Sur e.

Q It's 133 megawatts of coal, approximtely
90 megawatts of natural gas. Any nmore renewabl es?

A. Again, in a |east-cost plan, they don't
get sel ect ed.

Q Even agai nst what you've told us the
nat ural gas skyrocketing?

A. Even against the -- sure. If we wanted to
change those assunpti ons against the gas prices
t hat were used in our nost recent | RP, which were
| ower than | believe were in the market now, so
there's no question that you could run this model
every day and have a slightly different answer. So
we would need to refresh -- we will refresh our IRP
absolutely before we would go forward and commt to
any new resource.

Q But at the present time there's no new

renewabl es in your |IRP plan?
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A Not in the IRP based on the | east-cost
model results.

Q And is there any demand side managenment in
there of a certain percentage?

A. Yes, there certainly is. I n our IRP the
DSM and the efficiency programs that we have in
pl ace now have been subtracted fromthe forecast.
| f our forecast was for 100 and we had ten
megawatts of DSM out there, our forecast should
have read 110. It reads 100 because it's been
subtracted out. In all our models it's been
accounted for, so it's subtracted out, and then in
our other nmodels -- we have another four programs

that we're getting ready to inmplement, and in the

analysis that M. Heidell did -- and he can get
into the weeds on this one. |'d rather he tal ked
about the details because it's his nmodel. Those

programs were selected prior to Big Stone being
selected. So those are also absorbed in that
model .

Q Can Mr. Heidell tell me approxi mately what
percentage or what nunber of megawatts you're
tal king about with --

A | believe he -- | believe he can.

Q -- conservation progranms?
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A He'll know what's in the model. Yes.

Q You don't?

A. Wel |, rough numbers, but really I'd rather
he pulled that out. W have about six-and-a-half
megawatts of interruptible right now and about
38,000 megawatt-hours of avoided electric usage in
the existing programs in place today.

Q Si x-and- a-hal f?

A Megawatts of interruptible, yeah.

Q And so do you -- can you give ne a
projection of what that could be by 20207

A | don't -- | don't remenmber what we have
in the nodel.

Q Al'l right.

A. Or we can provide it otherw se.

Q Thank you. Do you know t he total
megawatts that you need then by about 2020?

A. | know by 2013 we'll be deficit 110. Cur
obligation in 2013 is going to be about 650. 20 - -
anot her 70 megawatts on top of that, so with a
reserve maybe 720 megawatts. You know, | | earned
| ong ago | should never do math after |unch.

Q That's your total megawatts for a whole
year's --

A. That's what | would roughly estimte our
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demand wi || be.
Q Al'l right. And so that's not new.
That's - -
No.
Q That's the difference between what you

have right now?

A. Yeah. That should be in our |oad
forecast.
Q So 133 and about 90 of new natural gas,

and that would add up to about right, about 220
new.

A Well, |I'mnot sure. | was adding up in ny
m nd what | thought our |oad forecast roughly would
be versus our installed capacity. Did you want our
installed capacity?

Q Actually, you know, | had the 133 of new
coal and then you gave ne 45 megawatts of natural
gas in the next few years and 45 nmegawatts of
natural gas in 2018.

A. Ri ght .

Q And so that adds up to about 223.

A Ri ght . | got the same number. That's
good.

|s that pretty good for the new?

A Yep.
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COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. All right.
Thank you
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Cl ark.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thanks.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:
Q Good afternoon.
A Good afternoon.
Q |'d Ilike to ask a few questions on Di amond
WIIlow. Refresh my menmory. Are the costs for
Di amond W llow -- is that a purchase power
agreement that MDU has or is it being incorporated
into rate base at some point?
A It will be incorporated into rate base.
That is an MDU-owned facility.
Q It is. Okay. So right now North Dakota
ratepayers haven't seen any --
A. No.

Q -- impact from Diamond W I | ow ot her

A Ener gy.

Q -- whatever energy has been displaced from
t he FCA.

A. That's right.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. | think that's
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my only question right now. Thanks.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:
Q | want to try to get to maybe a clearer
answer, if | understood Ms. La Seur's |ine of

gquestioning, regarding MDU and | guess the

partners' expectation that -- maybe |'m
characterizing her question somewhat -- but that
all of the -- the burden of risk -- all of the risk

is being borne by ratepayers in this proceeding as

opposed to the company; that this is a risk the

conpanies aren't willing to make wi thout this -- or
this pre-prudence determ nation. If 1I'm
m scharacterizing the question, | apol ogize.

A. No. | think that's correct.

Q Okay. s it fair to expect, given the
climate of things today that -- that any new, major

basel oad i nvest ment would probably come to us for
an advance determ nation of prudence?

A. We woul d even bring a wi nd project before
you for an advance determ nati on of prudence.

Q Okay. So this isn't -- although it m ght
be new to our state and culture, this may be nore

the norm than unusual




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1323

A | think so. G ven the opportunity under
the rules to do this, we will ask for this. Yes.
COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER: | have not hing
further.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion?
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have one.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Wefald.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q Then why didn't you do it with the Di anmond
W Il ow?

A We did go to Montana with the Di amond
WIIlow. | guess that's a fair question. lt's also
a fairly small project.

Q | know. You'd just said you'd do it for
any generation.

A. Well, you caught me. We probably should
have. Probably should have in hindsight. Correct.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MR. KUNTZ: OCh, do I --

JUDGE WAHL: " m sorry. " m thinking --
" mnot in the routine. | haven't quite adjusted,

Dan, to you. M. Kuntz.
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REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q Ms. Stonberg, in response to some
guestions Ms. La Seur asked you about the effects
of price increases after this prudence
determ nation is made, do you recall the
comm tments that the compani es have made in terns
of keeping the Conmm ssion advised of devel opments
prior to financial close?

A Yes.

Q And woul d that include significant changes
in construction costs?

A. Absol utely.

Q And just to clarify, | believe
Comm ssioner Wefald used the word "bids" prior to
financial close. Do you know whet her there will
actually be bids or will there be estimtes or
negoti ated prices or a combination thereof?

A. Probably a combination thereof.

Q And then, finally, in addition to the
resources that you discussed with Conmm ssi oner
Wefald, is the conpany reviewi ng other possible
generation opportunities that may come along in
maybe smaller increments in addition to those that

you' ve discussed in terms of the major projects
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i ke CT and major wind projects |ike that?

A Oh, absolutely. W | ook for things that
seem to make sense with us -- for us. In fact, |
guess | could probably talk about a press rel ease
that we'll have |ater today for -- where we sign on
with Ormat and Northern Border for a waste heat
recovery unit at Glen Ul lin. That's a wonder ful
little project.

Q So any of those generation sources could
end up supplementing and determ ni ng what the
company will use for generation sources between now
and the year 2020 or even 2015; is that correct?

A ' m sorry?

Q So any of those generation opportunities
could be used in lieu of other things that we may
not know about today --

A. Sur e.

Q -- for supplementing our generation
requi rements between 2015 and 2020, for exanple.

A Mr- hnm

MR. KUNTZ: That's all 1 have.
JUDGE WAHL: Now Ms. La Seur.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR

Q Ms. Stonberg, there seens to be a | ot of
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reliance on this assunption of 2,009 first-quarter

financial close. How confi dent are you of that

dat e?
A. Well, if the project proceeds on the
schedul e we believe it will, we believe that that's

a reasonabl e date, but the project has slipped a
nunber of times, as everyone in this roomis aware,
and the financial close may also slip.

Q And is that financial close date
consistent with a 2013 commerci al operations date?

A. At this point intime it is, yes.

Q | f the applicants keep the PSC appri sed
post prudency ruling of cost, what difference wil
t hat make?

A. To whonf?

Q Well, to anybody. Aside from
i nformati onal purposes, will that change anyt hing
about the cost to ratepayers, about the costs to
t he applicant?

A | guess in a situation where we would conme
forward to the Comm ssion and say, well, the price
has increased 30 percent, we would also have to
bring to them | believe, some discussion as to the
entire market and why that is reasonable.

Q Woul d you be required to bring any such
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di scussion or modification of the application
proposal ?

A. We would -- we would -- we would accept a
recommendation to do that or request to do that.

Q Woul d t he PSC have any authority to
withdraw its prudence ruling at that time?

A. | don't know.

Q In data requests the intervenors asked in
a lot of different ways for all nodeling rel evant
to Big Stone Il. Why did we never get the ProSIM

runs that you're referring to now?

A. | guess | don't know exactly when that run
was done.
Q | s that something you could submt into

the record posthearing?

A. Certainly.
Q And - -
JUDGE WAHL: Well, just a mnute, please.

So do | understand MDU is agreeing to submt this
as a late-filed exhibit? 1s that it, M. Kuntz?
MR. KUNTZ: That's nmy understandi ng. | t
woul d be late-filed Exhibit 222, which would show
the ProSIM runs for the dispatch order, including
Big Stone |11, which would basically kind of tie

into one of the earlier requests regarding the --
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MS. LA SEUR: Let me just clarify ny
request. We're just interested in the date when
t hese runs were done. We're not going to be able
to file any responsive testimony if this is entered
into the record. We'd just like to know when this
was done.

THE W TNESS: Okay. That's different than
asking for the run. You want the date that the run
was done?

MS. LA SEUR: Yes.

JUDGE WAHL: Al'l right. That' || be MDU
Exhi bit 222.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And on this sanme
topic, the ProSIMruns, isn't a discussion of
ProSIM runs pretty theoretical in the real world
context where M SO makes the decisions about which
plants MDU will run and at what capacity?

A Yes. | would say they're very
t heoretical .

MS. LA SEUR: Okay. That's all 1 have.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q |'d just like to follow up on a question

that Ms. La Seur asked, and that is regarding
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the -- what would happen if the -- for instance,
the costs increased substantially, unexpectedly

prior to or at the time of your projected close,

and, you know, what -- what could the Comm ssion
do? M recollection, and correct me if |I'm wrong,
in the law -- and | don't have it before ne -- that

t he Comm ssion can determ ne that a project is not
prudent and that the utility is entitled to recover
its costs incurred up to that point. I's that your

under st andi ng?

A If a project is abandoned?

Q Well, let me just take a |l ook at the | aw
here.

A. Yeah. | guess | don't have it in front of

me, either, and I'"mnot a | awyer, but --

MR. KUNTZ: Per haps, Your Honor, would it
be best that we just refer to Section 49-05-16?7 |
mean, we could have Ms. Stomberg read it into the
record, but | think the statute speaks for itself
in terms of the Comm ssion's authority to
reexam ne -- or the effect of reexamning a
prudence determ nation.

MR. BI NEK: That would be fine, if you
want to do that. " mjust [ooking at it right now,

al so.
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Q. (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) Woul d you take a
| ook at 49-05-16, subsection 5, and why don't you

just read that.

A The entire section?
Q That subsection into the record.
A. "I'f at any time following an initial

Comm ssion order the Comm ssion follow ng a
subsequent hearing determ nes that continuation of
a project is no |longer prudent or that its prior
order should be modified, the public utility may
recover in its rates, and in a timely manner
consistent with the public utility's financial
obligations the anmounts the public utility has
al ready expensed, incurred or obligated on a
project, including interest expense and return on
equity invested in the project up to the time the
new order is entered, even though the project may
never be fully operational or used by the public
utility to serve its custoners.”

MR. BI NEK: Thank you. That's all | have.

JUDGE WAHL: Any foll ow-up questions by
t he Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Clark?

COVM SSI ONER CLARK: | just did have one

that | had forgotten about.
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FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q The Gascoyne option, | recall at our | ast
hearing we discussed that a bit, and one of the
reasons that it was knocked out of consideration
early on was this econony-of-scale issue; that it
woul d have to be a smaller plant. Was there any
reexam nati on done of Gascoyne who m ght be
potential partners in that given that this is a

little bit nmore northwesterly project than it was

before, at |east the power where it will be used,
and did the downsizing of Big Stone -- | mean,
could it potentially put another plant |like a

Gascoyne into play?

A Well, we did revisit Gascoyne at a high
| evel at the time of the -- of the downsi zing of
the plant, and by that time it seens to me, as |
recall, you know, we certainly still have the
econom es of scale issues. The other thing that we
had that we didn't have at the time of -- that we
had the air permt for the Gascoyne plant was a
protest by the Federal Land Manager of
West morel and's permt down there. So that it
seemed |like the entire regulatory issue with regard

to the air permt in the Gascoyne area had gotten
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more conmplex than it had been at the tinme.

Q Revi ew t hat again for me.

A Okay. The -- when Mont ana- Dakota and
West nor el and went forward with the first
probably -- with the air permt -- we did several
iterations there, but when we did the air permt,
it was approved wi thout protest by the Federal Land
Manager . Now, that was a smaller plant than
West nor el and eventually went in with a permt for.
West norel and, | think, put in for a 500 megawatt
pl ant down there, and | understand that the Federal
Land Manager has protested that plant because of
the visibility inpact.

So I'"'m not sure that the regul atory
hurdl es are clear even should we want to go back
and work with Westmorel and, and | haven't talked to
West norel and to know if they've identified partners
or not, but certainly the issues in Mnnesota with
regard to coal-fired electrons going into that
state complicate our ability to find viable
partners for that |ocation.

Q Why nore so than Big Stone?
A Well, Big Stone has the sane issue. I
guess | was thinking about other partners that

m ght not want to fight that battle at all.
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Q Okay. But as far as -- so you didn't get
quite as far as actually penciling things out as
far as cost?
A. No.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Kuntz, anything further?

MR. KUNTZ: No. Ms. La Seur, anything

further?

MS. LA SEUR: No t hanks.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you very much, Ms.
St omber g.

MR. KUNTZ: Are we ready for our next
wi t ness?

JUDGE WAHL: Yes, | think so.

MR. KUNTZ: Okay. Mont ana- Dakota woul d
call Jim Heidell, please.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Heidell, I'"muncertain if
| recall you from previous hearings. Did you
testify for the previous hearings?

MR. HEI DELL: Yes, | did.

JUDGE WAHL: Then | can safely say | have

personal know edge that you were advised and
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i nformed regardi ng perjury, and you understand, of
course, that your testinmony for the suppl enmental
hearings conti nues subject to the -- under oath and
subject to the penalties of perjury?
MR. HEI DELL: Yes, | do.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz.
MR. KUNTZ: Thank you.
JAMES HEI DELL,
havi ng been previously duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified further as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q M. Heidell, please state your name.

A James Hei del |

Q And whom are you enpl oyed by?

A. PA Consulting Group.

Q What's your position with PA Consulting
Group?

A. | am a managi ng consul tant there.

Q What type of work does PA Consulting do?

A Well, PA is a global management consulting

firm so more specifically do you want ny
experience?
Q What's your role with PA?

A. My role in the firmis far more |limted.
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| am an expert in the electric energy sector. I
advise utilities on resource planning; | advise
private investors on investments related to power
pl ants and whol e compani es for transactions ranging
froma couple hundred mllion to billions of
dollars; and I do a significant amunt of market
energy forecasting.

Q And it was noted by the hearing officer
you previously testified in this proceeding; is
t hat correct?

A That's correct. | testified in June of
| ast year.

Q And for the supplemental hearing did you
cause to be prepared supplemental prefiled direct
testimony with exhibits and then also suppl ement al
rebuttal testinony -- or prefiled rebuttal
testinony?

A. That is correct.

Q And showi ng you first what's been marked
as MDU Exhi bit 214, prefiled supplenmental direct
testinony of James Heidell, do you have any
corrections or additions to make to that testinony?

A | have one correction to make.

Q Coul d you point that out to us?

A. Yes. On page four, line 12, the answer
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starts with the word "no." The word "no" should be
stricken.

Q Okay. And with respect to MDU Exhi bit
215, the prefiled James Heidell exhibit tables
referenced in your testinony, are there any changes
that need to be made to the exhibits?

A No, there are not.

Q And the prefiled rebuttal testimny of
James Hei dell marked as MDU Exhibit 217, do you
have any changes to make to that?

No, | do not.

Q And if | were to ask you the questions
that are contained in MDU Exhibits 214 and 217,
woul d your answers be the same today?

A Yes, they woul d.

MR. KUNTZ: We would offer MDU Exhibits
214, 215, and 217 at this tinme.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. BI NEK: No objection

JUDGE WAHL: MDU Exhi bits 214, 215, and
217, inclusive, are each received.

Q (MR. KUNTZ CONTI NUI NG And do you have a

summary of your testinony, M. Heidell, that's been
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mar ked as MDU Exhi bit 214A?

A Yes, | do.

Q At this time could you provide the
Comm ssion that sunmmary?

A. Yes, | will. Good afternoon
Comm ssioners. The scope of my rebuttal testinony
is essentially to reexam ne the resource planning
model i ng that was originally presented to you in
June of 2007. The changes that are reflected in
t he suppl emental testimony, of course, reflect the
changes in Big Stone that have been the subject of
this hearing. They also address additional
changes, you know, driven by more know edge or
changi ng market conditions. These additional
changes | view as normal in the course of doing
resource planning, and the fact that we updated
them was just to not present a stale analysis to
t his Comm ssi on.

The results of these model runs is that
the Big Stone Il Plant is still identified as the
most cost-effective option.

In the rebuttal -- supplemental rebuttal
testinony | addressed questions by staff witness
M. Deason and tried to answer his questions

related to the wind production tax credits, the
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role of the PTCs on -- the role of PTCs and the
role of wind in terms of the Montana-Dakot a
resource expansion plan; addressed the capital cost
assumptions that have been the subject of concern
to him and also described how we treated income
tax and cost of capital in the model.

The -- we presented runs where the
production tax credit was assumed to continue
actually to 2014. We present runs where the
production tax credit is assumed to expire at the
end of 2008. | think it is reasonable to
consi der reasons why the PTC m ght not be extended
in terms of from an econom c perspective, although
| realize that tax credits tend to be a little
sticky.

The wi nd fixed and variable costs do not
really depend on the PTC for the most part.
Essentially the way we modeled the PTC is a
reduction in the total revenue requirement that
woul d be required from Mont ana- Dakota's customers.

Just to be clear, because it's been in
many proceedi ngs about how much wi nd can be
absorbed on Mont ana- Dakota's system it was not ny
testinony that by adding more than the Di anond

W Il ow project that there would necessarily be any
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operational problems. W are continuing to be
concerned about that and the costs seemto be
properly reflected.

Again, continuing with the issues that
staff witness M. Deason raised, the cost of the
natural gas-fired combined cycle gas turbine are
actually simlar to Otter Tail's, and |I think that
Bryan Morl ock addressed that. The natural gas
forecast that we have actually really differs from
Oter Tail in terms of the transportation costs. I
t hi nk Mont ana- Dakota appropriately considered the
cost of delivering natural gas to where the likely
generation sites would be as opposed to just
generic costs to a hub.

And, finally, | believe that the capital
costs that we used, essentially 11 percent return
on equity as a long-term nunmber, is a reasonable
benchmar k. ' m not testifying as to a specific
number in the near termw th what woul d be
appropri ate.

Finally, responding to DRC' s witness, M.
David Schlissel -- I'"msure | didn't pronounce that
correctly either. Sorry.

MS. LA SEUR: He' s gone.

THE W TNESS: | go into a fair amount of
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detail as to the capital costs of the gas-fired
turbines, and | just want to enphasize that these
costs come fromthe 2006 cost assessnment. So we've
had a | ot of discussion about, you know, potenti al
cost increases in the industry, and so to risk
using the word, the | ower conmbined cycle costs are
actually conservative; that there are many who
woul d argue that the costs of such turbines would
be nore expensive to Montana- Dakota today.

There was, | would say, sort of an
all egation that somehow we're biasing the results
and we restricted the availability of the nodel to
| ook at combi ned cycle turbine. In two
suppl emental runs referred to as scenarios three
and four there's actually no restriction at all.
In scenari os one and two they were -- in the nodel
runs that were delivered to DRC they were
restricted after 2013, but that restriction was a
result of iterative testing.

We've al so been criticized about these
l[imts in the nodel and the model reaching limts
in the number of scenarios that we considered. So
we did extensive testing, |ooked at |ots of
pernmut ati ons, and then in the final runs to try to

rempve those limtations, we delivered a version
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The DRC could have easily verified that for
t hensel ves.

We did raise the cost of the wind turbines
since | came and talked to you |ast June. W
rai sed themto $2,000. | do not consider that a
bi as. |"d be happy to explain why | think that is
a very reasonabl e cost estimte.

And | think that we had some criticism
regarding that if you | ook at a 20-year period, the
Big Stone -- the net present value of costs over a
20-year period, that the Big Stone Plant may not be
the | owest cost for Montana-Dakota's custoners,
whi |l e over the whole lifetime of the study it is.
| don't -- | think it is appropriate, and for
reasons |'m happy to explain, that to | ook at the
whol e time period, truncation of results would
actually be inappropriate.

And, finally, | -- while there are runs
and there are scenarios -- and you can basically
get any results you want out of the Strategi st
model depending on the inputs -- we do not -- | do
not believe that the scenario that has been
presented by DRC is a reasonable alternative.

MR. KUNTZ: We woul d offer Exhibit 214A --

MDU Exhi bit 214A.
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JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: MDU 214A i s received.

MR. KUNTZ: Your Honor, at this time |I'd
like to make an offer of proof with respect to what
was mar ked as MDU Exhibit 218.

JUDGE WAHL: You may proceed, M. Kuntz.

Q (MR. KUNTZ CONTI NUI NG) M. Heidell, did
you cause to be prepared supplemental rebuttal
testinony marked as Exhibit MDU 2187

A Yes, | did.

Q | f that exhibit were to be received into
t he evidence, could you explain what that exhibit
woul d i ndicate?

A Yes, | coul d.

Q Woul d you do that at this time?

A Yes. Staff witness M. Deason had a
concern in his -- in review ng our testinmny that
two of the scenarios we presented did not have the
production tax cost extended, but | had al so made
ot her changes, you know, fromthe first two
scenarios. So his question was, well -- the way I

interpret his question, all else being equal, if
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you all ow the production tax credits to be
extended, would the results change? So we just --
what | did is | got perm ssion from Mont ana- Dakot a
to renew the Strategist |license. It
unfortunately, took a number of days to get that

renewed, and then |I did that analysis.

Q And the result was?
A The result is -- it's the same result.
The | east-cost plan is still with Big Stone I1.

MR. KUNTZ: That conpl etes our offer, Your
Honor, and we would tender the wi tness for
Cross-exam nation.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. | note for the
record and for the advice of the Comm ssioners that
an offer of proof is not evidence and may not be
consi dered by the Comm ssion for its determ nation.
Ms. La Seur.

MS. LA SEUR: Thank you.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. LA SEUR
Q Good afternoon, M. Heidell. Wuld you
pl ease turn to page seven of MDU Exhibit 214, your
suppl emental, prefiled direct testinony, and |I'm
referring to line three of page seven in which you

refer to additional demand side management projects
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t hat were incorporated into your updates. Wuld
you be able to describe what projects?

A. Yes. Actually in the sanme testimony, if I
can refer you to a table, it actually lists the
projects that were added, and that is Table 5 on
page four of exhibit --

MR. KUNTZ: 215.
THE W TNESS: 215. So the -- what was
added was a --

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Just a m nute.

need to find it, if you can help ne.

MR. KUNTZ: It would be under tab 15 of
the big book, Comm ssioner. It's marked as Exhibit
215, and it's under tab 15, page four, | believe he
sai d.

THE W TNESS: That is correct.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And at page ten
you've referred to these programs, this is lines 16
and 17, the conservation progranms that
Mont ana- Dakota is already inplementing, and these
are the residential high efficiency air
condi tioning, the commercial high efficiency
lighting, the interruptible | oad program So are
t he progranms described or listed in Table 5

addi tional programs not currently inplemented?
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A. There are additional programs. | guess
what | -- | actually am not sure exactly on what
stage of inplenmentation that Montana-Dakota is on
t hese progranms. | know that Mont ana- Dakota has
been planning to go ahead with them but | don't
know whet her they've been filed with this
Comm ssion yet or not, but they are incremental, as
Ms. Stonberg testified.

What we did is the |oad forecast
essentially takes -- we have additional demand side
management prograns, we subtract that out of the
| oad forecast, we put theminto Strategist, we
added additional programs, and effectively what
Strategist does is it says, oh, are these prograns
cost effective. If they're cost effective, then
t hey reduce the | oad forecast again. No doubl e
counti ng. They reduce it again, and then it
di spatches the thermal plants and contracts to neet
the remaining | oad after demand side management and
energy conservation.

Q And we seem to be | ooking at an average
cost per Kkilowatt-hour of anywhere from 2 cents to
16 cents. Was this cost of various DSM projects
i ncorporated into the overall nmodeling?

A. Yes. The cost -- essentially -- and just
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| think probably way past the point of confusion,
t he higher cost programs on a kilowatt-hour basis
are programs that are actually targeted to reduce
t he peak demand. They don't provide a | ot of
energy, but they provide a reduction to the peak
demand. So on a kil owatt-hour basis they | ook nmore
expensi ve, but having said that, yes, what the
program -- we input characteristics of these
programs in energy savings, demand reduction
attri butes, a cost. The nodel determ nes whet her
they're cost effective. Once the nodel determ nes
that they're cost effective, they will then go
t hrough and reduce the |oad that needs to --
generation needs to be dispatched for.

Q And so the model would only | ook at these
programs |isted?

A It's just a nodel that only | ooks at the
i nputs we give it.

Q Goi ng back to page eight of this same
exhi bit of your testinmony, |ooking at |ine 21,

"Mont ana- Dakota is showing slightly more growth

t han previously forecast.” On what evidence does
MDU base this higher, long-term forecast?
A Well, the -- what the testinony tries to

lay out in the prior Q and A is that essentially




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1347
Mont ana- Dakot a changed the forecast methodol ogy,
and as a result of this change of the forecast
met hodol ogy, the growth rates changed a little bit.
You know, we're tal king about a utility

with not a very |large | oad growth. | mean, when
demand is growing at .99 or 1.07 percent, that's a
relatively small amount, and ultimtely it's -- you
know, there's really no way to -- because a --
essentially the old forecast wasn't repeated, so
don't believe, subject to check, that
Mont ana- Dakota could tell you how nmuch of this
change is a result of changes in assunptions versus
changes i n methodol ogy. | think had the
di fferences been much nmore significant, | would
have expected that they would have gone back and
exam ned that question.

Q Okay. Wuld you say that the change is
within the statistical margin of error for the

model i ng met hodol ogy?

A W t hout being really sure about exactly
what was done, | mean, nmy general sense is that
they are within the margin of error. | mean, |

find both these changes to be relatively small.
Q Okay. Going to page 13, lines 14 to 17,

you di scuss the emergency curtailments in Texas,
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and your testimony is that the need for sufficient
responsive thermal resources to maintain system
reliability with | arge anmounts of wi nd was recently
demonstrated by these emergency curtail ments of
interruptible load as a result of wi nd variations;
correct?

A. That is my testinony.

Q Okay. How does managenent of wi nd
variations with DSM or | oad management, if you
will, denonstrate the need for sufficient
responsive thermal resources?

A Well, | believe that the prelim nary ERCOT
assessnment of the events basically said that, you
know, the system did respond, and essentially the
system responded through a combination of | oad
curtailment, as well as splitting reserves. So |
think what it says is that at |least in the case of
ERCOT t hat both of those resources have potenti al
to help support wind variability.

Q But couldn't the Texas event also be cited
as an exanple of how wi nd variability can be
handl ed successfully wi thout massive thernmal
backup?

A Well, | think the results of the report

actually said that, you know, we think the system
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wor ked. | do believe -- and this is just a rough
number -- but | believe that Texas wind is in the
range of six or seven percent of the capacity. So
t hat sort of gets to my opening coment that there
is a matter of degree of, you know, 10, 15 percent
versus 25, 30 percent.

Q Getting back to the conservation and
efficiency prograns that have been nodel ed, you may
have already answered this. | wanted to know if
MDU has model ed any conservation or efficiency
programs ot her than those already inmplenmented.

A. ' m not aware. It was nmy intent in doing
t he modeling that we captured, you know, the ful
range of prograns that Montana-Dakota was studyi ng,
and | asked that question. So that was certainly
my intent. | don't know anything more than that.

Q Woul d you know anyt hi ng about how NMDU
chooses the programs that it model s?

A. In a broad sense. Probably a conmpany
wi t ness would be better to answer this question,
but in a broad sense | believe that the company has
an advisory commttee, | ooks at prograns, does a
cost-effectiveness test and in a process that
brings in public input and economcs simlar to

what many utilities do.
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Q Let's turn to page 20 in this sane
exhi bit, |l ooking at the chart with the various
scenarios listing wattages for certain generation
sources. You describe these various scenari os
generally by wattage that can be gained from
specific sources except for conservation. MWy
woul d you not assign a wattage that can be gai ned
from or avoided from conservation?

A And just for the record, the table is in
megawatts, not in watts, but --

Q Let's just a whole |ot of watts; right?

A. That's just a whole |ot of watts. So to
answer your question, basically the table was
designed to focus people on the decisions that were
made. | think I tried to enmphasis that through the
testinony that the program -- that the model
selected all the conservation programs, and that
table that we di scussed was designed to provide
that information. W weren't trying -- | wasn't
trying to hide anything.

Q Okay. Wuld it be possible to make that
ki nd of one-to-one conparison between potential for
avoi ding megawatts or for generating megawatts?

A Well, | think we can. | mean, let's --

you know, we see 116, 93, 43, we see different
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| evel s of megawatts, and then if we turn to Table 5
of Exhibit 215, page four, you know, essentially
what we have here is 13-and-a-half megawatts of
conservation plus another approxi mately
si x-and- a-half megawatts that were in that process.
So, | mean, the answer is that conservation is
providing on the order of, you know, 20 nmegawatts.

Q Okay. Turning to page 13, this is back on
the same page with the Texas exanple, down at the
bottom 21, 22, 23, you say that you're not aware of
any studies related to Mont ana-Dakota's system with
regard to the amount of wi nd capacity the system
can absorb wi thout incurring costs for initial
addi tional generation resources to support the
wind, and isn't it also the case that MDU hasn't
determ ned the maxi mum anount of conservati on,
energy efficiency and DSM t hat could be inpl emented

cost effectively on its systen?

A | think there are two questions, but the
end question -- | think the tail question is what
you're asking -- what you're trying to ask is did

MDU | ook at the maxi mum potential of conservation
on this system Is that the question?
Q Yes.

A | don't know if they did or not. | asked
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for all the prograns they considered, but I'm not
aware of everything they did.

Q And so it's also not possible -- you're
al so unable to say what's possible in terns of
maxi m zed wi nd capacity?

A | could only give you general comments.
don't have anything specific to Montana- Dakot a.

Q Okay. Turning to pages 18 and 19, and
| ooking at the top of the page, "higher cost
expansion plans that incorporated smaller anounts
of Big Stone Unit Il in conjunction with building
more combustion turbines.” Did --

A. ' m sorry. | ' m probably staring right at
it, but I can't find that reference. ls it page
187

Q Sorry. | was | ooking at the bottom of the
page, and top of page 19 is where |I'm actually
referring to. It would be lines one, two and
three.

A. Okay. Thank you

Q And in modeling these options that would
have expanded basel oad coal in various increnments,
was there also nodeling of the risk of di mnished
fuel diversity?

A No. | mean, the nodel is essentially
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| ooking at Big Stone in 25 megawatt units. | mean,
the risk -- again, it's just a nodel. To nmodel the
risk of fuel diversity, one would have to descri be
some inputs for it calcul ate. No such cal cul ati ons
wer e done.

Q Ri ght. That was the followup question |
was getting to, is have you made any assunptions
with regard to fuel diversity that could inform
this nodel or these scenarios?

A. Well, the Strategist nmodel is just an
optim zation given Montana-Dakota's --

Mont ana- Dakota's | oad and resources. In terms of
fuel diversity, if you want me to put nmy two cents
worth in on the region, |I'm happy to do that, but
t hat was not nodel ed.

Q Let me ask the question this way: I f you
were to make assunptions with regard to expanded
reliance on coal as an input to the Strategist
model i ng, would you be able to characterize those
assunptions?

A Well, | think the way to probably | ook at
it would be to say | ook at the various coal price
options and gas price options, |ook at the
difference in the net present value of those plans,

and then exogenously to the nodel, you know, make
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some kind of criteria as to, you know, what that
risk is.

Q And so that's what you would do, but you
have not done it at this point.

A. | have not done that.

Q Okay. Going to page 11 of your rebuttal,
you refer at question, lines 14 and 15, to M.
Schlissel's conclusion that it is appropriate to
increase the capital cost of the Big Stone Il unit
but not the capital cost of the alternatives.

Isn't this a bit of a m scharacterization of what
M. Schlissel says at page 76 with regard to -- |et
me point you then to --

A. Yeah. | " mreal sorry. Can you again
point me to the reference in ny testimny?

Q Okay. Your testimony is page 11 of the
rebuttal . So let's just open it up to both of
these so we can conmpare. Your question is at |ines
14 and 15, page 11 of the MDU Exhibit 217.

A Thank you. That was the --

Q That's the nunber you need. Okay. | have
t hem | abel ed. And 1'd Iike to refer you for
reference to M. Schlissel's testinony at page 76.

A. | actually do not have that in front of
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THE W TNESS: Okay. ' m sorry. l'"m with

you now. Page 76.

Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) Page 76 of t
Schlissel testimony, and |I'd refer you to lines
five, six and seven where M. Schlissel said it

not necessary or appropriate to further increas

he

was

e

the cost of these alternatives when we increased

the cost of Big Stone Il, and is it a fair
characterization to say that he concludes that
IS appropriate to increase the capital cost of

Stone Il but not the capital cost of the

it

Bi g

alternatives? 1Isn't he actually saying the capital

cost of the alternatives has already been assuned

as so high that there is no need to increase it

further?
A. | believe that's his testinmny, and |
believe nmy testinmony is that | |lay out how the

costs were devel oped and provide reasoni ng and
where the costs come from and conclude that
there's -- you know, why the costs are not
unreasonably high. | see only a statenment and

nunbers to back up this assertion in M.

no
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Schlissel's testinony.

Q So you're, in fact, saying that you just
di sagree with M. Schlissel about the correctness
of the capital costs attached to the alternatives?

A Well, | think it goes back to my opening
remar ks. | mean, you can run the model with any
range of assumptions and it's up to the person
running the model to determ ne, you know, what's
reasonabl e. You know, at least | think in terms of
presenting a base case, |'ve explained ny reasons
why | do not think his options are -- you know, his
concl usions are reasonabl e. | mean, that's all |
can say.

Q You di sagr ee.

A | disagree.

Q Okay. And again in your rebuttal, this is
just a couple of pages later, at 14, you say, "M.
Schlissel implies that it is a flaw to incorporate
the more specul ative future in identifying the
| owest cost expansion option," and | think this is
a reference to M. Schlissel's testinmony at 74. | t
shoul d be just about where you already are, two
pages earlier, and | refer you to M. Schlissel's
statement at lines 13 and 15, that it was only in

the more distant, and consequently the nore
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specul ative, future that the Strategist nodel
presented Big Stone Il as a | ower cost option, even
with all of M. Heidell's flawed assunpti ons.

Woul dn't you agree that nodels of the distant
future are more specul ative than model s of the near
future?

A As | get older, |I'm beginning to be
convinced that all models are specul ative
regardl ess of the time frane. | don't know how to
answer that, you know, the degree of specul ation.
There's just a whole range of short-term
assumptions as well as long-term assunptions.
woul d admt that in general, you know, uncertainty
tends to increase over tinme. | would submt that
when people come up with a cost of equity of 11
percent for utilities, that cost of equity is based
upon various capital asset pricing model and other
ways and essentially is a discount rate that has
been designed to reflect the appropriate |evel of
risk. So | would argue that there is risk. The
di scount rate is one mechanismto deal with that,
and the discount rate is appropriately chosen.

Q And so then would you agree that M.
Schlissel is not actually arguing against

projections into the distant future but speaking
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about the reliability of those projections?

A Well, that may be his case. | -- | took
this -- | read this as a -- sort of a -- a
suggestion to the Comm ssion that it's
I nappropriate to consider the whole study period
and just consider the first 20 years. I f that
wasn't his intention, then | guess | msread it.

Q Back to page three of your rebuttal, l|ines
18, 19 and 20, the sentence that reads, "In any
event, it is more prudent to include scenarios in
which the PTC is not extended than to assume in
every instance that it will be extended
indefinitely." And should we take this to mean
t hat you would al so agree that it is more prudent
to anticipate that any relevant future | egislation
may make a project |ess econom c rather than

assum ng no inpact or a positive inmpact?

A | mean, | would say that my -- you know,
one of the big things that | do for clients is
to -- is to |look at these things, and soneti mes

| egi sl ati on adds val ue, sometimes | egislation

decreases value. So it's fair to say that

i nvestors consider those risks -- regulatory risks.
Q But you would say that it's prudent to

model in both directions and to be pessim stic
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rat her than optim stic where the case is even? Or
we could break that into two questions. s it nore
prudent to nodel in both directions considered both
possibilities?

A. | think it's -- well, a | ot depends on --
| mean, if you're a rating agency, you only care
about downsi des, so we deal with asynmmetric risks
with rating agencies, but | think that most people
try to understand the upside and downsi de of their
i nvest ments.

Q Let's | ook at page 20 of -- 1 think | ook
at your direct testinmony here. Yeah. 20 of vyour
direct, lines nine and ten, which says that in
scenari os where the federal PTC is extended, the
conparative costs between Big Stone Unit Il and a
natural gas/wi nd option become very close with the
wi nd/ gas option within two percent of the Big Stone
Unit Il scenario. Let's see. And referring to the
scenari os where the PTC is extended -- |et me just
ask this prelimnarily: Are you aware that earlier
this nmonth the U.S. Senate voted 88 to 8 to extend
the PTC t hrough 20097

A. Yes. | am al so aware that that
| egi sl ati on was not passed in their -- over

concerns about the federal budget deficit.
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Q That which | egislation has not passed?

A That the senate commttee's
recommendations in the legislation did not
ultimately get passed because of concern over the
federal budget deficit to extend the PTC. The PTC
IS not extended.

Q ' mtal king about the housing bill that
was recently passed in the Senate. Are you
famliar with that?

A. ' m sorry. The housing -- I"'min |eft
field. Coul d you please describe -- |I'm not aware
what you're tal king about, at |east not at this
poi nt .

Q |'d like to distribute a rollcall vote
printed off the senate.gov website of Senate
amendment 4419 to Senate amendment 4387 to HR 3221,
whi ch was originally the Renewabl e Energy and
Energy Conservation Tax Act of 2007. M. Heidell,
does this appear to be a printout of a rollcal
vote fromthe senate.gov website?

A It does, except | would say that there is
a Table 8-4A on the | ast page. | do not -- do not
think that that would be part of the rollcall vote,
but you can correct me if |I'm wrong.

Q Yeah. | "' m not offering the table on the
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A. Wth the exclusion of

Q Wth exclusi

was apparently a copying error.

t hat page --

on of

the table on the back --

A -- it does appear to be a rollcall vote.
Yes.
Q -- that is not part of the rollcall vote.
MS. LA SEUR: Okay. | would |like to offer
this as Intervenor's Exhibit -- are we up to 22?
JUDGE WAHL: 23.
MS. LA SEUR: 23.
JUDGE WAHL: Let's just take a m nute,
Steph, and mark your copy | 23. All right. ' m
sorry. Ms. La Seur, did you offer it?
MS. LA SEUR: Yes, | did offer it.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Kuntz?
MR. KUNTZ: No obj ecti on.
JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection
JUDGE WAHL: Exhibit | 23 is received.
Q (MS. LA SEUR CONTI NUI NG) And, M.
Hei del |, does the purpose of this amendment appear
to be -- fromthe statement on the first page of

this exhibit to be to provide for the limted

continuation of clean energy production incentives?

A That appears to be what's described in the
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statement of purpose, although I'm not clear what
the detailed | anguage is associated with this
particul ar bill.

Q Sure. And that's the only question |
wanted to ask about it, to confirmthat that's your
under st andi ng of the amendment.

A. No. It's my understandi ng of what this --
t he statement purpose.

Q Your understanding of the exhibit as |'ve
offered it to you. Yes. Do you agree with M.
Schlissel that the nmost |ikely point at which the
PTC woul d be phased out woul d be upon enactment of
federal carbon |egislation?

A. | woul d agree that that is a factor.
don't believe that is the only factor.

Q Woul d you agree, though, that it is the
most |ikely point for phase out of the PTC?

A. ' m struggling because, you know, | -- one
is sort of a political -- politically when a
politician can do whatever they want to do. I
don't have any great insight to that. From an
econom c¢ perspective | could argue that the fact
t hat states have renewabl e portfolio standards that
mandat e renewabl e energy, essentially what -- the

PTC then isn't bringing -- you know, isn't what's
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causi ng nost of the new generation -- renewable
generation that's causing the state mandates. So
the PTC essentially from an econom c perspective
just becomes a transfer from between one group of
t axpayers and anot her.

There are other factors that would --
economcally I would say would also from an
econom c perspective mean that the PTC is not as
i mportant and there has been significant discussion
about the rising cost of generation, and in fact in
pl aces |i ke California where gas generation is very
expensive, we find that from an econom c
perspective that, you know, it doesn't take carbon
| egi slation to, you know -- from an econom c
perspective not to need the PTC.

Q So the econom c perspective would then be
that the PTC m ght be phased out as wi nd becones
even nmore conpetitive as a result of market forces?

A. Mar ket forces or alternative regul ation
t hat requires those investments to be made
ot herw se. | mean, you're not incenting any new
behavior if you're required to put in the w nd
al ready. The PTC isn't needed. It's a wealth
transfer.

Q And so woul d you consider it an unlikely
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scenario that in interest in expanding w nd
generation would slack off and the PTC would be
wi t hdrawn because the wind industry was on a slide?

A. Oh, boy, at that point you're sort of
getting into the nature of state mandates. You
know, is it required; is it required subject to an
econom c test. | mean, it unfortunately becones
bogged down in a nmyriad of detail to answer that
gquesti on.

Q Okay. Well, getting back to your specific
testi mony on page 20, lines nine and ten, this
compari son you make between Big Stone Il and w nd
with the PTC, is that based on the 2006 capita
cost estimate for Big Stone [17?

A. No. Scenarios one through four all are
based upon $2,000 a kw capital costs. The
difference is between scenarios one and two and
scenarios three and four with regard to wind are
primarily the capacity factor assumed for the w nd
turbines and the production tax credit.

There is a third factor that would
i nfluence potentially how much wind is sel ected,
and that third factor is that the delivered gas
price is |lower in scenarios three and four than it

is in scenarios one and two. So we have multiple
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assunmpti on changes.

Q Okay. My question is just about the
capital cost assumptions for Big Stone I1.

A. ' m sorry. Oh, the capital cost. [''m
sorry. The capital cost assunmptions for Big Stone
Il are the same for all scenari os. ' m sorry.

Q And is this the 2006 capital cost
estimate?

A. No. | believe the origin of the estimate
was September or October 2007. It was -- it is the
updated estimate of the cost.

Q So this is the one with just the time-
based adder and then it was, | think, a two percent
undefi ned savings also calculated as part of that
number ?

A. |'mafraid I'"mgoing to leave it to others
to descri be exactly how that cost estimate was
devel oped.

Q Okay. So --

A. | took it as a given.
Q And the wi nd/gas option comes within two
percent of Big Stone Il w thout any consideration

of carbon costs; correct?
A G ven the assunmptions in scenarios one and

two, that is correct.
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MS. LA SEUR: Okay. That's all. Thank
you.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Could we take a
break?

JUDGE WAHL: Yes, | think we shoul d. I
agree. Let's be in recess until four o'clock.

(Recess taken.)
JUDGE WAHL: All right. We're back on the
record. M . Bi nek.
MR. BI NEK: Thank you
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:

Q In your -- the four-some scenarios that
you set forth in your testinony, what was the
capacity factor that was used for w nd?

A. The table on page two descri bes that, so
in scenarios one and two we used -- | used a
capacity factor of 52 percent. In scenarios three
and four | used a capacity factor of 38 percent.

Q And how did you come up with those
di fferent capacity factors?

A The 52 percent came from a South Dakot a
wi nd project that was proposed to Mont ana- Dakot a.

At the time that this project was being proposed,

let's say, nyself and others had a fair anmount of
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skepticismthat this capacity factor would be
realized, but it was the devel oper's contention, so
that's what we used. The 38 percent came from
| ooking at the capacity factors actually published
by a couple M nnesota utilities. M nnkot a
believe was one of them and | do not recollect the
second one, but they're sort of actual operating
capacity factors as opposed to a capacity factor
put forth by a developer trying to get a contract
wi t h Mont ana- Dakot a.

Q Did you hear the testinony of Andrea
Stomberg earlier that the capacity factor that
they're seeing at the Dianond Wl low facility is
approximately 38 percent, also?

A. | did hear that.

Q Am | correct that the nodel -- as | read
your testinony, it's my understanding that the
model picked a m nimum of 116 megawatts at Big
Stone Il as the |l east cost resource mx in all four
of the scenarios?

A Scenarios one and two essentially -- well,
scenari o one, you know, was the choice that you
could take 116 megawatts at Big Stone or not. So
it was a binary choice that the nodel had to

select. Scenario two had this binary choice of
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taking 116 megawatts or not and if 116 megawatts
were selected, then up to five -- additional five
megawatt bl ocks could be selected, but it was
condi tional upon selecting the 116, and that's
where we got up to 113 megawatts versus 116

Q Got to what?

A. ' m sorry. 131 megawatts versus 116
Scenario three and four was essentially designed to
investigate one of the criticisms that | believe
was offered by M. Schlissel that, well, gee, what
if you only needed 50 megawatts at Big Stone. So |
model ed Big Stone in 25 megawatt increnments, and
that's how it got to in scenario three selecting 75
megawatts in 2011 and 50 nmegawatts in 2013.
mean, we know that's not a viable scenario, but it
was designed to test that function.

And, |ikew se, scenario four had that
same -- it could select a plant in 25 megawatt
i ncrements. It ended up selecting it -- putting it
all right upfront. | think -- you know, you're
al ways trying to think about what Strategist is
doi ng, but you never really know exactly what it's
doing -- it's because of that opportunity for off-
system sales, it's nmore economcal in the model to

put it all in right away versus delay 50 megawatts
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a couple years.

Q "' m Il ooking in your testinony, and maybe
' m | ooking at something wong here. Your direct
testinony, table ten at the back of your testinmony,
and I'm | ooking at scenario three, and | see 2013
there's 75 megawatts at Big Stone Il and 2016, 25
megawatts. What am | not understanding here? It

| ooks to me like it selected 100 megawatts of Big

Stone Il in that scenario.

A. You have me checking back here, also, to
see what's going on here. That -- that -- |I'm
sorry. That is a typo. It should be 50 megawatts.
So the table on scenario -- in expansion of plan
summary on page two is correct. This is not
correct. | apol ogize for that.

Q Okay. So the 25 in 2016 should be 50?

A It should be 50. Yes. Sorry for the
confusi on.

Q | make so many errors, | like to find one
t hat ot her people have made. Okay. And in these
four scenarios, what was the | owest cost
alternative choice?

A Big Stone 11. | mean -- you mean the

resource is Big Stone 117

Q Ri ght .
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Yes.
Q You updated the capital cost of wind from

1200 per kilowatt to 2,000 per kilowatt or --

A. That's correct.
Q s that right?
A. That's correct.
Q That -- in my rough math that comes to --

my calculation is 67 percent increase in the
capital cost of wind, and there's been some
expl anati ons about how that came about, but | guess
| still -- | guess I'd |ike to have a little bit --
|'d i ke to have an explanation fromyou as to why
t hose costs jumped from 12 to 2,000 -- 1200 to
2, 0007

A. Well, the 1200 was actually a fairly old
estimate, | think, that sort of, you know, went
back to be even before the original filing, and ny
recoll ection could be wrong, but | seemto remember
sitting in this room and people asking nme how I
could come up with such a | ow number of $1200. M
recoll ection could be wrong, but that's my
recoll ection of what happened here | ast June.

| think, you know, at the time, you know,

$1200 was a number using in the original numbers.

It is too low. There's, you know, a strong body of
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evi dence that, you know, it's closer to 2,000, if
you can -- you know, in the short-termif you can
get it, despite the expansion of blade factories
and ot hers. It's still hard to get wi nd turbines
in a short-term

Q You say that the estimate includes an
assumed cost to connect wind to the grid but does
not assume any cost for transm ssion upgrades.

When you're tal king about assumed -- or the assumed
cost to connect wind to the grid, you're talking
about the transm ssion fromthe wind field to the
cl osest interstate transm ssion |ine or sonmething

t hat woul d connect it?

A. This woul d be subject to check, but nmy
understanding is that the $85 per kw that's in
there is -- really has no transm ssion lines in it
and it's basically some, you know, busbar-type
wor K. | mean, that's not a |ot of money in the
world of transm ssion.

Q Okay. So that doesn't even get you to the
grid; is that what you're saying?

A Well, in this case the units, | believe,
are connected to the grid. So in this case it did
get you to the grid.

Q Okay. So that isn't -- the transm ssion
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t hat you're tal king about here isn't simlar --

it's not

simlar to the $200 per kil owatt that

Bryan Morl ock assigned for transm ssion to w nd

generating facilities.

A

No, | don't believe it is. | don't know

exactly how M. Morlock came up with that estimte.

Q

Okay. We've already tal ked about that.

On page -- in your rebuttal testinmny, page seven,

lines three to five, in that testinmny --

A Yes, |I'm there.

Q Okay.

A. Thank you for checking, though.

Q You assumed the capital cost of a 120
megawatt conmbi ned cycle gas turbine plant to be
$1,122 per kilowatt. s this cost consistent with

the $674 per kilowatt cost of a 500 megawatt CCGT

pl ant

anal ysi s?

A

used by M. Greig in his revised busbar cost

Unfortunately, | don't know the source of

his assumption. | don't know whether he took it

fromthe -- I'd say to be consistent it would mean

that it

came fromthe Otter Tail supply site study.

It may well have. Unfortunately, | don't know that

answer .

If it came fromthat study, it would be

consi stent.
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Q Okay. And also in your rebuttal on page
nine, lines nine and ten -- are you there?

A Yes, | am

Q Is the fixed charge rate for the Big Stone

Il at 10.14 percent |lower than the fixed charge

rate for gas-fired turbines, which is 11. 37

percent, because of the longer life of Big Stone
17

A. That is correct.

Q Are there any other reasons for the | ower

fi xed charge rate for Big Stone 117
A No. | believe the -- in nmy nodel really

the only change -- it's essentially | put in the
capital cost and the tax assumptions, and
everything stayed the sanme except for the asset
life was changed.

MR. Bl NEK: Okay. | have no further
guesti ons.

JUDGE WAHL: Any questions fromthe
Comm ssi on?

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | have one.

JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q The previous witness | had asked what the
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energy conservation component is of needed
resources until, let's say, approximtely 2020.
She said you could answer that question.

A. The -- the best source of information is
really that Table 5 that we referred to earlier,
whi ch would then be -- | should have this exhibit
menmori zed, but it would be Exhibit 215, page four,
Table 5, and so to those numbers we add
approximately three-and-a-half billion for the
exi sting prograns. So 46, 57 -- you know, on the
order of 65 mllion kilowatt-hours would be what's
in the nodel.

Q Those are only -- when |I |ook at that --
and by the way, just to |let you know, today in the
mail | received a notice about the residential
refrigerators and freezers in my Montana- Dakot a
Utilities bill about the rebate progrant

A. Should I nmodify my earlier testimny that
t he prograns have started?

Q Let's see. Those four progranms that you
have listed in table five, there's a number of
ot her programs that are listed on page three of the
exhibit -- that late-filed exhibit that
Mont ana- Dakota Utilities filed | ast summer.

A. And t hat would probably be things |ike the
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commercial high efficiency lighting and --

Q Yes. And that included programs from 2006
t hrough 2009, and so there's quite a number of
ot her progranms that they had listed at that time.

A And those programs are ongoing and those
programs are reflected as a reduction in the | oad
f orecast.

Q But there's a number of prograns in
that -- do you have a copy of that list?

A. ' m sorry. | do not have it in front of

Q "1l just pass it to you. You'll see that
the difference between the lists that | have
here --

MR. KUNTZ: We have one, Comm ssioner.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. Thank you.

Q (COWM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) For
exampl e, residential refrigerators and freezers, if
we checked them off, that's two progranms that they
said the would start in 2008, and then you have
residential commercial air-conditioner cycling.
That's about ei ght down. It said they would start
in 2009, and then high-efficiency comnmercial AC and
mot ors. Commercial AC is right below that one and

motors is |ike two down, high-efficiency notors,
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and those would be started -- that would be started
in 2008. And interruptible rate demand side
management four, I'mnot -- interruptible rate --
t hey have | oad management prograns down bel ow
starting in 2007. Okay. | think that's the same
one. It would be ND 1. Do you see it? Is that
the same?

A. | believe there is a -- that there is
probably some overlap as that's why | went back
to -- and unfortunately |I'm probably not the best
one on the stand to resolve that. ' m sure we can
resolve that to give you the two pieces, but that's
why | sort of said, well, if we take the -- you
know, the roughly, you know, 60 mllion
kil owatt-hours in the new program and add anot her
t hree-and-a-half mllion or so, that gives you a
good order of magnitude of the projected savings of
the progranms that are currently in the model.

Q But | need some help with that. Does t hat
model reflect -- the demand side managenment
options, is that per year?

A These kilowatt -- these kilowatt numbers
here are -- in Table 5 are cunul ative.

Q Through what year?

A. | believe it's through the -- nost of
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t hese programs, | believe, have a life of ten
years. " m sorry. | don't know the exact |ife of
t hese prograns. So, | mean, these prograns would
be renewed presumably. | mean, they're
cost-effective ones. | mean, we al ways hope on

t hese kinds of programs that the extent that the --
t hese are programmatic conservation, so we al ways
hope on these kinds of progranms to the extent that
the customer went out and bought a high-efficiency
refrigerator, and that when it came time to repl ace
it in eight, ten years, that they would go out and
buy another one without a rebate fromthe utility.

Q My -- |I'mjust wondering whether in the --
in the plan through 2020, let's say, that's in
their integrated resource plan, which I believe
this is from these only go through 2009 and then
t hey stop, and they don't show any new prograns
after that.

A Wel |, again, those are the avail able
dates, and then the measures, of course, persist in
the | oad forecast, and then you have some of these
programs, but --

Q s this typical of prograns that you see
where they -- if you're supposed to -- if, as we

heard from a prior witness, that you try to
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i ncrease by one percent each year the amount of
demand side management that's in the system 1is it
typical to just stop then only three years or four
years into a program and then not have any new
programs after that?

A. Well, | mean, | first started doing these
programs in the early Eighties, and essentially
what happens is that you have a |list of measures
and you have a cost-effectiveness test, and so you
essentially keep adding these nmeasures until vyou,
you know, essentially either run out of measures
that are cost effective or -- you know, in this
case you can assune that the customers -- you'll
get these savings, but you don't need a programto
continue them

| think you're right. | mean, | think
t hat as one goes out in time and one | ooks at
the -- you know, this DSM assessment in the
| east-cost plan is -- you know, happens
periodically, and I would assume that, you know,
there will be nmore programs in the future, | mean,
as a result of technol ogical changes.

Q The reason | ask is -- one of the reasons
| ask is because Otter Tail -- you know, basically

they' re probably I ooking at this simlarly.
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They' re | ooking at what is -- from sone
conversations -- what's the avoided cost out in the
mar ket, what is the market price they'd have to
pay, let's say, for gas turbine generated
electricity, and then that's the high cost that
t hey use, and then they put in prograns that fall
underneath that, that as being cost -- to save that
avoi ded cost. Well, you think both companies would
have to face the same costs in the M SO market, so
it's hard for nme to understand why Otter Tail would
have a list of |like 25 or nore programs that would
meet that avoided cost test and MDU woul d have far
| ess programs that need it.

A. And that's a fair question. ' m not
trying to make it overly conplicated, but | think

the first thing what you're tal king about is what |

woul d refer to as technical potential. So if both
utilities are seeing $60 a megawatt-hour of avoided
cost, you know, you think that whether it's -- you
know, refrigerators are a national market, |ight

bul bs, and all those kinds of things. You would
think that their technical potential would be very
simlar.

The trick in all these assunmptions in this

modeling is comng up with feasible potentials.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1380

We're not forcing consumers to do something; we're
trying to convince consumers to do things. One of
the things that -- | can't give you a specific
citation, but the experience of our conpany that
does a fair amount of DSM assessment work is that
the propensity to consuners to accept demand side
management or the feasible potential really grows
with nore exposure to the prograns.

So it could be that, you know, since
Mont ana- Dakot a has been doing these prograns
| onger, that in the near termtheir feasible
potential is higher -- their view what's feasible,
what we could get the consunmers to do actually is
hi gher than a company |i ke Mont ana- Dakot a. | admt
that's a bit of specul ation.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Clark.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: So --

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Go ahead, if you --

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: | just need to
finish that.

Q (COWM SSI ONER WEFALD CONTI NUI NG) So then

the total megawatts that's avail able basically

t hrough -- to your best estimate, is about that
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6- and- a- half megawatts plus 13 -- you said
13- and-a-half megawatts plus 6-and-a-half or
somet hing, 20 megawatts?
A That's what's nmodel ed. | mean - -
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Okay. Thank you.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssioner Clark.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q |'d just like to explore a little bit
the -- the modeling of the Strategist that you
di scussed in your supplemental prefiled testinony.
M. Binek had asked about the -- whether the
assunpti ons when you added wi nd included
transm ssi on cost. Do the assumptions that you had
for the Big Stone Plant in that model include the
known transm ssion cost for Big Stone?

A. Yes. The assunptions for Big Stone
include transm ssion costs as well as the combined
cycle turbine and the sinple cycle turbine.

Q But the wind to gas conbo we don't know
what those transm ssion costs would be.

A For better, for worse, we did not
specul ate on a general average nunber to integrate

transm ssion projects for w nd.
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Q Is it likely that the transm ssion costs
for wind would be higher than the costs for adding
just straight combined cycle or Big Stone itself?

A. Well, | think there's a -- you know, it's
a difficult question to answer because there's an
econonmy of scale issue. To bring more wind onto
the system you have to build 115 kv line or a 230
kv line, and let's say you need -- M SO says to
integrate a 50 megawatt project of wind on the
system you need to build 10 mles of 115 kv
transm ssion |ine. G ven the capacity of a 115 kv
line, it's probably likely that you could put in,

you know, nmore wind than that 50 megawatts in this

hypot hetical. So there's an econom es of scale
guesti on. | guess it depends on how big the w nd
project is. | mean, quite frankly, that's why on a

dol l ars per kw basis, Big Stone is |less than the

combi ned cycle because | think a part is econom es

of scale.
Q l'"'mtrying as much as | can to get an
appl es-t o-appl es conpari son because when -- which

is alittle tough to do, and the reason |I ask this
is because of your statement on |line eight and nine
of that page 20 where you talk about the federal

PTC bei ng extended, which I think is -- it's just
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my own guess -- but is likely in the short term
We don't know if that's the case, but it seens to
have been the trend in Congress at |east lately.
That even you state -- | mean, it gets close,
within two percent, but there are other costs that
aren't there, too, and what are the chances that,
say, if carbon regulation comes into play and
under standi ng that the Conm ssion can't quantify a
dol I ar val ue but can at | east assess the risk of
it, what inpact does that have in your mnd on the
cost of alternative forms of generation --
alternative to coal? | mean, do they all go up
commensurately? Even if they don't have as much
carbon emtted as coal does, does sinply the market
pressure for wind turbines and bl ades and at | east
partial carbon regul ation on gas, does it all just
sort of equal out?

A. Well, to your coment about apples and
apples, | mean, | take responsibility. It's ny
assunption to put in 52 percent capacity factor for
t he wi nd. For reasons |'ve explained I think 38 --
| explained why the 52 percent. If you're trying
to do apples and apples, | would recommend you go
to 38 percent. That's just ny view of an apples to

apples, and I don't want to run afoul here. I
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guess sonmet hi ng about offered for proof or
somet hing |ike that, but, | mean, we have | ooked
at -- and | guess someone will object -- we have
| ooked at trying to put the PTC back in to give you
t hat apples to apples, and so there is a
di fference.

| personally, you know -- well, |
personally -- PA's view is that everything doesn't
move equally. We do fundanental gas modeling, and

so essentially when we | ook at the world, we don't

assune because -- you know, if there's carbon
| egi sl ation, that the demand -- you know, demand
for electricity is pretty inelastic. | n ot her

wor ds, when price goes up, people don't change

their use that much.

So we do a nmodel and we say, well, what
generation is going to fill that hole, and what
fills that hole is DSM, you know, renewables, gas.

This is sort of at a system | evel, and so we see
there's nore demand for gas. We put that through
our fundamental gas model and gas prices rise. W
al so see that there's |l ess demand for coal because
of some of the very marginal units, you know, what
are these 50, 100 negawatt old units. It's |l ess

likely that's econom cal to keep them going.
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So we see an easing pressure on coal FOB

m ne prices -- I'mnot dealing with transportation.
"' m not going to touch that one, and so, | mean, we
don't see everything noving -- | mean, our

fundanment al nodeling doesn't say everything nmoves
t oget her.
COMM SSI ONER CLARK: That's all 1'"ve got.
Thanks.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Cramer.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER CRAMER:

Q As |l ong as you're on the topic of gas, do
you ever model the upward pressure, or if there is
upward pressure, then on other -- other uses of
gas -- in other words, we live in a cold part of
the country where gas is a significant source of
home heating obviously, obviously an inmportant
commodity in manufacturing processes. Have you - -
do you have any either opinion or experience that
tells us what we can consider the inpact of nore
gas being burned for electricity would have on home
heating costs?

A Yeah. | mean, our -- our fundamental
supply and demand nodel for gas is total gas in the

economny. So it's -- you know, and I -- and it's a




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

1386
nati onal market. | mean, we have pipeline
constraints with things |like the Rockies Express
Pi peline, you know, essentially to the detriment
that the west is going to -- we believe will
essentially equilibrate -- have the difference in
prices between western gas and eastern gas has cone
up -- you know, western gas will come up. So we
view it as a national market for gas, subject to
pi peline constraints, and we do factor in all uses
of gas in our fundamental nodel. That's why | say
gas demand woul d go up

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER: Not hi ng further.
JUDGE WAHL: Comm ssi oner Wefald.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yep. Just one nore
foll owup.
FURTHER EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

Q And that is on the commercial |ighting, it
does show five megawatts of peak savings and -- a
little over five megawatts, and that wasn't model ed
in. So would we just assume then that Big Stone ||
really doesn't need 131 nmegawatts; it only needs
1267

A It is my understanding that the commerci al

lighting programis in the forecast, in other
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is in the DSM programs. If the -- if it's

not, the hypothetical --

Q It's already happening. | know they're
providing it?

A So it's in the forecast. ' m saying it's
in the forecast. So we've already reduced the | oad
for commercial |ighting. So our assessment of the

need for Big Stone is occurring after all these

programs are accounted for.

Q
A

Even though it's not on the chart?

Yes. Because it -- because, remenber, we

have two groups of programs. We have prograns that

we put

into the model and allow the nmodel to

sel ect, and we have prograns that we subtracted

fromthe -- "we" being -- I'll be -- it's

Mont ana- Dakot a. Mont ana- Dakota's | oad forecast

sai d,

you know, when they project |oad out into the

future, they say, oh, gee, our load's going to be

| ower

because of these commercial |ighting prograns

and ot her prograns. So |l will give to Strategist

the | oad forecast after the demand and energy

savi ngs of these commercial |lighting prograns. So

we' ve

you.

al ready accounted for it in the analysis.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: All right. Thank
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THE W TNESS: Sorry to be confusing on
t hat .
JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
the Comm ssion? M. Kuntz, followup?
MR. KUNTZ: Thank you. Yes.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. KUNTZ:

Q Fol | owup on that DSM question, in response
to an issue that Comm ssioner Wefald raised with
you regarding conmparing the econom cs of DSM
programs between utilities. WII| a program of

econom cs depend on the customer characteristics,

usage characteristics of the utilities?
A. Absol utely. | mean, without trying to
bore anybody, | mean, this assessment of the

technical potential actually does take into account
t he amount of gas heating, amount of electric

heati ng. It takes into account incone of

customers, the m x of residential, commercial, and
i ndustrial customers. So, actually, when |I said
technical potential, while both utilities m ght see
the same price, that is the price of a gas turbine
is simlar to both utilities, they could start with
separate technical potentials, as well.

Q So, for example, a utility that has higher
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concentration of electric space and water heating

m ght have DSM prograns available to it that would

be econom c for that utility but not another
utility that had a | ower concentrate of electric
space.

A. Absol utely. The role of the technica

potential studies is to |ook at the different end
uses that electricity is being used for, |ook at
the -- make an assessnment of the appliance stock,
and then go fromthere.

Q You were asked some questions by Ms. La
Seur regarding fuel diversity, and you said that
you had sonme opinions on fuel diversity within the

region. Could you offer those to the Conm ssion,

if you recall it?
A. | guess what | was trying to say is that
if you're going to rely on the market, in M SO on

peak, you know, what's setting the price? The
price setting unit for that clearing price in M SO
on peak is gas. So it doesn't matter if you say,
wel |, gee, you know, gas is 60 percent of the --
you know, coal is 60 percent of the market or 75
percent of the market. If you're exposing yourself
to the market on peak, you're exposing yourself to

gas. That's what | was trying to get at.
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Q And then also with respect to questions by
Ms. La Seur, she asked you if you recall a series
of questions about the wi sdom of nmodeling with or
wi t hout an assunption for the extension of the PTCs
and factors that m ght affect the |ikelihood of the

ext ensi ons or non-extension of the PTC. Do you

recall that line of questioning?
A Yes, | do.
Q And in your scenarios one and two in your

testinony did that assunme extension of the PTC?

A. Yes, it did.

Q And then -- and that picked Big Stone ||
as the | east cost?

A. That's correct.

Q And your scenarios three and four assumed
expiration of the PTC at the end of 2008, along
with some ot her assunption changes, such as

| owering the capacity factor for wind; is that

correct?
A That is correct.
Q Do you know what the result of your

scenarios three and four would be if you assunmed
that the PTC were extended beyond 20067?
A. Yes. The result is the same. The Big

Stone Il is still the | east cost option.
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Q And do you recall that Ms. La Seur handed
you Exhibit Intervenor 23 that showed the result of
a vote by the Senate on April 10th for extension of
some cl ean energy production incentives?

A Yes, | do.

Q Do you know whet her the Senate had
previously voted for extension of the PTC?

A My understanding is that in December of
2007 the Senate voted for the extension and the
house did not.

Q And the house did not accept that
extension; is that correct?

A. The house under their -- for whatever --
for reasons of, you know, the pay-as-you-go -- the
pay-as-you-go is one of the reasons that was given
for not extending it.

MR. KUNTZ: That's all the questions.
Thank you

JUDGE WAHL: Fol |l owup, Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: | have not hing.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek, anything further?

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: Any follow-up questions from

the Comm ssion to M. Kuntz's questioning?
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FURTHER EXAM NATI ON

Q If I told you Senator Dol e was one of the
senators that was absent and not voting, could you
name the other three?

A No.

Q Never m nd.

A. How i s that for a short answer?

Q Would it surprise you if they're all
running for president?

A No.

JUDGE WAHL: | assume, M. Kuntz, you have
no foll owup?

MR. KUNTZ: We have no foll owup.

JUDGE WAHL: Li kewi se, Ms. La Seur and M.
Bi nek?

MR. Bl NEK: No.

JUDGE WAHL: | ndeed. All right. Next ,
counsel . M. Guerrero, |looks |like you wish to cal
M. Hewson; am | correct?

MR. GUERRERO: That is correct, Your
Honor, and --

JUDGE WAHL: Okay. Let's see if | can do
t his. My recollection of the last time we did this

was that it was very inmportant

to speak into the
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m crophone to conmmuni cate. You really nust get
that m crophone relatively close and you must speak
directly into it. Ot herwi se, we're going to have
trouble with the person on the tel ephone.

MR. GUERREROC: Your Honor, | was wondering
if I could just give hima call real quick, et him
know that you're going to be calling him

JUDGE WAHL: Sure. Go ahead.

MR. GUERREROC: He m ght be |istening. ' m
not sure.

JUDGE WAHL: That's fi ne.

COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Who is testifying?

JUDGE WAHL: Thomas Hewson. Has he
testified previously?

MR. KUNTZ: Not in this proceeding. |t
woul d be under tab 28.

(Off the record.)

JUDGE WAHL: M. Hewson, this is Al Wahl,
the adm nistrative |aw judge with the North Dakota
Public Service Comm ssion, and we're ready for your
testimony. Are you ready to proceed?

MR. HEWSON: | am i ndeed.

JUDGE WAHL.: M. Hewson, as you may be
aware, your testimony is required to be under oath,

and | '"mrequired by |law to advise you regarding
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perjury before adm nistering the oath. Perjury is
a false statenment of material fact which you do not
believe to be true, in other words, generally
speaking, a lie. In North Dakota perjury is a
Class C felony punishable by a fine up to $5, 000,

i mprisonment for a period of up to 5 years, or
bot h.

(Wtness sworn.)

JUDGE WAHL: M. Guerrero.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, Your Honor.

THOMAS HEWSON,
havi ng been first duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as follows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. GUERRERO:

Q Good afternoon, M. Hewson. Can you hear
me okay?

A | can indeed.

Q Okay. Gr eat .

A Can you hear me?

Q We can hear you just fine. State your
name for the record, please, and spell it.

A My name is Thomas A. Hewson, Jr., and

Hewson is spelled H-e-w-s-o0-n.

Q And pl ease tell us your position.
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A. |'m a principal at Energy Ventures
Anal ysi s, Incorporated, in Arlington, Virginia.

Q And what do you do as a principal for
Energy Ventures Anal ysis?

A | direct the environmental practice.
over -- | amresponsible for the firms
environmental em ssion forecasts and industry
environmental conpliance studies. | do the -- |
performintegrated electricity modeling and al so
have been involved in many numerous renewabl e
proj ect eval uations.

Q Thank you. And what is your educational
background, briefly?

A | have a degree in civil engineering from
Princeton University from 1976.

Q And did you have occasion to prepare
rebuttal testinony in this matter?

A | did.

Q And do you have that in front of you, M.
Hewson?

A | do.

Q And it's been marked as OTP/ MDU Exhi bit
3377

Yes.

Q And your resume is attached to that
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testinony, and that's Exhibit 3387
A That's correct.
Q Okay. And do you have a summary of your

testi nony, M. Hewson?

A | do.

Q And what is that marked?

A | do not have what exhibit that turned out
to be.

JUDGE WAHL: 337A.

Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) 337A. And do
you have that in front of you, M. Hewson?

A | do.

Q And with respect to your testinony, if |
asked you the same questions, would your answers be
the same?

A They woul d.

Q M. Hewson, do you have any corrections to
make to that exhibit?

A. No. The only -- no, | do not.

MR. GUERREROC: Okay. And with respect to
OTP/ MDU 337, 337A, and 338, the applicants would
offer that into the record, Your Honor.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
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MR. BI NEK: No objection
JUDGE WAHL: OTP/ MDU Exhi bits 337, 338,
and 337A are each received.
Q (MR. GUERRERO CONTI NUI NG) M . Hewson,

could you offer your brief summary, please?

A. | will.
Q And, M. Hewson, we have it here on the
SCreen. | believe the Comm ssioners have a hard

copy, but if you could just as you go along tell wus
what page you're on so that we could flip the
screen here.

A Okay. | would assume that we could skip
over slides one and two, since we've pretty much
covered that, and start with slide number three. I
was asked by the applicants to review and eval uate
the testimny of DRC witness David Schlissel. I n
specific | was asked to review the risk to new
coal -fire power plant projects raised by M.
Schlissel and the wind energy alternative
production costs.

There are two risks in specific that | was
asked to exam ne. One was dealing with a future
carbon risk, which is now slide number four.

In North Dakota the statute specifically

prohi bits consi deration of the carbon costs in the
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resource analysis; and, therefore, it should not be
consi dered as requested by M. Schlissel. However ,
t here have been jurisdictions that the Big Stone
project has been -- or it states that it requires
t hat you evaluate the carbon risk of which I have
partici pated.

The carbon risks -- so | have exam ned the
carbon risks as this project in other -- in the
ot her venues. Carbon conpliance risks are highly
dependent upon the type, severity, and tim ng of
the regul ati on adopted. That remains highly
uncertain. However, it appears that under nmost
| eadi ng congressi onal carbon proposals that are
bei ng debated that Big Stone Il would remain the
| east cost basel oad option, even if they were
adopt ed.

This has a lot to do with the fact that
the applicants are eligible to receive a |arge
all ocation of free allowances, that they are going
to have access to be able to purchase | ower cost
em ssion offsets to further reduce their carbon
l[iability, and then |long-range prices will likely
be captured -- or capped by future carbon capture
and sequestration costs, and that Big Stone is

likely to have much | ower carbon retrofit costs
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t han ot her coal-fired power plants.

And then, finally, when you deal with
carbon legislation, it also affects other
alternatives and other alternatives' costs,
including there would be increased pressure on
nat ural gas prices.

M. Schlissel in his testinmony suggests
t hat new coal -fired construction -- that there have
been many del ays due to concerns over carbon
capture and escal ating prices. It is also true
t hat there have been many, you know, del ays for
ot her non-carbon based technol ogy options, as well.

However, we do track new projects for the
NERC and ot hers, and currently we are tracking 130
coal plants that are still active and in various
stages of developnent. These include 27 coal
pl ants that are currently under construction; 9
projects are in advance permtting and fi nancing;
15 projects that are in the earlier devel opment
stages; and 79 projects that have been announced
but not yet canceled or with no recent permtting,
financing, or power contracts that have been
announced.

In addition, if one | ooks at the annual

energy outl ook, they forecast coal being the
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primary dom nati ng new basel oad power construction
t hrough the year 2030 as being the | owest cost
alternative.

In addition to these coal risks | also
eval uated wi nd power risks. Li ke any ot her
project, wind projects also entail significant
risks, specifically carbon -- capital cost risks
dealing with the rapid cost escal ations which have
continued to escalate as rapidly in wi nd, as well
performance risk in ternms of whether one is able to
achi eve high capacity factor utilizations to spread
out those capital costs and capital cost
recoveries; and dealing with the expiration of
governnmental subsidies risks dealing with things
such as the current production tax credit.

W nd energy alternatives would also
increase the applicant's natural gas use which also
has additional risks associated with it in ternms of
nat ural gas prices. | do spend some time talKking
about the production tax credit, and that is an
i mportant el ement based upon the modeling that has
been done to date to reduce wi nd power acquisition
costs.

| review the production tax credit

histories, the extensions, several expirations, and
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currently there is indeed a one-year extension that
passed the Senate but not yet been adopted by the
House of Representatives.

However, | believe that there's a materi al
risk that the tax credit will expire and no | onger
be avail able to new projects being built to neet
the energy requirenments in the Big Stone ||
operating period. This has a ot to do with the
fact that the original objective of the production
tax credit has been nmet through demand created by
state renewabl e portfolio standards, and as our
wi nd generation expands from these renewabl e
portfolio standards, the tax revenue | osses have
continued to grow, and therefore the costs needing
to offset these costs become increasingly
difficult.

That finishes my summary.

MR. GUERRERO:. Thank you, M. Hewson.

Your Honor, | forgot to -- or neglected to
reference OTP/ MDU Exhi bits 339 and 340, which are
attached to M. Hewson's testinmny, as well, and we
woul d offer those at this time.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No obj ection.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?
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MR. Bl NEK: No obj ection

JUDGE WAHL: OTP/ MDU Exhi bits 339 and 340
are each received.

MR. GUERRERO: We would tender M. Hewson.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No questi ons.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: | think |I have a couple that
maybe weren't conpletely covered in the summary.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q When you tal ked about M. Schlissel's
di scussion in his testinony about the cancel ation
of numerous coal-fired plants, what do you believe
is the future for coal-fired generating facilities?
A | believe that when we | ook at our need

for basel oaded power, it needs to conme from a
basel oad power resource, which could be nuclear,
and there are difficulties associated with the
nucl ear power option; it can come from natural gas.
Of course, we have significant issues in ternms of
how sensitive gas prices are to the economcs and
how sensitive it is to the demand since natural gas
is also used by other sources, and we will become

i ncreasingly dependent upon inported sources of
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natural gas; and it could also come from some
specific renewabl e resources such as biomss or
geot her mal .

However, given the |load and the increase
of the load, | do agree with the Departnment of
Energy that a | arge portion of this increased
demand will need to come from coal-fired base
sources. It will remain to be an economcally

attractive alternative.

Q | was just passed a note that | should
i ntroduce nysel f. l*"m W IIliam Bi nek. ' m counse
for the Comm ssion's advocacy staff. Were you

listening today when M. Schlissel testified?

A. | did -- you know, there were parts that |
couldn't hear very well in that not all the time
were the people speaking into the m crophones for
t hose of us listening online, and so | had gotten a
| ot of it, but I do not profess to have been able
to hear all of it.

Q s it your understanding that M.
Schlissel assumes the PTC will be extended
indefinitely?

A. Yes. My understanding is it's his belief
that it would be his underlying assunption.

Q I n your testimony you concl ude that he has
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overstated carbon ri sks. Is the primary reason
t hat you make that statement because he doesn't
factor in the anticipated no-cost all owances that
woul d be included in anticipated |egislation?

A That is indeed one el ement. It al so deals
with the type of legislation that is |likely to be
adopted, and it -- and a judgment in ternms of where
in the wi de range of potential outconmes will the
| egi slation come out, and | have a different
vi ewpoint from M. Schlissel in his doing his
em ssion all owance forecasts, which | believe have
overstated what the |ikely cost range will be.

Q Okay. Did you hear when he testified
concerning how -- how he had incorporated | ow cost
all owances in his study?

A. | did hear that part of his testinmony. I
think it runs contrary to what he states in his
report. He tal ks about an all owance price
forecast, not a cost forecast. When we talk about
al | owances, we're tal king about the credits and the
val ues of the credits as they trade. He bases his
forecast based upon prior studies done by EIA, EPA,
TELUS, M T and ot hers. In those forecasts they
project the prices for em ssion all owances, not

costs, and so |I would say that | was very surprised
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with his answer to that question.

Q You discussed the risks associated with
wi nd power, including capital risk, output
performance risk, and econom c risks, and in your
summary | don't think you explained all those, or
else | just mssed it, but would you just explain
what are the capital risks, the performance ri sk,
and the economc risk?

A Yes, | would be glad to. The wind -- wind
production costs are heavily driven by the capital
cost, and so, therefore, nost of the cost is based
upon getting a return on your capital, the single
most dom nant cost.

We have observed a rapid escal ation
occurring over the past few years for wi nd turbine
costs. In addition to the turbine costs
t henmsel ves, wind options also often require
transm ssion costs -- significant transm ssion
costs in addition. While M. Schlissel in his
testinony tal ks about going to the high side of
$2,000 per kilowatt, | have seen a high side of
more than 50 percent higher than that.

We continue to see escalation in prices.
Obviously there is a |large, international demand

for wind turbines, and as a result the prices have
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continued to escal ate and have escal ated at a very
rapid rate.

What we have observed, for exanple, in the
| ast five years is that wind turbine costs have
escal ated by roughly 280 percent -- or have
escal ated 280 percent. So | guess that's al nost
three times, which is greater than what we observed
as far as escalation rates for the coal -based
alternatives in that same five-year period.

As far as the performance risk, in that
you have a capital cost item obviously the anmount
of megawatt-hours that you are able to spread it
over is a significant -- has a significant
i nfluence on ultimately what the costs are.

When we | ook at the national average
capacity factor for wind turbines in the United
States, it's around 29 percent, which is far --
which is less than the values that are being used
in the nodeling by M. Greig and M. Heidell. And,
therefore, if you -- as we increase the demand for
wi nd generation in order to meet expanding
renewabl e portfolio standards, the question is are
we going to base themin increasingly |ess w ndy
areas, in places where the wind is not quite as

strong? Are we going to place themat first in the
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wi ndi est areas and then work our way down?
And as a result, if we do that, we're

going to end up with, you know, the risk that

future wind projects will be in |l ess wi ndy areas
that will not be able to achieve as high a capacity
factor.

M. Schlissel discusses that the
t echnol ogy has inproved, and so he would expect the
new technol ogy would be able to achieve higher
capacity factors; and, in fact, the issue is that
t here have been i nmprovenments, however, has not been
a C change for inmprovements.

We did a study two years ago, which we
| ooked at the capacity factors of all plants that
were built after the year 2001 and conpared themto
t he nati onal average. The average at that tinme was
t hat the newer plants had a | ower capacity factor
t han the ol der plants, which suggests that what
really drives the performance is the wi nd resources
more so than the technology that is currently in
pl ace.

So when we | ook at performance risk, we're
| ooki ng at what the capacity factors will be. I n
that the 38 percent was used, you know, in sonme of

t he analyses, if you | ook at my Hewson Exhi bit
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TAH- SR-2, you can see that in 2005 the average
capacity factor for those projects in M nnesota was
a 32 percent capacity factor, and so by assum ng
much hi gher capacity factors what is probably
happening is we're nore |ikely underestimating the
cost as opposed to overestimating the costs of
that -- or that we're underestimati ng what the true
costs may be.

MR. GUERRERO: Just for clarification,
Your Honor, the exhibit he referenced is now marked
as OTP/ MDU Exhi bit 339, and in what we're calling
the big book it's tab 30.

JUDGE WAHL: Thank you.

Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG) | think there's

one part of the question left, but before you get

to that --

A Wth the governnmental subsidies?

Q The econom c ri sk.

A. Oh, the economc risk was the capital cost
risk.

Q Oh, okay.

A There is a governmental subsidies risk.

Q Okay.

Which is two-thirds of -- there was a

paper a while back that suggests that roughly
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two-thirds of the value of a renewabl e project was
its tax incentives. Obviously we're dealing with a
source that -- in wind that has access to many
subsi di es such as the federal production tax
credit, it has accel erated depreciation, it has
many | ocal tax breaks, it often has other
incentives such as the state renewable portfolio
standards and therefore able to achieve additional
revenues.

These costs are -- or these subsidies are
significant because it needs to overconme a
significant disadvantage to conventi onal sources of
power. There is a risk that these subsidies as we
get higher and higher levels will be -- come down
or reduced, and so that is also a very significant
risk behind the wi nd option, because keep in m nd,
when we | ook at these alternatives, we're |ooking
at the alternatives over the life cycle costs of
t hese entire -- you know, for the Big Stone
facility. So we're not just tal king about near
term We're tal king about also much | onger term
i ssues, as well.

Q | ' ve asked several witnesses this, but
when do you believe the PTC will expire?

A. You know, obviously every -- this has been
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an issue. They tried it last year, it did not
wor K. It has kind of | eaked through the Senate
this year. It al ways seens to have sone
difficulties. | assume that we're going to have
increased difficulties as the anmount of w nd being
generated increases, and so | would suspect that it
will expire before we, you know, truly inplement
something |like a carbon regul ation.

So | think it's going to be well -- |
think it's going to expire before Big Stone Il is
likely to come on line in terms of the eligibility
peri od. Obvi ously the way tax production credit
works is once you're eligible, you get tax credits
for the first ten years of your operation, then
t hey expire. So - -

Q What -- |I'm sorry. Did you have sonet hing
more you wanted to add?

A. No. | think that's it.

Q Okay. What do you believe the appropriate
capacity factor for wind turbines is today?

A. | would agree with M. Schlissel that it
depends where you are. Obvi ously there in North
Dakota | would assunme a higher capacity factor as
opposed to if | was to |locate a project in the

east, let's say in the mountains of Pennsyl vani a.
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The capacity factors in ternms of the projects that
are there today is that, you know, we have some
projects as |ow as 30 percent in North Dakota and
we have some capacities around 40 percent or a
little bit higher, and so in ternms of new, it al
woul d depend upon the timng of those and how far
out into the future and what sites remain and how
far away they are fromthe transm ssion |ines.
MR. Bl NEK: Okay. Thank you. | have no
further questions.
JUDGE WAHL: Questions fromthe
Comm ssion? Comm ssioner Wefal d.
COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Yes.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER WEFALD:
Q This is Conmm ssioner Wefal d. "' m just
interested in your testinmny on page five, and it
tal ks about a carbon capture denmonstration project

in Wsconsin this year.

A That's correct.
Q And | understand it just got started, and
my question for you is: s this |ocated on a new

facility or on an old plant?
A. This is -- it's on an existing plant.

It's the Pl easant Prairie Plant.
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Q Al'l right. And then nmy -- then | have --
that's a cost of 20 dollars per ton; right?

A. What |'m saying is that the Alstrom
vendor, who is the vendor for the chilled amonia
process, which is what they're trying to
demonstrate on a slip stream at the Pl easant
Prairie Plant, has estimated that their process
will cost roughly $20 a ton renoved. | do not
believe that they are suggesting that the costs of
t he demonstration project that they expect to have
a $20 per ton removal cost.

Q Al'l right. What you're saying is it wll
be hi gher because this is a demonstration project?

A Ri ght . It's a less than two megawatt slip
stream that they are denmonstrating this as their
first step.

Q Oh, all right.

A Then we do a -- next year we will be doing
a |l arger denonstration at the Mountaineer Station
also on a slip stream and then in 2011 they have
pl anned to do a full scale denonstration of this
project on a coal-fired power plant around 250
megawatts i n Okl ahonma.

Q Thank you. And then on top of that you

woul d have the costs of sequestering the carbon;
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isn't that correct? Because this just captures it

from an existing plant and then you'd have the cost

of still sequestering it?
A Correct. You would have the cost of
getting -- this would be the costs of capturing it

and conpressing the gas to liquid so that you could
transport it.

Q Yes. Thank you.

A And then, yes, there would be additional
costs associated with taking it to where you would
sequester it.

COMM SSI ONER WEFALD: Thank you. That's

JUDGE WAHL: Any further questions from
t he Comm ssion? Followup, M. Guerrero?

MR. GUERREROC: | don't think so, Your
Honor .

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: No.

JUDGE WAHL: M. Bi nek.

MR. Bl NEK: Just one.

RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. BI NEK:
Q Looking at -- at OTP/MDU Exhibit 339, it

shows the 2005 M nnesota wi nd power production
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data. Wuld it be possible to get a simlar
exhi bit for North Dakota that would show the
generation and capacity factors for the projects
t hat presently exist in North Dakota?

A Yes. | would be glad to provide that.
There are five that report their generation in
capacities currently in North Dakota, and | would
be nore than glad to provide that data.

Q Okay.

A And that would be 2007 data.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. First of all, M.
Bi nek, an exhibit number, please.

MR. BINEK: Well, | think we'd have --

JUDGE WAHL: It | ooks |ike PSC 5?

MR. Bl NEK: Ri ght .

JUDGE WAHL: All right. That'll be
| ate-filed exhibit PSC 5. What's the description
of the exhibit?

MR. BINEK: It would be 2007 North Dakota
wi nd power production data.

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Anything further,
M . Binek?

MR. Bl NEK: | was thinking about one
ot her --

JUDGE WAHL: Take your time.
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MR. Bl NEK:
JUDGE WAHL:
MR. Bl NEK:

COMM SSI ONER CRAMER:
COVMM SSI ONER WEFALD:

THE W TNESS:

t hat
it suggests that

megawatt - hours t hat

reporting w nd projects,

to eight percent of

Nort h Dakota retail

Q (MR. BI NEK CONTI NUI NG)

for M.

fromthese reports for

there was a total of

the current -- of

Hewson on exhi bits.

1415
-- clarification here.

Don't mean to rush you.
It escapes nme right now.
That's it.
Okay.
M. Binek, | should note
North Dakota facilities

947, 000

wer e produced fromthe

whi ch woul d be equi val ent

the 2007

sal es.

One ot her question

Woul d it be possible

to update the M nnesota data to 2007?

A. It woul d.

JUDGE WAHL:

i nclude that --
t hat PSC Exhi bit 6.

MR. Bl NEK:

JUDGE WAHL:

production dat a.

MR. Bl NEK:
JUDGE WAHL:
MR. Bl NEK:

wel |,

Okay. So that's -- shall we

no, let's not. Let's make
Ri ght .

2007 M nnesota wi nd power

Yes.
Anyt hing further, M. Binek?

No.
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JUDGE WAHL: Any follow-up questions from
t he Comm ssion? Anything -- any followup, M.
Guerrero?

MR. GUERRERO: No, thank you.

JUDGE WAHL: Ms. La Seur?

MS. LA SEUR: (Shakes head.)

JUDGE WAHL: All right. Thank you very
much, M. Hewson.

MR. HEWSON: Thank you

JUDGE WAHL: Bye now.

THE W TNESS: All right. Bye- bye.

JUDGE WAHL: Well, obviously, counsel,
Comm ssioners, we'll resume at nine o'clock
tomorrow norning with the testinony of the
remai ni ng witnesses for Otter Tail Power and MDU
and with M. Hewson.

MR. GUERREROC: M . Deason

JUDGE WAHL: Deason

(Recessed at 5:12 p.m, the same day.)
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